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MESSAGE FROM 
THE MAYOR AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER
It is with great pleasure 
that we present the City of 
Mitcham Annual Report for 
2016/17.
Approval and funding of Brownhill 
Keswick Creek Stormwater Management 
Plan (SMP) was finalised in March. The 
Stormwater Management Authority 
approved the SMP and the State 
Government announced its commitment 
to fund 50% of the cost of the project 
in partnership with the five catchment 
councils. The project won the Local 
Government Professionals Leadership 
Excellence Award for Excellence in Cross 
Council Collaboration.

Council obtained a State Government 
contribution of $1.09 million for the 
redevelopment of the Mitcham Memorial 
Library and Brownhill Creek and 
associated car parking and landscaping 
improvements. The community provided 

invaluable feedback to help shape 
the function and design of the library 
redevelopment scheduled to commence 
in December 2017.

Our capital works budget was $26.3 
million and focussed on renewing and 
replacing roads, footpaths, stormwater 
infrastructure, public buildings and 
reserves in accord with the community’s 
priorities including, installation 
of 1,425m of new footpaths, the 
Frank Smith Dam reconstruction and 
stabilisation, further development of the 
Sturt River Trail, partnering with school 
communities on the Way2Go Program 
to support people focused, safe and 
innovative improvements in local streets 
near schools and the Springbank Road 
upgrade.

Following extensive community 
consultation the Sports Facilities Strategy 
was endorsed by Council. This document 
provides strategic direction for Council’s 

26 outdoor sporting facilities and will 
assist Council to adopt a coordinated 
approach to developing and managing 
sports complexes and sporting facilities 
for both formal and informal recreation.

Many of the highlights for the year were 
around the commitment and funding 
to improve community buildings. 
Council has provided funding for the 
redevelopment of the St Marys Sporting 
Association Complex in St Marys and 
the Hewett Sports Ground shared use 
building, Blackwood. These facility 
upgrades are happening in partnership 
with the community, sporting clubs, 
the federal Government (St Marys 
and Hewett) and State Government 
(St Marys). 

The painted median scheme to improve 
traffic management and safety on 
Springbank Road was commenced with 
completion due in 2017/18. Council 
collaborated with Department of 
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Glenn Spear
Mayor 

Matt Pears
Chief Executive Officer 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT TO COUNTRY
We acknowledge the Kaurna people as the traditional 
custodians and caretakers of the land that includes much of 
this City, known as Tarndanyannga country which means 
‘the place of the red kangaroo dreaming’.

The Kaurna people’s rich cultural heritage and spiritual 
beliefs still connect their people with this land and we 
welcome a new relationship with the living members of their 
community today.

Planning, Transport and Infrastructure 
on this project with Council undertaking 
kerb and crossover replacement 
throughout and upgrades to driveways 
and footpaths on the southern side on 
the road.

The revitalisation of our community 
centres continued to see big increases in 
visitors, hirers and programmes including 
our inaugural School Holiday Programme 
and our Libraries continued to draw 
high numbers of visitors with over 
341,000 visitors attending programmes, 
events, and borrowing resources and 
205,000 people accessing online 
library resources. 

Council made progress against its 
environmental objectives including 
biodiversity, clean energy, water 
smart and responsible consumption 
and minimisation of waste through 
many projects including weed control 
along Upper Sturt Road, Olave Hill 

Road, Charlick Road and Sheoak Road, 
approving grants for an estimated 37 
hectares of weed control by landlords 
and our Green Army team working 
with volunteers groups, not for profit 
organisations and sites within Flinders 
University and Belair National Park and 
boosted Mitcham’s Grey Box Woodlands, 
increases in recycling and diversion 
of waste away from landfill, reducing 
our greenhouse gas emissions and 
investigating stormwater harvesting, 
treatment and storage underground in 
an aquifer with a prospective aquifer 
at AA Bailey Reserve being tested and 
providing future opportunities to make 
better use of stormwater. 

Staff continued their focus on providing 
great customer service and undertook 12 
separate customer surveys to assist in the 
ongoing improvement of our customer 
service standards. 

We thank our growing body of now 
372 volunteers who contributed so 
much to the community in caring 
for community gardens, researching 
local history, driving a community 
bus, providing personal transport to 
individuals, serving lunch to aged 
residents and more. Your commitment 
to the community of Mitcham is greatly 
appreciated and valued.

In 2016/17 Council completed an exciting 
Strategic Management Plan which will 
guide the future development of our City 
for many years to come. Council has a 
clear vision, is financially stable (another 
year of underlying operating surplus) 
and is well placed to take advantage 
of the significant investment in our City 
through projects such as the South Road 
Darlington upgrade and development of 
the Flinders / Tonsley area.

2017/18 is set to be a very exciting year 
for the City of Mitcham.
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OUR ELECTED 
MEMBERS

BABBAGE WARD COUNCILLORS
David Munro

Mobile:  0403 161 462 
Email:  dmunro@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

Yvonne Todd

Mobile:  0418 891 097 
Email:  ytodd@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

MAYOR
Mayor Glenn Spear

Mobile:  0438 221 762 
Email:  gspear@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

BOORMAN WARD COUNCILLORS
Adriana Christopoulos

Telephone:  8372 8888 
Email:  achristopoulos@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

Andrew Tilley

Mobile:  0411 158 882 
Telephone:  8272 9405 
Email:  atilley@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

CRAIGBURN WARD COUNCILLORS
Nick Greer

Telephone:  8372 8888 
Email:  ngreer@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

Karen Hockley

Mobile:  0423 919 080 
Email: khockley@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

Lindy Taeuber

Mobile:  0420 372 566 
Email:  ltaeuber@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au
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GAULT WARD COUNCILLORS
Stephen Fisher

Mobile:  0407 973 321 
Email:  sfisher@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

Adrian Rosevear

Mobile:  0417 741 650 
Email:  arosevear@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

OVERTON WARD COUNCILLORS
Nicholas Economos

Mobile:  0411 659 669 
Email:  neconomos@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

John Sanderson

Mobile:  0402 517 945 
Telephone:  8277 1884 
Email:  jsanderson@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

THE PARK WARD COUNCILLORS
Jane Bange

Mobile:  0478 076 400 
Telephone:  08 8278 8352 
Email: jbange@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

Tim Hein

Mobile:  0403 080 080 
Email:  thein@mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au
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Mitcham is a thriving City, valued for its 
proximity to the City of Adelaide, the hills 
and the sea. Our City is known for its avenues 
of street trees, its beautiful parks, reserves 
and garden, its historic homes and unique 
historical areas and its magnificent views 
from the hills over the City.

CITY PROFILE
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Proclaimed in May 1853 under the District 
Councils Act 1852, the City of Mitcham 
is one of the oldest councils in South 
Australia taking its name from Mitcham 
Village which was settled in 1840 on the 
banks of Brownhill Creek.

Today there are over 66,300 people 
living in Mitcham and approximately 
5,000 registered businesses operating 
in our local council area generating over 
28,000 local jobs and $3.05 billion in 
Gross Regional Product.

The City of Mitcham comprises an area of 
75.7 square kilometres and extends into 
the beautiful Mitcham hills, stretching 
from Cross Road to the north, to the 
Sturt River in the south and from Mount 
Barker Road in the east to South Road in 
the west.

Our suburbs include our State Heritage 
listed garden suburb Colonel Light 
Gardens, which is Australia’s most 
complete example of an early 1900s 
“garden suburb” and historic Belair, 
a unique suburb surrounded on 
three sides by parks including South 
Australia’s oldest park Belair National 
Park, Springfield, one of Adelaide’s most 
prestigious suburbs, as well as a new 
housing development at Craigburn Farm.

Our City has a vibrant education sector, 
home to over 65 high quality educational 
institutions including kindergartens, 
schools and universities such as the 
Waite Institute, Flinders University and 
the Australian Science and Mathematics 
School with many local and international 
students living locally.

We have world-class medical and 
research facilities, including Flinders 
Medical Centre, Flinders Centre for 
Innovation in Cancer, Flinders Private 
Hospital and the Repatriation General 
Hospital within our City.

The majority of properties located in 
Mitcham are residential with most 
commercial premises located along 
or near Belair Road, Goodwood Road, 
South Road and Main Road (Blackwood 
and Belair). Most industrial premises are 
located along the western boundary 
immediately adjoining South Road.

There are over 26,000 dwellings 
across 33 suburbs each with their 
own particular style and community 
spirit with Bedford Park and St Marys 
becoming home to many new Mitcham 
residents from overseas. From the leafy 
backdrop of the hills environment, to the 
foothills homes which enjoy magnificent 
panoramic views of Adelaide and the 
plains, the variety and uniqueness 
of the area is obvious. New dwelling 

construction is relatively stable with an 
average of 143 approvals per year over 
the last 10 years with the majority of 
people living in separate houses. 

Mitcham boasts a diverse range of 
unique natural habitats, specimen trees 
and native vegetation that form part 
of a significant green corridor across 
the western slopes of the Mount Lofty 
Ranges. The hills contain one of the 
largest remnant stands of endangered 
Grey Box Grassy Woodland (Eucalyptus 
microcarpa) in South Australia and are 
the home of many threatened native 
plants and animals. Preserving our 
natural landscape is an important legacy.

Mitcham is in the catchment area for 
both Brownhill Creek and the Sturt 
River and collects significant volumes of 
stormwater from the Adelaide foothills 
before flowing into Gulf St Vincent.

The City is well served by many tourist 
attractions including Carrick Hill Estate, 
Belair National Park, Brownhill Creek 
Reserve, Waite Arboretum, Wittunga 
Botanic Garden, Sturt River Linear Trail, 
Colebrook Reconciliation Park, reserves 
and numerous walking trails through the 
historic Mitcham Precinct, Blackwood, 
Brownhill Creek, Colonel Light Gardens, 
Lower Mitcham and St Marys as well as a 
network of shared use trails.

KEY COUNCIL LOCATIONS
Civic Centre 
131 Belair Road, Torrens Park

Mitcham Memorial Library 
154 Belair Road, Hawthorn

Ivor Symonds Library 
215 Main Road, Blackwood

Mitcham Operations Depot 
5 Winston Place, Melrose Park

Blackwood Community Centre 
4 Young Street, Blackwood

Cumberland Park Community Centre 
388-390 Goodwood Road,  
Cumberland Park

Hawthorn Community Centre 
5 Frimley Grove, Hawthorn

Mitcham Community Centre 
242 Belair Road, Lower Mitcham

Mitcham Cultural Village 
103 Princes Road, Mitcham

Richmond Road Hall 
Corner Richmond and Goodwood Roads, 
Westbourne Park

Penang Hall 
45a Penang Avenue,  
Colonel Light Gardens
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A healthy, inclusive  
and prosperous community,  
living and working in harmony 
with the environment.
To be achieved under the goals of: 

• Accessible City

• Liveable City

• Inclusive and Capable Community

• Healthy Environment

• Enterprising City

• Excellence in Government

OUR VISION
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Council’s focus during 2016/17 included 
growing our footpath network across the 
City, the protection and enhancement of our 
urban forest of over 90,000 trees and ongoing 
innovation in storm water management. 
This year’s activities and areas of focus in 
delivering Council’s objectives are provided 
under the relevant Council strategic goals 
and objectives.
Measures of Success were published in Council’s 2016/17 Annual 
Business Plan. The results are provided below and include the 
percentage to which each activity was achieved by the end of the year.

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST  
COUNCIL’S  
STRATEGIC GOALS 
AND OBJECTIVES

 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 PAGE 9 



ACCESSIBLE CITY GOAL: 
Streets, open spaces, community buildings and facilities will be 
accessible, connected and people friendly
Council’s focus for an Accessible City has been:

Objective 1. Transport (we can move around the City)
An integrated and efficient transport system that encourages safe travel by public transport, cycling 
and walking.

Measures of Success 
100%
100% of all footpath maintenance 
customer requests were completed 
within schedule timeframe.

90%
Nine of the scheduled 10 bus shelter 
replacements were completed with 
the Belair Road shelter to be finalised 
by Department of Transport and 
Infrastructure.

94%
Of the 67 footpaths scheduled for 
replacement 63 were completed with 
four scheduled for completion by the end 
of July 2017.

100%
All six new footpaths scheduled for 
construction were completed.

100%
All 11 kerb and watertable works 
scheduled for replacement were 
completed. 

50%
Land acquisition for the replacement 
of two bridges during the year is still in 
progress.

100%
The two scheduled retaining wall 
replacements were completed.

120%
Replacement of five roads under 
the Road 2 Recovery Program were 
completed with an additional road, 
Price Avenue, Lower Mitcham (from the 
Approved Additional Roads list) also 
being completed.

88%
Of the 43 road seal and pavement 
replacements schedule 38 were 
completed. The remaining five streets are 
rescheduled for 2017/18 being: 

• Seaview Road - due to late finish of 
kerb and weather conditions.

• Belair Road (Service road) - linked with 
Seaview Road.

• Keith Road - due to weather conditions.

• Auricchio Avenue - due to late finish of 
kerb and weather conditions.

• Thorpe Street - due to development 
works.

94%
Of the 32 road seal preservations 
scheduled 30 were completed with two 
road seal preservations schedule for 
completion during 2017/18.

100%
The three traffic control projects 
scheduled were implemented. 

100%
The Integrated Transport and Traffic 
Strategy and Implementation Plan, 
including the Integrated Bike Plan, for 
the City that will align with the projects 
and changes outlined in the 30 Year Plan 
were developed.

0%
Construction, in conjunction with City 
of Onkaparinga, of two new bridges, at 
Sturt River Linear Park was delayed due to 
storm damage along creek and river lines 
and design issues relating to the bridges.

Additional Achievements
• Council considered and resolved the 

following key projects/issues:

• Parking restrictions in Bedford Park/
Bellevue Heights.

• New egress points onto Flinders 
Drive from Bedford Park south.

• Traffic controls in Brighton Parade 
Blackwood south.

• Randell Park commuter trail.

• Springbank Road painted median 
scheme.

• Mitcham Reserve tree management.

• Alternatives to closure of ARTC 
carpark in Willora Road Eden Hills. 

• Waite Road pedestrian crossing.

• A range of parking improvements 
including Brighton Parade and 
Pedestrian Crossing on Waite Road, 
Urrbrae.
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Objective 2. Connected Community Places (we have places to meet)
High quality, well serviced and accessible public places and community facilities where people can 
meet, learn and connect with one another.

Measures of Success 
97%
There were 31 of the scheduled 32 
Community Building improvements 
replaced or renewed.

Business Plan Statistics
• There were 146 Mitcham Cemetery plot 

enquiries received during 2016/17.

• There was a combined total of 
82,673 visitors to the Blackwood and 
Cumberland Park Community Centres.

Additional Achievements
• Public Library Building Audit completed 

for Public Library Services SA. Report 
yet to be provided.

• Online calendar and bookings 
implemented on the Community 
Centre page of the website, outlining 
activities on offer.

• Painting of exterior of Blackwood 
Bowling Clubroom, Cumberland 
United Soccer Clubroom, Hawthorn 
Community Centre and Gil Langley 
Clubroom.

• Inaugural School Holiday Programme 
was held at our Community Centres 
which resulted in an increase in hirers.

• The Mitcham Community Shed has 
continued to be a place for support, 
companionship and learning 
about woodworking skills for men 
and women. This year has seen 
the membership continue to rise, 
including the numbers of women 
participating in the shed over the three 
days a week it is open. With new box 
making classes and a very popular 
school holiday programme linking up 
children with our senior woodworking 
volunteers to learn toy making skills, it 
has been a busy year for the shed.

Objective 3. Open Space and Recreation Facilities  
(we have places to relax and play)
Open space, parks and gardens and sporting and recreational facilities that provide opportunities 
for relaxation, leisure, physical activity and play.

Measures of Success 
100%
All 45 sporting and recreational building 
replacement/renewal projects were 
completed.

100%
100% of community requests for parks 
and gardens maintenance were assessed 
and prioritised within the scheduled 10 
business days.

100%
All six parks, gardens and open space 
asset replacement projects scheduled 
were completed.

100%
All five playgrounds scheduled for 
replacement were completed.

100%
All 14 sports ovals scheduled for 
replacement/renewal were completed.

100%
All seven tennis court scheduled for 
renewal were completed.

100%
Completed the installation of a new 
playground at Kinedana Reserve.

50%
Of the two new assets at Sturt Linear 
Trail Part 3A and Quarry fencing at Sleeps 
Hill Quarries the required property was 
purchased and the boundary and fencing 
was completed.

Additional Achievements
• Sports Facilities Strategy was endorsed 

by Council following extensive 
community consultation. Strategy 
now provides strategic direction for 
Council’s 26 outdoor sporting facilities 
and will assist Council to adapt a 
coordinated approach to developing 
and managing sports complexes and 
sporting facilities which is aligned with 
the management of Council’s assets.

• Revised draft Master Plans for Price 
Memorial Oval, Hawthorn and Manson 
Oval, Bellevue Heights were made 
available for community consultation 
during April and May 2017. The Master 
Plans provide a comprehensive vision 
and plan for the future improvement 
and development of these sites. The 
Master Plans are set to be endorsed by 
Council in early 2017/18.

• Council provided landlord approval 
and partial funding towards the 
redevelopment of the Hewett 
Sports Ground Shared Use Building, 
Blackwood. This facility will include 
clubrooms, community meeting rooms, 
kitchen, storage, women’s toilets and 
a shower, men’s toilets and a shower, 
and unisex toilets. This project is 
being jointly funded by Council, the 
Commonwealth Government, and 
home based sports clubs. Further 
external funding is being sought for 
two female friendly change rooms.

• Council provided landlord approval 
and partial funding towards the 
redevelopment of the St Marys 
Sporting Association Complex, St Marys. 
This facility will include clubrooms, 
community meeting rooms, kitchen, 
bar, storage, four unisex change rooms 
including amenities, umpires change 
rooms, first aid room, public toilets, 
and car park upgrades. This project 
is being joint funded by Council, the 
Commonwealth Government, State 
Government, AFL, and the sporting clubs.
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LIVEABLE CITY GOAL: 
A well-designed and safe City responsive to lifestyle, heritage, 
environment and landscape
Council’s focus for a Liveable City has been:

Objective 4. City Character and Design (we look and feel like Mitcham)
A strong sense of place (local identities) with vibrant village centres and development that respects 
local character, built form, the environment and heritage.

Measures of Success 
100%
The three Heritage Plans for Heritage 
Listed Council buildings scheduled for 
development were completed.

97%
Percentage of new dwelling inspections 
undertaken was 68.75%, slightly less 
than the targeted 71%.

100%
The review and development of a 
policy for leases and licences for 
sporting facilities, including a model 
for fees and responsibilities, was 
substantially progressed with the final 
policy on schedule for early in the new 
financial year.

85%
The restoration and maintenance of 
two heritage stone archways at Soldiers 
Memorial Gardens and Sutton Gardens 
was 85% complete with the heritage 
review completed on the archway and 
tender price for works received. Works 
are anticipated to be completed in the 
next financial year.

80%
The restoration and maintenance of 
two heritage stone bridges at Mitcham 
Reserve and Horners Bridge was 80% 
complete with the heritage review and 
works outlined to be completed. Project 
unable to be completed in 2016/17. 

Business Plan Statistics
• There were 14 buildings inspected by 

the Building Fire Safety Committee for 
compliance with safety standards.

• There were 587 building rules consent 
decisions issued by Council.

• There were 91 development 
applications submitted to the 
Development Assessment Panel for 
decision.

• There were 217 development related 
complaints received in relation to 
potentially illegal developments.

• There were 1,622 development 
applications lodged with Council for 
assessment.

• There were 1,273 planning decisions 
issued (this will differ from number 
lodged due to Building only 
applications not requiring planning 
consent).

• There were 711 Building Applications 
assessed by private certifiers that 
required Council to issue Development 
Approvals.

Additional Achievements
• Approval and funding of Brownhill 

Keswick Creek Stormwater 
Management Plan (SMP) was finalised 
in March. The Stormwater Management 
Authority approved the SMP and the 
State Government announced its 
commitment to fund 50% of the cost of 
the project in partnership with the five 
catchment councils.

• Preparation and endorsement of 
the Development of Dog and Cat 
Management Plan 2017-22 and public 
consultation program.

• Preparation and training for the 
implementation of changes to the 
Dog and Cat Management Act and 
introduction of the Local Nuisance and 
Litter Control Act.

• Restoration of heritage stone archways 
review completed on Soldier Memorial 
Garden and Sutton Gardens, with 
restoration works to commence next 
financial year 2017/2018.

Objective 5. Green Streetscapes (we have street appeal)
Functional streetscapes that enhance amenity and are sensitive to the built form, landscape and 
local environmental conditions.

Measures of Success 
100%
Percentage loss of new trees planted 
was 4.25%, lower than the acceptable 
loss of 5%.

100%
All tree maintenance customer requests 
were completed within the scheduled 
time frames.

93%
The Tree Planting Program was 
93% completed by October 2016 
(remainder out of Council control due to 
construction, underground services work 
and development approvals).

100%
All tree related customer requests for 
action were assessed and prioritised in 
accord with risk standards.

100%
New road sweeper to replace current 
leased unit purchased and operational as 
budgeted.
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Objective 6. Housing Choices (we have good places to live)
A greater choice of housing in locations close to public transport, parks, local shops and 
educational institutions.

Measures of Success
Submit the Residential Development 
Plan Amendment statement of intent 
by September 2016 to the Minister for 
approval. 

Comment: This year the Development Plan 
Amendments have been discontinued in 
light of the State Government's planning 

reform program, which represents the 
biggest overhaul to South Australia’s 
planning system in over 20 years. One 
of the outcomes of the planning reform 
will be the replacement of Council's 
Development Plan with a simplified and 
generic Planning and Design Code for the 
whole of the State.

Submit the Activity Centres statement(s) 
of intent by November 2016 to the 
Minister for approval.

Comment: Through 2017/18 Council has 
an opportunity to influence and shape the 
Planning and Design Code as it relates to 
the City of Mitcham. Work to address this 
opportunity progresses as part of Council’s 
Local Area Planning project.
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Objective 7. Safe Public Realm (we are a safe place to live and visit)
People feel safe in their homes, on local streets, in parks and when dining and travelling 
throughout the City.

Measures of Success 
100%
Of the 20% of dog and cat owners 
audited annually 100% were compliant 
with their dog and cat registrations.

100%
100% of food businesses identified to 
have critical or major issues followed-
up through legislative means, including 
food complaints inspections.

100%
100% of food businesses were inspected 
as per required frequency based on risk 
exceeding target of 90%.

100%
100% of Environmental Health premises 
include but not limited to swimming 
pools, spas, cooling towers and tattoo 
parlours identified to have critical 
or major issues were followed-up 
through legislative means, including 
environmental health complaint 
inspections. 

100%
100% of environmental health premises 
include but not limited to swimming 
pools, spas, cooling towers and tattoo 
parlours inspected as per required 
frequency based on risk. Numbers 
include complaints inspections.

-20%
There was an increase in valid parking 
complaints of 18% many of which 
were attributable to the Darlington 
Interchange construction zone and an 
increase generally in members of the 
public reporting parking violations in 
school zones. This fell considerably short 
of the hoped for target of a 2% reduction.

132%
92.2% of wandering dogs were returned 
to their owners exceeding the 70% 
target.

100%
100% of new pool safety barriers 
Inspected within two weeks of receipt of 
notice of completion.

100%
100% of graffiti removed with 48 hours 
of it being reported.

100%
All 15 scheduled precinct works were 
undertaken by the City Maintenance 
Team.

100%
100% of road maintenance customer 
requests completed by undertaking 
repairs or referral on for replacement.

100%
100% of road faults (potholes) were 
repaired in accord with maintenance 
program and risk factors.

67%
Three of the five scheduled shade sails 
over playgrounds were installed with 
residents at the time of consultation 
not wanting a shade sail on Ossie 
Goldsworthy Reserve and Kinedana 
Reserve, one new playground was 
installed as scheduled.

100%
Council partnered with the Department 
of Planning Transport and Infrastructure 
and school communities on the Way2Go 
Program to identify, plan and implement 
people focused, safe and innovative 
improvement in local streets near school 
to support active travel for schools at 
St Therese, Bellevue and Colonel Light 
Gardens Primary Schools.

Statistics
• There were 6,233 vaccines 

administered during the year.

• There were 70 outstanding public 
lighting requests to be processed.

• There were no dog control 
prosecutions during the year.

• In establishing an ongoing capital 
work program to install shade 
structures over playgrounds in high 
use currently unshaded areas Council 
provided funding for one structure 
and did not support future funding for 
more shade sails.

Additional Achievements
• Our Library Services received E-Smart 

accreditation which is a behaviour 
change initiative for cyber safety and 
wellbeing designed to equip libraries 
and connect library users with the 
skills they need for smart, safe and 
responsible use of technology.

• Prepared and submitted Annual Food 
report for SA Health.

• Prepared and submitted “Living Well” 
Regional Public Health Plan report to 
SA Health.

• Birksgate lighting upgrade - stage 1b 
completed.

• Council held Child Safe Training Session 
for Sport and Recreation Club where 
100% of attendees would recommend 
the training seminar to others.
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INCLUSIVE AND CAPABLE COMMUNITY 
GOAL: 
A community that welcomes and respects all people and brings them 
together in friendship and community lead action.
Council’s focus for a Capable Community has been:

Objective 8. Creative and Learning Community  
(we value our local talent)
People expressing who they are and pursuing the many pathways to learning and personal growth.

Measures of Success 
104%
835,809 library items borrowed 
exceeding the target of 800,000. 
Includes number of items checked 
out at the Mitcham Library Service and 
incoming transits checked out at the 
Mitcham Library Service but not outgoing 
transits to other libraries.

95%
Current membership for the Mitcham 
Library Service 20,049 slightly lower than 
the target of 21,000.

117%
There were 23,301 library personal 
computer sessions higher than the target 
of 20,000.

185%
There were 29,657 people attending 
library programs and events almost 
double the target of 16,000 people.

87%
Number of people passing through 
library doors (including toy libraries) was 
slightly lower than the target of 392,000 
at 341,077 people.

114%
There were 205,265 accesses of online 
library resources and catalogues slightly 
high than the target of 180,000. Data 
includes access of Online Catalogue and 
Who Writes Like, What Next, Ancestry, 
Lynda Library and Overdrive. Zinio 
statistics not accessible.

Statistics
• Items received in for our borrower 

requests totalled 97,210.

• Our items sent out to lend to other 
libraries totalled 98,897.

Additional Achievements
• Public Art Policy endorsed by Council 

providing direction to Council and the 
community on Public Art. Specifically 
an overarching vision, recognition of 
the contribution of public art to civic 
and cultural amenity and Council’s role 
and responsibilities both for Council 
initiated public art as well as privately 
initiated public art.

• Con Brio Adult Community Choir 
commenced at Cumberland Park 
Community Centre, which is a weekly 
session for 50-80 year olds.

• The Every Generation Festival in 
October included 'Toys through Time', 
a fun packed toy journey through time 
from the 1800s to today presented 
by the Toy Museum at Blackwood 

Library, BBC World Service newsreader-
presenter John Ovenden delivered 
two short comedy Rehearsed Play 
Readings at the Blackwood Library, 
award winning author Hannah Kent 
shared her new book The Good People 
at the Tower Arts Centre, celebrity 
gardening presenter Sophie Thomson 
spoke at the Tower Arts Centre about 
Old Fashioned Gardening Wisdom, 
5AA radio food presented Rilka 
Warbanoff spoke about sugar and 
gluten free cooking at the Blackwood 
Library, Mitcham Library hosted an 
Enchanted Evening with belly dancing 
performances and mini workshops and 
shared middle eastern treats, a movie 
morning showing The Hundred-Foot 
Journey at Wallis Mitcham Cinema and 
afternoon tea served by Library staff 
of Blackwood and Mitcham Libraries 
every Monday to Thursday during 
October. 

• Cumby Crew commenced at the 
Cumberland Community Centre 
providing for social interaction and 
support for people aged under 65 with 
a disability.

• Pass the Book was held as part of Book 
Week, involving 3,921 participants 
from 9 local schools and 55 classes 
across the City and resulting in five 
published story books.

Participants in  
Library programs and events
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Objective 9. Engaged Community (we are active citizens) 
People exchanging information, knowledge, ideas and experiences and participating in their 
communities and public decision making.

Measures of Success
132%
Engaged with 33 sporting lease and 
license holders through meetings, 
workshops or training including: 14 
individual clubs met with, and 19 clubs 
represented at grant funding, youth, 
and psychology training courses. This 
exceeded the annual target of 25.

100%
Key staff of all nine secondary schools in 
the Mitcham area were approached to 
engage in youth discussions. Meetings 
were held at seven schools and two 
schools were unable to be scheduled for 
meetings.

100%
Published six bimonthly editions of the 
Mitcham Community News. 

Statistics
• Council retained 372 volunteers 

who contributed 30,503 hours to 
the community including caring for 
community gardens and reserves, 
researching local history, driving a 
community bus, serving lunch to aged 
residents and more.

Additional Achievements 
• Three joint Community Ward Forums 

were held during the year providing 
an opportunity for the community to 
meet and engage with the Mayor and 
Elected Members from each Ward.

• Community Gardens Policy was 
endorsed by Council providing 
direction in relation to small scale 
community garden activities on 
Council owned land, small scale 
community garden activities on non-
Council owned land and larger scale 
community garden activities. A new 
grant category was also included in 
the Community Development Grants 
Program.

• 200 Year 9, 10 and 11 students from 
Blackwood, Pasadena, Unley and 
Urrbrae High School attended the 
Embrace Movie Screening and question 
and answer session with film producer, 
actress and founder of the Body Image 
Movement Taryn Brumfitt.

• There were 19 formal consultations 
held with the community utilising 
strategies such as public meetings, 
social media, online, workshops, 
enews, banners, surveys, etc.
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Objective 10. Vibrant and Diverse Community  
(we value and respect diversity)
People helping each other and celebrating history, culture, people and place.

Measures of Success 
80%
80% of heritage monuments cleaned and 
maintained with the RAAF Fountain put 
on hold due to the Mitcham Memorial 
Library redevelopment project.

100%
Percentage of event contributors being 
either City of Mitcham residents or 
providers to the City's community was on 
target at 70%.

Statistics
• Domestic assistance was provided to 

1,336 individual residents.

• $30,000 in Community Development 
Grants was distributed to 
32 organisations.

• Council held the Multicultural Food and 
Music community event together with 
a citizenship ceremony in St Marys for 
the second year in a row, attendance 
was estimated at 600.

Additional Achievements
• A Civic Reception was held for 35 

Australia Day and Queens Birthday 
Honours Recipients.

• Sell out Library Author events with 
Hannah Kent, Rilka Warbanoff and 
Adam Liaw were held at the libraries.

• Suicide Prevention Network was 
launched - 55 expressed interest 
in being involved, 30 attended first 
meeting with a constant group of 25 
continuing to meet.

• The Partnering to Build an Aged 
Friendly Environment and Community 
Plan – Regional Strategy and Actions 
Plans for the Cities of Holdfast, Marion 

and Mitcham were endorsed by 
Council providing a consistent direction 
for planning for older people across 
the region supported by a specific 
Action Plan for the City of Mitcham.

• Council celebrated Reconciliation 
Week with the Indigenous Art 
exhibition, Flag Raising Ceremony and 
Welcome to Country at the Council 
meeting.

• History Month was celebrated in 
May 2017 with Mitcham Heritage 
Research Centre running "The Local 
Law, Lawbreakers and Larrikins" 
an old police artefacts exhibition 
and "Charged -Under Lock and Key" 
an event to Celebrate the 125th 
anniversary of the former Mitcham 
Police Station. Around 600 people 
enjoyed the mugshot activities, 
vintage police cars and bikes, making 
lock inspired jewellery and exploring 
the heritage centre trail. The Centre 
also ran guided tours of Belair Village, 
the "Gone but not Silent" tours of 
the Mitcham Anglican and General 
Cemeteries and the Brownhill Creek 
tours. A new free Heritage App was 
created to enable exploration of the 
hills and plains heritage at people's 
own pace. The Centre continued to 
assist our residents to research the 
history of spaces, buildings and people 
and added many more archived old 
historical print artefacts to the history 
collection. 

• Delivered the Youth Week Skate Park 
Competition at Avenue Road Reserve 
Cumberland Park, resulting in 84 
participants and 150 spectators.

• Delivered Youth Fest 16 at Karinya 
Reserve Eden Hills, resulting in a record 
number of competitors, spectators 
and bands.

• Delivered the 11 Council Chamber 
visits for over 420 local primary and 
secondary school students.

• Supported the delivery of seven youth 
leadership, resilience and emotional 
health and wellbeing workshops to 
over 450 local middle school students.

• Supported the delivery of five 
education seminars on safe partying 
and safety at Schoolies to over 700 
local senior school students.

• In partnership with the Blackwood 
Community Recreation Centre, 
supported the delivery of the 
Superhero Roller Disco and Halloween 
Roller Disco, resulting in over 700 
participants and nearly 550 spectators.

• Developed and delivered five 
intergenerational projects with 
local secondary school students and 
community groups involving over 200 
participants. 

• Supported the Inner South Curriculum 
Alliance Career Expo which was 
attended by over 1,200 local 
secondary school students.

• The annual Australia Day Citizenship 
and Award Ceremony was held at 
Carrick Hill with 91 new citizens 
presented with their Australian 
Citizenship Certificates, two recipients 
receiving the Australian Day Citizen 
of the Year Award, one Young 
Citizen of the Year recipient and one 
individual presented with a special 
commendation award.

• The Summer school holidays saw many 
hundreds of children come in to the 
Library and Community Centres with 
their parents to make crafts at their 
leisure.

PAGE 18 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 



Objective 11. Emergency Preparedness and Resilience  
(we are ready for extremes)
People are informed and prepared for climatic variation and natural disasters (such as heatwave, 
bushfire and flood).

Measures of Success 
100%
100% compliance with bushfire 
prevention legislation was achieved 
from the 1,200 targeted high risk 
bushfire properties audited. 

100%
100% of fire breaks on Council reserves 
were brush cut or slashed before the fire 
danger season.

Additional Achievements
• A Building Fire Safety Committee was 

established in August 2015 within the 
Building Services team. A schedule 
of inspections for high risk, publicly 
accessible buildings was developed. A 
total of 74 buildings were inspected up 
from 13 in 2015/2016.

• Reviewed and prepared the Mitcham’s 
Bushfire Prevention Plan 2016/17.
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HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT GOAL:
A green and biodiverse City characterised by clean air, land, water 
and responsible consumption
Council’s focus for a Healthy Environment has been:

Objective 12. Biodiversity (we have unique areas of bush habitat)
Natural habitat protected and expanded by reconnecting vegetation corridors along waterways, 
linear reserves, open space and the streetscape.

Measures of Success 
0%
The development of the Sturt Linear 
Park Stage 3 trail along the Sturt River 
and connection with Stage 2 works 
at Vawser Court including two new 
bridges, environmental improvements, 
landscaping, seating and trail signage 
was not undertaken due to flooding and 
storm damage in September 2016 with 
repairs, design issues with the bridges 
and flood mapping taking priority.

Additional Achievements
• There was a total of 1,065 of trees 

planted during the year.

• Approximately 3,600 native shrubs 
and ground covers were planted in 
reserves throughout Craigburn Farm, 
Blackwood central business district 
and garden beds throughout Mitcham.

• Norman Street Reserve in St Marys 
was redeveloped to improve its 
environmental performance including 
biodiversity conservation. Rain 
gardens were built to treat stormwater 
harvested from surrounding streets 
to reduce storm flows and prevent 
pollution from entering receiving 
waters. 12,700 local provenance 
indigenous plants were established to 
conserve local biodiversity, to purify 
the water, to provide fauna habitat and 

to beautify the reserve. The design of 
Norman Street Reserve’s rain gardens 
won the Institute of Public Works 
Engineering Australasia’s Excellence 
in Design and/or Construction of a 
Public Works Project for a water project 
costing under $1 million.

• Fire breaks were formed in Ellis 
Reserve, Belair Road (near retirement 
village), Glenwood Reserve, James 
Road verge and Ash Avenue, Belair.

• A grant from the Adelaide and Mount 
Lofty Ranges (AMLR) Natural Resources 
Management (NRM) Board of $50,000 
(ex GST) enabled 2.58 hectares of 
difficult weed control in Randell Park's 
main gully. The labour intensive work 
of controlling Olives, Aleppo Pines and 
Boneseed will help to restore our Grey 
Box Woodland whilst reducing fuel 
loads for nearby residents.

• A further 1.78 hectares of steep, 
Grey Box Woodland was prepared 
for a native vegetation off-set site 
in Sleeps Hill Quarry Reserve, above 
the former Lynton Landfill. This 
consisted of controlling significant 
Olive infestations, with some isolated 
patches of Topped Lavender and other 
weeds. Follow-up maintenance was 
undertaken in another off-set site at 
Randell Park.

• Follow-up weed control was 
undertaken across the Mitcham hills 

in native woodland reserves such as 
Ashby, Brown Hill and Blackwood Hill. 
Similar works was undertaken along 
Upper Sturt Road, Olave Hill Road, 
Charlick Road and Sheoak Road.

• A Green Army team provided a boost 
to Mitcham's Grey Box Woodlands, 
including volunteer groups helping 
to restore them. A team of young 
people aged between 17-24 years 
revegetated four hectares with 3,000 
local native plants, propagated 2,721 
plants, maintained two kilometres 
of trail, with 100 metres of trail 
being closed and rehabilitated. 
The Green Army team worked with 
six volunteers groups, two not for 
profit organisations and sites within 
Flinders University and Belair National 
Park. Each team member received 
accredited training in conservation 
and land management, first aid and 
worked in a commercial nursery 
propagating plants.

• Council approved grants to eight 
landholders, totalling $14,466 for 
an estimated 37 hectares of weed 
control, of which the majority is the 
landholder’s efforts. For the first time, 
Council received external funding 
support, of 4,466 from the Adelaide 
and Mount Lofty Ranges (AMLR) Natural 
Resources Management (NRM) Board.
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Objective 13. Clean Energy (we look for better energy solutions)
Changes in urban form, travel habits and conservation efforts are designed to reduce our reliance 
on traditional coal powered energy, and priority is for alternative fit-for purpose energy sources 
such as solar.

Statistics
Council achieve an 8% reduction 
in greenhouse gas emissions from 
the previous year with total energy 
consumed being 26,212GJ. 

Additional Achievements
• The decrease in Council’s greenhouse 

gas emissions can be attributed mainly 
to LED lighting and Solar Photovoltaic 
projects. According to Council's online 
carbon auditing total CO2e emissions 
produced were 4,017 tonnes CO2e 
across three categories as follows:

 Scope 1 emissions of 975 tonnes 
include the usage of:

• Liquid fuels for stationary energy 
purposes.

• Fuels for transport energy purposes.

• Natural gas.

 Scope 2 emissions of 1,729 tonnes 
come from:

• Consumption of electricity from the 
South Australian grid (street lighting 
and buildings).

 Scope 3 emissions of 4,017 tonnes are 
a consequence of Council activities, 
but occur from sources not owned or 
controlled by Council, including:

• Business travel.

• Paper.

• Waste generation.

• Some third party suppliers. 

• Completion level 2 energy audits 
at high energy use sites including 
Mitcham Library, Melrose Park Depot, 
Mitcham Community Centre and 
Mortlock Park.

• Finalisation of a business case that 
examined cost and benefits to change 
street lights owned and managed by 
City of Mitcham to LED, which are 82% 
more energy efficient.

• Living Smart course in partnership 
with Adelaide and Mount Lofty Ranges 
(AMLR) Natural Resources Management 
(NRM) Board held in May 2017 which 
provided tips on how to live more 
sustainability and save energy in the 
home.

• Improved the accuracy of monitoring 
and measuring Council energy 
consumption and greenhouse 
gas emissions using an online 
sustainability reporting tool that reads 
utility bills. 

• Replacement of decorative CLER Street 
Lights at Birksgate Drive to LED.

• Replacement of V category street lights 
on Flinders Drive to LED.

• Implementation of year 2 of the City 
of Mitcham Resilient South Climate 
Change Adaptation Action Plan 2016 
-2019. 

• Successful grant application lodged 
by the Resilient South Councils to the 
South Australian Fire and Emergency 
Service Commission Natural Disaster 
Resilience Program for Red Cross to 
implement the “Resilient South Aware 
and Adapt Project” within Mitcham and 
Southern Region Councils.
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Objective 14. Water Smart (we save water)
Healthy catchments and waterways that protect the environment, people and property.

Measures of Success
100%
Stormwater capital works programs 
delivered 100% of earned value against 
planned works. 

100%
All 18 scheduled new stormwater 
drainage works were completed during 
the year including additional Water 
Sensitive Urban Design initiatives and 
Frank Smith Dam reconstruction and 
stabilisation projects.

Additional Achievements
The Water for Mitcham Project is to 
reduce our reliance on mains water 
for irrigating ovals. Council has been 
investigating stormwater harvesting, 
treatment and storage underground 
in an aquifer. A prospective aquifer at 
AA Bailey Reserve was tested using an 
existing well for potential injection and 
extraction rates. Results were favourable, 
providing future opportunities to make 
better use of stormwater. 

Objective 15. Responsible Consumption and Waste Minimisation  
(we make the most of what we have)
Natural resources are conserved and waste is minimised either through avoidance, reuse, recycling 
or recovery.

Measures of Success 
98.25%
98.25% of customer requests regarding 
illegally dumped rubbish were 
responded to within two weeks.

99.63%
99.63% of putrescible domestic waste 
(blue) bins were collected each week.

79%
Council had improvement of 1.11% from 
last year in diverting 55.05% of material 
away from landfill progressing towards 
our target of 70%.
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ENTERPRISING CITY GOAL: 
A strong and resilient local economy that support business and 
attracts investment
Council’s focus for an Enterprising City has been:

Objective 16. Vibrant District Centres (we have village places)
Attractive, vibrant and revitalised Blackwood, Cumberland Park and Mitcham Centres, supported by 
a variety of quality community facilities and retail, commercial and residential development.

Achievements
• Council provided in principle direction 

for the development of a new 

Blackwood Activity Hub (Library and 
Community Centre) on the current 
Community Centre site, including the 
activation of Waite Street Reserve.

• Supporting consent and landscape 
plans to be developed following 
further work in relation to the 
connectivity of the Blackwood Centre.

Objective 17. Pathways to Employment (we work where we live)
Education and training pathways link people to local jobs and attract employment opportunities 
that match the skill base of our community.

Measures of Success 
10%
Work commenced on the development of 
a City of Mitcham Economic Development 
Strategy following the endorsement of 
the Strategic Management Plan. 

Additional Achievements
• ATO Tax essential workshops for small 

businesses held at the Blackwood 
Community Centre (42 registrations 
39 participants) and Mitcham 
Cultural Village (75 registrations 
43 participants).

• Bookkeeping for small business was 
held at multiple sites across Council 
with 35 registrations at the Blackwood 
Community Centre and 54 at the 
Mitcham Cultural Village.

• Represented at two Automotive 
Transformation Taskforce meetings 
through 2016/17.

Objective 18. Strategic Projects and 
Infrastructure  
(we make good partners)
Strategic land use and infrastructure projects are planned 
collaboratively with neighbouring Councils, State Government 
and through private sector partnerships.

Achievements
• Approval and funding of Brownhill 

Keswick Creek Stormwater 
Management Plan was finalised 
in March 2017. The Stormwater 
Management Authority approved the 
Stormwater Management Plan and 
the State Government announced its 
commitment to fund 50% of the cost of 
the project in partnership with the five 
catchments councils being the Cities of 
Mitcham, Unley, Burnside, West Torrens 
and Adelaide.

• Council engaged with the community 
and the State Government Darlington 
Interchange Project Team to ensure 
the community’s feedback and 
expectations were appropriately 
represented to the Project Team.

• Council endorsed the redevelopment 
of the Mitcham Memorial Library, 
Brownhill Creek and associated 
car parking and landscaping 
improvements under the State/Local 
Government Infrastructure Partnership 
Program and was successful in 
receiving a grant of $1.09 million 
towards this project. Concept Plans 
have been developed and community 
consultation undertaken with 
construction due to commence by 
31 December 2017.

• Brownhill Keswick Stormwater 
Project Steering Group was the 
winner of the Local Government 
Professionals Leadership Excellence 
Award for Excellence in Cross Council 
Collaboration.
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EXCELLENCE IN GOVERNMENT GOAL: 
A Council with strong leadership that values its people, customers 
and partners.
Council’s focus for Excellence in Government has been:

Objective 19. Financial Sustainability (we are good with money)
Responsible management of Council’s financial resources and community assets, and the equitable 
distribution of costs now and into the future.

Measures of Success 
85%
85% of city works and services 
programmed and agreed capital works 
projects completed on schedule and to 
budget.

90%
90% completion of property capital 
works program.

97.2%
Asset Renewal Funding Ratio being 
Council's ability to generate enough cash 
over ten years to cover at least 100% 
replacement of assets was at 97.2%.

100%
Percentage of Council buildings with 
conditions rating data for all four major 
elements was on target at 95%.

100%
Completed the 20 Civic building 
replacement/renewal projects as 
scheduled.

97.5%
97.5% of property maintenance program 
completed as scheduled.

100%
All 11 consumable plant items were 
replaced as budgeted.

0%
The two car park renewals scheduled 
were both held off to allow for further 
investigation into extra traffic and 
design works. 

75%
Of the 28 major fleet items scheduled for 
replace 21 were replaced.

55%
Of the 20 minor fleet items scheduled for 
replacement 11 were replaced.

Statistics
• Percentage of long term rates 

outstanding was at 4.16% of Assessed 
Rates being slightly higher than the 
3% preferred maximum. A change in 
the debt collection service provider 
was required with little notice to 
Council. This change caused the dip in 
performance which was subsequently 
catching up without concern. 

• Forecasted 10 year average of 
repayment term of debt was 
satisfactory at 28.1 years.

• Forecasted interest coverage ratio 
scheduled not to exceed 6% performed 
well at 1.4%.

• Net Financial Liabilities Ratio being 
how much of Council's annual rates 
income would be required to repay 
debt if Council were to wind up 
was 45.5%.

• Operating result as a percentage of 
Council’s rates was 2%.

• 80% of quotations sought through 
Vendor Panel.

• There was one instance of 
unauthorised use of land referred to 
Council for consideration.

Additional achievements
• Shortlisted for the Local Government 

Professionals Leadership Excellence 
Award for Strategic Financial 
Management in the use of financial 
ratios in decision making.

• EFTPOS and PayPal systems went live 
at Mitcham and Blackwood Public 
Libraries.

• Completed $17.1 million on renewal/
replacement of assets.

• Completed $1.2 million on new/
upgraded assets.

• Annual Financial Statements for 
2016/17 finalised – Unqualified Audit 
Result.

• Unqualified Audit Opinion achieved 
for Council’s Internal Financial Control 
System.

Financial Indicators
The Council’s key financial indicators 
were noted in the 2017/18 – 2026/27 
Long Term Financial Plan adopted 
by Council on 27 June, 2017. These 
financial indicators are based on a 10 
year average in line with the Financial 
Indicators and Measures Policy.

• Green indicates a healthy / sustainable 
result / position.

• Yellow indicates a less healthy result / 
position that will require attention in 
the near future and is not sustainable 
for the long term.

• Red indicates an unsustainable result 
/ position that requires immediate 
attention.

Debt Repayment Term

0 3015 50 80

26.1 years

Debt Term (10 year average)

Calculated as: 
Amount of time (in years) over which 
the repayment of existing debt and 
debt taken out across the 10 years of the 
Plan is funded based on forecast surplus 
cash from operations. Surplus cash is 
calculated as cash from operations 
excluding non-cash items, one off 
items and the average asset renewal 
expenditure requirements over the 
10 years.

Purpose
This ratio measures how much cash is 
available from operations and therefore 
the timeframe over which the debt 
principal will be repaid. As new debt 
is taken out, additional cash from 
operations is needed to ensure that 
the new debt is paid off over a defined 
timeframe.
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Target Range
In considering the right balance between 
minimising interest costs and applying 
the intergenerational principal from a 
direct service benefit point of view it is 
considered that a timeframe of between 
10-30 years is better applied to the 
repayment of debt. This is conservative 
from the perspective that the weighted 
average of assets is about 66 years, 
however, strikes a balance between 
intergenerational equity and interest 
costs and allows Council to ensure 
financial sustainability.

Long Term Financial Plan 
Commentary
Council is generating sufficient cash from 
operations to fund Asset Renewal over 
the life of the 10 year plan and repay 
debt in approximately a 26 year period, a 
period well below the average useful life 
of Council’s depreciable assets (around 
66 years) and one that is considered to 
strike an appropriate balance between 
financial cost and intergenerational 
equity. This does not mean that Council 
will have $Nil debt in approximately 
26 years’ time as Council will continue 
to take out and repay debt in the future 
as assets are renewed, wear out and 
replaced in perpetuity. What it means is 
that the debt taken out over the ten year 
Long Term Plan (including the debt as at 
today) will be repaid in approximately 
26 years, a period less than the common 
house mortgage.

Asset Renewal Funding Ratio
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98.5%

Asset Renewal Ratio (10 year average)

Calculated as:
Cash flow from operations expressed 
as a percentage of the average asset 
replacement requirement from the Asset 
Management Plans and Schedules.

Purpose
This indicator measures whether Council 
is generating enough cash from its 
operations to cover the replacement 
of assets over time. This ensures that 
Council is delivering intergenerational 
equity across the lifecycle of asset 
replacement.

Target Range
In general Council should be targeting an 
average of at least 100% and in line with 
the Debt Repayment Term.

It is considered appropriate to use the 
20 year asset renewal information. 
However, at this stage, and until all the 
Asset Management Plans are finalised, 
Council will be basing it on the 10 years 
asset renewal information included 
within Council’s Long Term Financial Plan.

Long Term Financial Plan 
Commentary
Council is generating sufficient cash from 
operations to fund Asset Renewal over 
the life of the 10 year plan to fund the 
average asset replacement requirement 
from the Asset Management Plans and 
Schedules.

Operating Result Ratio
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1.7%

Operating Result Ratio (10 year 
average)

Calculated as:
Operating result (excluding non-cash 
gains / losses from equity accounted 
subsidiaries) expressed as a percentage 
of Council rates income, less NRM levy.

Purpose
This ratio is designed to identify the 
portion of Council’s rates (the main 
source of Council controlled income) 
that is contributing to a surplus result, or 
alternatively the additional portion of 
Council’s rates needed to address a deficit 
result. The ratio expresses the amount as a 
percentage of Council’s rates.

A positive result on this ratio indicates 
the percentage of Council’s rates that are 
available to fund new initiatives or to 
repay debt. A negative result indicates 
the percentage increase in Council’s rates 
on top of that already proposed for that 
year required to achieve a break even 
position.

Target Range
In general, Council should not be 
targeting operating deficits nor should it 
be targeting large operating surpluses. 
Both of these results negatively affect 
intergenerational equity. The adopted 
Council target for this ratio is between 
1% and 4% across the 10 year Long Term 
Financial Plan Term.

Long Term Financial Plan 
Commentary
Council is generating a moderate level 
of operating result as a percentage of 
Council rates over the life of the 10 year 
plan to alleviate the risk of a negative 
impact on intergenerational equity.

Asset Sustainability Ratio
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101.4%

Asset Sustainability Ratio (10 year 
average)

Calculated as:
Amount spent on replacement of existing 
assets expressed as a percentage of the 
amount planned to be spent according 
to the endorsed Asset Management Plans 
and Schedules.

Purpose
This indicator measures the extent 
to which Council is replacing assets 
compared to the rate at which it needs to 
be replacing assets to ensure consistent 
service delivery. In effect it measures 
whether Council is spending the amount 
required annually to deliver the Asset 
Management Plans and Schedules.

It is important to note that this indicator 
does not measure if Council is funding 
the asset replacement requirements 
from sustainable sources (refer above 
Asset Renewal Funding Ratio) but is 
simply measuring if Council is performing 
the required work to replace assets and 
maintain the level of service and asset 
conditions.

Target Range
In general Council should be targeting 
on average to spend at least 100% of 
the gross replacement requirements 
over time in relation to Council’s existing 
assets.

It is considered appropriate to use the 
20 year asset information contained in 
the Asset Management Plans. However, 
at this stage, and until all the Asset 
Management Plans are finalised, Council 
will be basing it on the 10 years asset 
information included within Council’s 
Long Term Financial Plan.

Long Term Financial Plan 
Commentary
Over the life of the 10 year plan, Council 
sits comfortably within the range of 90%-
110% and based on the fact that the Asset 
Management Plans include both the 
planned renewal over the next 10 years 
as well as addressing the backlog over 
the next coming years, this ratio indicates 
that Council is replacing its assets at 
the rate at which they are planned to 
be replaced as well as addressing the 
backlog.
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Net Financial Liabilities 
Ratio

0% 60%25% 80% 100%

64.3%

Net Financial Liabilities Ratio (10 year 
average)

Calculated as:
Net financial liabilities and reserves as a 
percentage of total operating revenue 
(less NRM levy).

Net financial liabilities being total 
liabilities less cash and other financial 
assets readily convertible to cash.

Purpose
This ratio measures Council’s net financial 
liabilities as a percentage of its rates 
income. It measures the absolute level 
of Council debt (including potential debt 
in the form of undrawn reserves) and 
articulates how much of Council’s annual 
rates income would be required to repay 
that debt if Council were to wind up.

Any organisation involved in long term 
projects, perpetual service delivery and 
asset creation requires access to debt. 
Debt is a healthy source of finance if used 
appropriately and for the right purpose 
and if associated with an income source 
to facilitate its repayment over time. 
Total debt should not be too low or too 
high so as to create a negative impact on 
intergenerational equity.

If total debt is too high it is arguable 
that current ratepayers are not paying 
their way, leaving too much of the 
burden to future generations. Equally, if 
total debt is too low it is arguable that 
current ratepayers are being asked to pay 
too much of the burden at the benefit 

of future ratepayers, or alternatively 
that infrastructure renewal is being 
deferred and assets run down for future 
generations to deal with.

It is also important to note that when 
considering the net financial liabilities 
as a percentage of rates income, Council 
is a perpetual organisation that exists 
forever with a secure and perpetual 
income source. This is different to 
considering an individual’s level of debt 
as a portion of their discretionary income 
as the individual has a finite working life 
and, therefore, a finite source of income.

Upper Limit
In general, Council should be managing 
a level of debt to ensure the best balance 
between current and future ratepayers 
for long-lived infrastructure costs, thus 
delivering intergenerational equity. The 
adopted Council target for the ratio is 
to be within 60% on average over the 
10 year Long Term Financial Plan term 
with ability to increase to 80% in relation 
to projects / investments that Council 
considers being of strategic significance.

Long Term Financial Plan 
Commentary
The Council’s net financial liabilities 
increase is a result of redressing the asset 
renewal backlog that has accumulated 
over prior years and investing in new 
capital assets of around $31.2 million 
over the next 10 years. The ratio exceeds 
60%, however the level of debt is 
regarded as affordable and sustainable 
during a period of significant strategic 
investment. 

Interest Coverage Ratio
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2.2%

Interest Cover Ratio (10 year average)

Calculated as:
Net interest expense expressed as a 
percentage of rates income.

Purpose
This indicator measures the affordability 
of Council’s debt and articulates the 
portion of Council’s rates income that 
is being used to pay interest. When 
considered in conjunction with Net 
Financial Liabilities Ratio (above) and 
Debt Repayment Term (above), this 
ratio forms part of a picture in terms of 
the level and affordability of Council’s 
debt and the timeframe over which it is 
repaid.

Upper Limit
Council considers that interest expense 
of greater than 6% of its rates income 
(6 cents in every $1 of rates income) 
indicates a servicing cost of debt that 
is too high and working against the 
principle of intergenerational equity.

Long Term Financial Plan 
Commentary
Over the period of the Long Term 
Financial Plan Council’s projected cost 
of borrowings remains well within 
the maximum target of 6% adopted 
by Council under the assumption that 
interest rates remain at or around 
4.5% over the life of the Long Term 
Financial Plan.

Council’s interest costs increase as a 
portion of total operating income over 
Years 2 - 10 of the Long Term Financial 
Plan as a result of investing in the 
reduction of Council’s infrastructure 
backlog. However the ratio on average is 
2.2% over the 10 year plan reflecting the 
affordability of the additional investment 
into new and enhanced services over the 
forward estimates with only 2.2 cents in 
the dollar being used to service debt.
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Objective 20. Service Efficiency and Effectiveness  
(we provide value for money)
Services, facilities and infrastructure assessed for community 
need and provided where Council is in the best position to do so 
efficiently and cost effectively or through partnerships.

Measures of Success 
100%
Efficiency and cost savings annual target 
of $351,000 was achieved with actual 
savings totalling $351,915.

125%
Four service delivery reviews scheduled 
for this financial year were implemented 
on schedule and within budget. Five 
service reviews were undertaken as 
follows: 

• Community Wellbeing Service Review 
commenced in preparation of the 
pending reforms at both the Federal 
and State level which will have a 
significant impact on the way Council 
may choose to operate into the future. 
Specifically this review aims to better 
understand and prepare for the 
impending reform, define program 
and service levels and develop options 
for the future.

• Events Management Service Review 
commenced to identify current 
service levels and opportunities for 
improvement.

• Planning Service Review commenced 
year one of a two year review, 
including policy review and 
development, planning services, 
development compliance, 
development engineering, building 
services and development support.

• Line Marking Service Review was 
completed, covering all planning, 
management and work practices 
associated with line marking, 
including new line marking of 
resealed roads, repainting old 
line marking, identifying repairs, 
maintenance of traffic controls etc.

• Street Sweeping Service Review was 
undertaken, focussing on reviewing 
the scheduling and operations of the 
street sweeping program.

Statistics
• Following the completion of the 

Library Service Review in 2015/16, 
opening hours and the operation of 
the Toy Library were reviewed with 
no further changes implemented and 
approximately $20,000 in efficiencies 
returned to Council during the year.

• Review of Property team structure and 
services commenced.

Objective 21. Good Governance (we do things right)
Accountable governance and robust corporate systems for decision making and risk management.

Measures of Success 
100%
Following extensive community 
consultation, the Strategic Management 
Plan 2017 – 2027 was endorsed by 
Council in May 2017. The Strategic 
Management Plan is a long term plan for 
what the City of Mitcham will look like. 
It is a high level document which sets a 
clear vision and desired objectives for 
the City and outlines how we will work 
towards achieving these. This Strategic 
Plan has a 10 year vision, which will 
provide the direction for Council’s shorter 
term plans and projects.

100%
Renewal of 13 IT systems and equipment 
was undertaken as scheduled.

97%
Thirty one business processes were for 
defined and/or improved one less than 
the target of 32.

100%
Council received quarterly 
TechnologyOne Project Status Update 
reports on schedule.

100%
Compliance with six monthly Community 
Wellbeing reporting for funding and 
standards for safe and high quality 
assistance to residents was met.

100%
All internal reviews of Council decisions 
managed in accord with Council policy.

100%
Council endorsed the 2015/16 Annual 
Report on schedule by 30 November 
2016.

Statistics
• Council collaborated with the Electoral 

Commission of South Australia in 
implementing a supplementary 
election where Jane Bange was 
elected, with a voter turnout of 26.6%, 
and appointed as a Ward Councillor for 
the Park Ward on 16 September 2016.

• There were 16 Freedom of Information 
Applications received and determined.

Additional Achievements
• Commonwealth Home Support 

Programme Audit against the 
Community Care Common Standards 
was undertaken and all outcomes 
were achieved.
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Objective 22. People and Workplace Culture (we do things well)
A culture of leadership and a good place to work and develop a career.

Measures of Success 
100%
2017/19 Workplace Health and Safety 
Strategic Plan was endorsed and 
published. 

100%
Property Services Team Review Action 
Plan has been implemented. 

Statistics
• There were 44 employees with annual 

leave of 40 days or more.

• There were five staff with Long Service 
Leave of 120 days or over.

• There were 615.40 work hours lost due 
to workplace injury.

• Council has 257 full time equivalent 
staff.

• There were 170 incidents and 
accidents.

• There were 36 staff separations.

• Female staff held 43% of management 
positions (excluding Team Leaders).

• Female staff make up 57% of 
employees.

• The average personal leave days taken 
per employee is 7.86.

• There were 86% of staff retained in the 
workforce.

Additional Achievements
• Significant work was undertaken to 

progress Council’s Work Health Safety 
(WHS) Framework, processes and 
culture. The City of Mitcham was one 
of three councils evaluated as part of 
an extensive SA Local Government Safe 
Work Workers Compensation Licence 
Review undertaken by Return to Work 
SA (RTWSA) in June 2017. The City of 
Mitcham received a special mention 
from the RTWSA in achieving zero 
non-conformances or material issues 
and our volunteer management was 
highlighted as an area of excellence. 
The RTWSA subsequently approved the 
renewal of registration for the Local 

Government Association of SA as a self-
insured employer for the maximum 
five year term. This outstanding 
achievement projects, by conservative 
estimates, that self-insurance has 
saved the Local Government sector 
$250 million.

• 75% of MyPlans (staff development 
and performance plans) were 
undertaken, lower than the target 
of 90%.

• Work towards White Ribbon workplace 
accreditation commenced.

• Work towards Breast Feeding Friendly 
Workplace Accreditation commenced.

• Four staff received scholarships to 
participate in the Local Government 
Professional Emerging Leaders and 
Professional Leaders Programs.

• Manager and Team Leader Leadership 
Development Program was 
undertaken.
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Objective 23. Customer Focus (we focus on you)
An organisation focused on its internal and external customers.

Measures of Success 
110%
Average call resolution rate at first point 
of contact was 61% which was higher 
than the target of 55%.

110%
Customer satisfaction with the Customer 
Service Centre service was 88% which 
was higher than the target of 80%.

100%
Urgent ‘Section 7’ requests were 
completed on average within 24 hours 
consistent with the target.

300%
There were 12 service area specific 
customer surveys undertaken during the 
year conduct exceeding the target of at 
least four.

124%
99% of property maintenance requests 
were completed by first contact 
exceeding the target of 80%.

100%
All customers satisfied with property help 
desk service.

127%
Community Wellbeing achieved 126.75% 
of their service targets in accord with 
Commonwealth and State funding 
agreements.

Statistics
• There were 1,118 property 

maintenance help desk requests.

• There were 146 Mitcham Cemetery Plot 
Enquiries.

• Average time to undertake a Cemetery 
Plot Enquiry was 68 minutes.

Objective 24. Council Reputation (we do what we say)
An organisation recognised as a leader in government.

Measures of Success
100%
Annual Report endorsed by Council on 
schedule by 30 November 2016.

100%
Four quarterly Business Plan 
Performance Reports were submitted to 
Council as scheduled. 

Statistics
• There were 20 items considered in 

confidence at Council meetings under 
the provisions of s90 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.

Additional Achievements
• The “One Mitcham Many Cultures 

Community Multicultural Fair” was 
awarded the 2016 Planning Institute 
of Australia South Australian Award for 
Public Engagement and Community 
Planning.

• Nominated as a finalist for the Jim 
Crawford Award for Innovation in 
Libraries.

• 120 Year 4 Mitcham Primary 
School students and 40 Year 5 
Walford students learnt about local 
government and participated in a 
mock council meeting.

• Facilitated 125 students from the 
Australian Science and Mathematics 
School, 160 students from Blackwood 
High School, 300 students from Unley 
High School, 200 students from Urrbrae 
Agricultural High School, 115 from 
Mitcham Girls High School and 30 
students from Pasadena High School 
to attend the WHAT Expo, which also 
included over 75 exhibitors providing 
information and career support to the 
students.
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OUR LEADERSHIP 
AND PEOPLE
EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP GROUP
There are five senior executive officers at the City of Mitcham. Their remuneration 
includes employer superannuation contribution, a Council supplied vehicle and base 
salary. Remuneration ranges are as follows:

Remuneration $ Male Female Total

180,000 to 190,000

190,000 to 200,000 2 1 3

210,000 to 230,000 1 1

270,000 to 290,000 1 1

Total 4 1 5

STAFF
Workforce Profile by Gender and Role

Employee Categories
Male Female

Number % Number %

Chief Executive Officer 1 100

Directors 3 75 1 25

Manager 7 58 5 42

Team Leader 5 42 7 58

Employees 137 48 148 52

Total 153 48 161 52

Management/Staff Ratio Full Time Equivalent 

Management* 17 5% of total staff are managers

Staff 297 95% Staff

* Consists of Chief Executive Officer, General Managers and Managers. Team Leaders are within Staff.

Approximate ratio is 1 Manager for every 17 staff.

Implementation of Equal 
Employment Programs
Council has a working group called 
Mitcham Inspired who formed to 
facilitate the engagement, promotion 
and status of women in the organisation. 
Mitcham Inspired has run a number of 
lunchtime motivational workshops with 
guest speakers for all employees.

Council has Bronze Accreditation for the 
50 50 Vision – Councils for Gender Equity 
Program.

Human Resource 
Management and 
Development Programs
• Bi-monthly Leadership Group forums 

were held.

• 20 staff completed external 
communications workshops.

• Depot based leadership group 
completed training in people based 
leadership skills.

• Professional Leaders Program (an 
Executive Leadership Group initiative 
established though LGA Professionals 
SA in partnership with the Executive 
Education Unit at the University of 
Adelaide) aimed to develop analytical 
capabilities in areas such as strategy, 
finance, operations and legislative 
context.

• Emerging Leaders Scholarship 
Program (an Executive Leadership 
Group initiative established though 
LGA Professionals SA in partnership 
with the Executive Education Unit at 
the University of Adelaide) aimed to 
increase self-awareness, confidence 
and knowledge of Local Government.

• Media and communication workshops 
were provided for Executive 
Leadership Group.

• A number of staff were supported in 
external related studies.

• Provided staff ongoing compliance 
training in WHS and legislative 
updates.
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OUR  
GOVERNANCE
The City has an active and committed Council which listens to its 
community and is working to enhance the key strategic goal areas 
of Accessible City, Liveable City, Inclusive and Capable Community, 
Healthy Environment, Enterprising City and Excellence in Government 
in all Council programs and activities.

REPRESENTATION
Comparison of representation quota with councils of similar size.

Elected Members Electors Quota

City of Mitcham 14 48,280 1 : 3,448

City of West Torrens 15 40,134 1 : 2,675

City of Burnside 13 31,827 1 : 2,488

City of Campbelltown 11 34,817 1 : 3,165

Representation Reviews, 
Submissions and Boundary 
Change
Under Section 28 of the Local Government 
Act 1999 it is possible for a member of 
the community to initiate an elector 

submission to request Council to consider 
changing Council boundaries or to alter 
the composition of the representative 
structure of Council. Submissions on 
representation can be made to Council’s 
Chief Executive Officer (see inside front 
cover for contact details).

Council is required to conduct a review 
of representation at least once in 
every eight years or within a period 
specified by the Electoral Commissioner. 
Council undertook its last review of 
representation in 2013 and accordingly 
Council must undertake its next review 
by no later than 2021.
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Decisions of the Council are made by 
the Full Council, the Development 
Assessment Panel (which has delegated 
powers), or by staff through delegated 
authority and/or authorisations. 
Informed decision making is critical to 
ensuring that decisions are made in the 
best interests of the wider community. 
Council’s formal decision making 
structure is comprised of:

• Full Council

• Development Assessment Panel 

• Section 41 Committees

Council is a corporate body and can 
only make decisions by resolution. 
Decisions made by the Council provide 
the direction and authority for Council’s 
ongoing operation. These decisions 
also provide direction to the Chief 
Executive Officer and are implemented 
by Council staff.

The Development Assessment Panel 
operates separately from Council and has 
its own procedures, terms of reference 
and protocol. It was established by 
Council pursuant to section 56A of 
the Development Act 1993 to consider 
development applications and other 
matters relating to planning and 
development. 

Under section 41 of the Local Government 
Act 1999 Council may establish 
committees to: 

• assist it in the performance of its 
functions;

• inquire into, and report on, matters 
within the ambit of its responsibilities;

• provide advice to the Council; and

• exercise, perform or discharge 
delegated powers, functions or duties.

These committees are responsible to and 
report directly to Council. All committees 
make recommendations to Council for 
determination. Council currently has 
four Committees; Audit Committee, 
CEO Performance Review Committee, 
Community Development Grants 
Committee and Strategic Planning and 
Development Policy Committee.

All meetings of Council and its 
Committees are held at the City of 
Mitcham Civic Centre, 131 Belair Road, 
Torrens Park and are open to the 
public, unless the meeting decides 
to exclude the public for special 
circumstances based on Sections 90(2) 
and (3) of the Local Government Act 1999. 
Meeting dates and times are published 
at the Council Civic Centre and on 
Council’s website  
www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au. 
All agendas and minutes are available 
for inspection at the City of Mitcham Civic 
Centre, Libraries and on the website 
www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au.

Documentation for each meeting 
(agenda with reports, attachments 
and minutes) can be accessed on 
Council’s website  
www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au. 
Hard copies of the agendas are made 
available to the public in the Council 
Chambers before the meetings.

Hard copies of the minutes can be 
viewed at the Customer Centre within 
five days of the meeting, without charge.

DECISION MAKING STRUCTURE AT THE 
CITY OF MITCHAM

Development Assessment PanelCouncil

Delegated Powers  
or Recommendation Role

Officers

Eastern Waste  
Management Authority

Centennial Park Cemetery  
Authority

Strategic Planning and  
Development Policy Committee

Community Development  
Grants Committee

Audit Committee

CEO Performance  
Review Committee

Committees Subsidiaries
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COUNCIL AND COUNCIL MEETINGS
Role of Council
The City of Mitcham is established 
to provide for the government and 
management of its area at the local 
level. Its role is to make informed and 
responsible decisions in the interests of 
its community. In particular, to provide 
and co-ordinate services and facilities 
that will benefit its residents and 
the wider community, to develop its 
community and resources in a socially 
just and ecologically sustainable manner, 
to encourage and develop initiatives 
for improving the quality of life of the 
community, to manage, protect and 
conserve the environment within its 
area, and to represent the interests of 
its community to the wider community. 
In addition, Council’s role is to exercise, 
perform and discharge the powers, 
functions and duties of local government 
under the Local Government Act 1999 and 
other applicable legislation.

Council membership is 14 Elected 
Members comprising 13 Ward Councillors 
and one Mayor.

Meetings
The Council is the main decision making 
body and holds its meetings on the 
second and fourth Tuesday of each 
month except December when it met on 
the second Tuesday and January when it 
met on the last Tuesday only.

In 2016/17 Council met at 7pm on 
the second and fourth Tuesday of 
each month except on the following 
occasions:

• December 2016 when it met on the 
second Tuesday only.

• January 2017 when it met only on the 
fourth Tuesday only.

• April 2017 when it met on the second 
Tuesday and the fourth Wednesday 
instead of the fourth Tuesday (due to 
the fourth Tuesday being ANZAC Day 
public holiday).

Members of the community were 
welcome to attend, except where 
matters were discussed “in confidence” 
by members of the Council and the public 
was excluded.

The Council held a total of 22 meetings. The attendance record is below: 

Membership
Number of Meetings

Eligible Attended

Mayor Glenn Spear 22 22

Councillor Jane Bange 17* 17

Councillor Adriana Christopoulos 22 16

Councillor Nicholas Economos 22 19

Councillor Stephen Fisher 22 20

Councillor Nick Greer 22 21

Councillor Tim Hein 22 15

Councillor Karen Hockley 22 21

Councillor David Munro 22 19

Councillor Adrian Rosevear 22 20

Councillor John Sanderson 22 17**

Councillor Lindy Taeuber 22 22

Councillor Andrew Tilley 22 19

Councillor Yvonne Todd 22 22

* Councillor Bange was elected on 16 September 2016 following the conclusion of The 
Park Ward supplementary election.

** Councillor Sanderson was on an approved leave of absence from 11 May 2017 until 
28 June 2017 inclusive. 

DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT PANEL
The functions of Council’s Development Assessment Panel are to act as a delegate of 
the Council in accordance with the requirements of the Development Act 1993 and, as 
it thinks fit, to provide advice and reports to the council on trends, issues and other 
matters relating to planning or development that have become apparent or arisen 
through its assessment of applications and to perform other functions (other than 
functions involving the formulation of policy) assigned to the Panel by the Council.

The Panel comprised seven members; a Presiding Member (who cannot be a member 
or officer of Council), three Council members and three independent members.

Development Assessment Panel Meetings
The Panel met on the first Thursday of the month at 6.30pm, except in December, when 
it met on the second week of the month. No meetings were held in January 2017.

The Development Assessment Panel met 13 times during the 2016/17 financial year. 
The attendance record is below:

Membership
Number of Meetings

Eligible Attended

Mr Gavin Lloyd-Jones (Presiding Member) 13 12

Mr Richard Woods (Independent Member) 13 12

Ms Iris Iwanicki (Independent Member) 13 10

Ms Andrea Thompson (Independent Member) 13 10

Ms Karen Hockley (Council Member) 13 11

Mr Andrew Tilley (Council Member) 13 9

Mr Nicholas Economos (Council Member) 13 11
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COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL
The Council, pursuant to Section 41 of the 
Local Government Act 1999, may establish 
committees to:

• Assist the Council in the performance 
of its functions;

• Inquire into and report to the Council 
on matters within the ambit of the 
Council’s responsibilities;

• Provide advice to the Council; and

• Exercise, perform or discharge 
delegated powers, functions or duties.

When establishing a committee, the 
Council determines the reporting and 
other accountability requirements that 
are to apply to the committee.

There are two types of Committee; (1) 
Prescribed and (2) Other.

PRESCRIBED 
COMMITTEES
Committees are prescribed by 
Determination 7 of 2014 The 
Remuneration Tribunal Determination 
of Allowances for Members of Local 
Government Councils.

Council received advice and 
recommendations from three prescribed 
committees. Their role during the 
2016/17 period is set out below.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assists Council in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to 
accounting, audit, legislative compliance (eg annual financial statements), financial 
and operational risk management (eg strategic management plans or annual business 
plans), ensuring effective communication between Council and management and 
the External Auditor, and reviewing the adequacy of internal controls, reporting and 
practices of the Council on a regular basis.

The Committee is an advisory committee to Council and does not enjoy any delegated 
powers other than the power to adopt its own Minutes. 

Membership of the Committee consisted of five members; two Elected Members and 
three independent members with relevant experience in professions such as, but not 
limited to, accounting, audit, financial, legal, risk management and governance.

The Audit Committee met five times during 2016/17. The attendance record is below:

Membership
Number of Meetings

Eligible Attended

Mr Tim Muhlhausler 5 5

Ms Lisa Scinto* 5 4

Mr Gary Button 5 5

Councillor Karen Hockley 5 5

Councillor John Sanderson 5 3

* Ms Lisa Scinto resigned from the Audit Committee on 15 May 2017

In addition to its legislative role the Committee undertook the following:

• Considered reports in relation to the management and reporting of Council’s 
financial assets, activities, risks and the performance of contracts entered into by 
Council;

• Considered reports in relation to financial and accounting policies; and

• Monitored and reviewed the performance of Council’s Risk Management Program.

CEO Performance Review Committee
The CEO Performance Review Committee undertakes the annual performance review 
of the Chief Executive Officer. The Committee comprised a panel of five members; the 
Mayor who chairs the meetings and four Elected Members. 

The role of the Committee is to establish key performance objectives for the Chief 
Executive Officer, to appraise his actual performance against those objectives and to 
carry out a review of his salary.

The CEO Performance Review Committee met once. The attendance record is below:

Membership
Number of Meetings

Eligible Attended

Mayor Glenn Spear 1 1

Councillor Adriana Christopoulos 1 1

Councillor Nick Greer 1 1

Councillor Adrian Rosevear 1 1

Councillor John Sanderson 1 1
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Strategic Planning and Development Policy Committee
The Strategic Planning and Development Policy Committee assists Council in 
undertaking strategic planning and monitoring and provides advice in relation to:

• the extent to which the Council’s strategic planning and development polices accord 
with the State Planning Strategy;

• strategic planning and development policy issues for Strategic Directions Report and 
Development Plan Amendments.

All members of Council were deemed to be members of the Committee which met on 
an as-needs basis.

The Strategic Planning and Development Policy Committee met once. The attendance 
record is below:

Membership
Number of Meetings

Eligible Attended

Mayor Glenn Spear 1 1

Councillor Jane Bange 1 1

Councillor Adriana Christopoulos 1 1

Councillor Nicholas Economos 1 1

Councillor Stephen Fisher 1 1

Councillor Nick Greer 1 0

Councillor Tim Hein 1 0

Councillor Karen Hockley 1 1

Councillor David Munro 1 0

Councillor Adrian Rosevear 1 1

Councillor John Sanderson 1 1

Councillor Lindy Taeuber 1 1

Councillor Andrew Tilley 1 1

Councillor Yvonne Todd 1 1

OTHER COMMITTEES
Community Development Grants Committee
The Community Development Grants Committee has delegated authority under section 
44(2)(a) of the Local Government Act 1999 to assess applications under the Community 
Development Grants Policy and to allocate funds as assigned in the annual budget to 
eligible community groups and organisation in accordance with the Selection Criteria. 

Membership of the Committee consisted of the Mayor and four Elected Members.

The Community Development Grants Committee met twice to consider applications for 
grants under various categories. The attendance record is below:

Membership
Number of Meetings

Eligible Attended

Mayor Glenn Spear 2 2

Councillor Jane Bange 1 1*

Councillor Karen Hockley 1 1*

Councillor Adrian Rosevear 1 0*

Councillor John Sanderson 2 2

Councillor Lindy Taeuber 2 2

Councillor Andrew Tilley 2 2

* Committee Membership change in January 2017, Councillor Rosevear resigned from 
the Committee and Councillors Bange and Hockley joined the committee.
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INFORMAL GATHERINGS
Informal gatherings are held in 
accord with section 90(8) of the Local 
Government Act 1999 and Council’s 
Informal Gathering Policy: 

Informal gatherings are generally held 
on the third Tuesday of each month and 
the fourth Tuesday of each month prior 
to the Council Meeting. Information 
regarding Council’s briefings is available 
on Council’s website  
www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au.

There were 20 public briefings and 10 briefings closed to the public. The attendance 
record is below:

Membership
Number of Meetings

Eligible Attended

Mayor Glenn Spear 30 29

Councillor Jane Bange 26 18

Councillor Adriana Christopoulos 30 14

Councillor Nicholas Economos 30 22

Councillor Stephen Fisher 30 28

Councillor Nick Greer 30 18

Councillor Tim Hein 30 7

Councillor Karen Hockley 30 22

Councillor David Munro 30 15

Councillor Adrian Rosevear 30 20

Councillor John Sanderson 25 18*

Councillor Lindy Taeuber 30 28

Councillor Andrew Tilley 30 27

Councillor Yvonne Todd 30 29

* Councillor Sanderson was on an approved leave of absence from 11 May 2017 until 
June 2017 inclusive.

DELEGATIONS TO  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
The Council has provided the Chief 
Executive Officer with delegated 
authority to make decisions on a number 
of specified administrative and policy 
matters. The Council reviews these 
delegations annually. The Chief Executive 
Officer is able to sub-delegate to other 
officers of Council as he sees fit.

In keeping with legislative requirements 
Council determines:

• The policies to be applied by the 
Council in exercising its discretionary 
powers.

• The type, range and scope of projects 
to be undertaken by the Council.

• The resources which are to be made 
available to undertake such works and 
services.

 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 PAGE 39 

http://www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au


COUNCIL SUBSIDIARIES
Regional Subsidiaries allow more than one Council to join together to perform a 
particular function, beneficial to all its members. The City of Mitcham has interests in 
two regional subsidiary committees pursuant to section 43 of the Local Government 
Act 1999:

• Centennial Park Cemetery Authority.

• Eastern Waste Management Authority.

Centennial Park Cemetery 
Authority
Centennial Park Cemetery Authority 
is a body corporate. The property of 
the Authority is held on behalf of two 
constituent owner Councils, the City 
of Mitcham and the City of Unley. A 
Board of Management consisting of 
two Councillors from each Council and 
three independent members (chosen 
for their specific areas of expertise) are 
responsible for the administration of 
affairs of the subsidiary. A formal charter 
agreed on by the Constituent Councils 
sets out the powers, functions and duties 
of Centennial Park Cemetery Authority.

The Authority is established to:

• to ensure that the assets and facilities 
at Centennial Park are developed, 
maintained and operated in a 
sustainable and efficient manner; 

• to deliver effective and sustainable 
service provision for the Constituent 
Councils, customers of Centennial Park 
and the community of South Australia; 

• to manage the facilities of and services 
at Centennial Park utilising sound 
business concepts; 

• to establish and demonstrate ethical 
policies and standards, in accordance 
with the rights of customers and 
industry standards; 

• to provide security of tenure for all 
interment licences at Centennial Park 
through sound financial and business 
management; 

• to pro-actively manage the business of 
Centennial Park in a competitive and 
changing environment; 

• to undertake key strategic and policy 
decisions for the purpose of enhancing 
and developing Centennial Park; and 

• to be financially self-sufficient.

A full copy of the Centennial Park 
Cemetery Annual Report is located in 
Appendix A.

Eastern Waste Management 
Authority (East Waste)
The property of Eastern Waste 
Management Authority is held on behalf 
of the constituent owner Councils being 
the City of Mitcham, City of Burnside, 
City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters, 
Adelaide Hills Council, Campbelltown 
City Council, and Corporation of the Town 
of Walkerville. A Board of Management 
consisting of three Councillors and three 
Chief Executive Officers representing 
the constituent Councils and an 
independent chair are responsible for 
the administration of the affairs of the 
subsidiary. A formal charter agreed on by 
Constituent Councils sets out the powers, 
functions and duties of Eastern Waste 
Management Authority.

The Authority is established by the 
constituent councils for the purpose 
of the collection and disposal of 
Waste, primarily within the areas of 
the constituent councils and has the 
following functions:

• to predominantly operate or obtain 
services for the collection of Waste on 
behalf of Constituent Councils and/or 
other approved Councils; 

• to provide waste management 
services whether in or (so far as the Act 
allows) outside the area of any of the 
Constituent Councils, including waste 
collection, recycling of organic and 
inorganic materials, disposal of waste; 
and

• to undertake management and 
collection of Waste (in accordance 
with regulatory approvals) and 
kerbside materials recovery, on 
behalf of Constituent Councils (and/
or other approved Councils) in an 
environmentally responsible, effective, 
efficient, economic and competitive 
manner.

A full copy of the Eastern Waste 
Management Authority Annual Report is 
located in Appendix B. 
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MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES
The Local Government Act 1999 provides for the payment of Elected Member 
allowances.

An Elected Member of Council is entitled to an annual allowance for performing 
and discharging official functions and duties. The Annual Allowance, as set by the 
Remuneration Tribunal of South Australia is adjusted in November each year: 

Role
Annual Allowance

until 6 November 2016 from 7 November 2016

Mayor $76,864 $77,796

Elected Members $19,216 $19,449

The Elected Members’ Allowances and Support Policy sets out a comprehensive 
summary of the provisions of the Local Government Act 1999 and Regulations with 
respect to Elected Member allowances, expenses and provision of facilities, support 
and benefits. It also sets out the circumstances under which Council approves the 
reimbursement of additional expenses on a discretionary basis.

Full details of these and other reimbursements paid to members of Council are detailed 
in the Register of Allowances and Benefits available for viewing at the City of Mitcham 
Civic Centre, 131 Belair Road, Torrens Park.

Fees for the Audit Committee and Development Assessment Panel members were set 
by Council resolution as follows:

Role Fee

Audit Committee Chairperson per sitting $495

Audit Committee Independent Member per sitting $390

Audit Committee Elected Member per sitting $0

Development Assessment Panel Independent Presiding Member per sitting $540

Development Assessment Panel Independent Member per sitting $420

Development Assessment Panel Elected Member per sitting $215

 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 PAGE 41 



Payments made to Elected Members 
The following allowance payments were made to Elected Members during the 
2016/17 financial year. Payments, although made during 2016/17, were made in 
arrears and included the period 26 – 30 June 2016.

Elected Member Allowance

Mayor Glenn Spear $77,455*

Councillor Jane Bange $14,929**

Councillor Adriana Christopoulos $19,364

Councillor Nicholas Economos $19,364

Councillor Stephen Fisher $19,364

Councillor Nick Greer $19,364

Councillor Tim Hein $19,364

Councillor Karen Hockley $18,994***

Councillor David Munro $19,364

Councillor Adrian Rosevear $19,364

Councillor John Sanderson $19,364

Councillor Lindy Taeuber $19,364

Councillor Andrew Tilley $19,364

Councillor Yvonne Todd $19,364

*Total $324,382

* Mayor Spear did not accept a car allowance.

** Councillor Jane Bange was elected on 16 September 2016 following the conclusion 
of The Park Ward supplementary election.

*** Councillor Karen Hockley elected to have her allowance suspended during her 
leave of absence (16 May 2016 until 2 July 2016).

Payments made to Elected Members appointed to the  
Board of the Centennial Park Cemetery Authority 
The following sitting fees were paid by Centennial Park Cemetery Authority to Elected 
Members on the Board of the Authority during the 2016/17 financial year:

Board Member Allowance

Mayor Glenn Spear $6,690

Councillor Adriana Christopoulos $6,690

Payments made to Elected Members appointed to the  
Board of the Carrick Hill Trust
The following sitting fee was paid by Carrick Hill Trust to an Elected Member on the 
Board of the Trust during the 2016/17 financial year.

Board Member Allowance

Councillor Lindy Taeuber $1,327.50

Payments made to Elected Members appointed to the  
Board of the Eastern Waste Management Authority
The Elected Members appointed as a Director or Deputy Director on the Eastern Waste 
Management Authority Board do not receive a sitting fee.

Board Member Allowance

Councillor Karen Hockley (Director) Nil

Councillor Stephen Fisher (Deputy Director) Nil
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ELECTED MEMBER 
TRAINING AND 
DEVELOPMENT
Council encourages continued professional training and development for Elected 
Members. This is seen as being necessary in terms of good governance and to 
the improved performance of their functions and duties. The Council’s Members’ 
Allowances and Support Policy sets out the provisions of the Local Government Act 
1999 and Local Government (Members Allowances and Benefits) Regulations 2010 in 
respect of Elected Members allowances, expenses and support (including training and 
development). 

Pursuant to Regulation 8AA of the Local Government (General) Regulations 2013, 
Council must ensure that Elected Members complete the mandatory Local Government 
Association Training Standards within the first 12 months of their four year term of 
office. The mandatory training is made up of the following modules and has been 
made available to all Elected Members since the 2014/15 financial year:

• Module 1 – Introduction to Local Government – minimum requirement 1.5 hours.

• Module 2 – Legal Responsibilities – minimum requirement 2 hours.

• Module 3 – Council and Committee Meetings – minimum requirement 1.5 hours.

• Module 4 – Financial Management and Reporting – minimum requirement 2.5 hours.

Access to conferences is dependent on the perceived benefits of attendance to 
Elected Members and the Council and the available budget. Information gained from 
attendances at conferences is to be shared with all Elected Members by way of a 
public report to Council. The Elected Members’ Attendance at Conference Policy covers 
the circumstances under which Council approves attendance at a local, interstate or 
overseas conference.

During the 2016/17 financial year, Elected Members attended the following training 
and development seminars and conferences:

2016/17 Activity Attendees

30 Year Plan for Greater Adelaide Update. DPTI. 
LGA event hosted by City of Onkaparinga – 
12 October 2016

Councillors Lindy Taeuber and  
Yvonne Todd

Local Government Association (LGA) Mandatory 
Online Training – Modules 1 to 4 – completed 
14 October 2016

Councillor Jane Bange

LGA Conference (Day 1) – 20 October 2016 Councillor Lindy Taeuber

LGA Conference (Day 2) – 21 October 2016 Mayor Glenn Spear

LGA Conference (Full) – 20 and 21 October 2016 Councillor Karen Hockley

Creating a Dementia Friendly City. Hosted by the 
Member for Davenport – 8 November 2016

Councillor Lindy Taeuber

Main Streets and Placemaking Seminar. LGA event 
hosted by City of Prospect – 10 March 2017

Councillor Lindy Taeuber

LGA Course – Council and Committee Meeting 
Procedures and Chairing Skills – 17 March 2017

Councillor Nick Greer

Making Sustainable Development Goals Training, 
UniSA – 23 March 201.

Councillor Yvonne Todd

Southern Adelaide Business Breakfast – Darlington 
Upgrade Project – 28 March 2017

Councillors Andrew Tilley and  
Yvonne Todd

LGA Showcase – 21 April 2017 Mayor Glenn Spear and  
Councillor Karen Hockley

National General Assembly of Local Government – 
Canberra – 18 to 21 June 2017

Councillor Andrew Tilley
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Under Section 12 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1991, a person has a 
legally enforceable right to be given 
access to an agency's documents in 
accordance with this Act. There were 16 
Freedom of Information applications for 
access received and four applications still 
being processed from the previous year. 
Of the 16 applications in total, two were 
released in full, eight were partially 
released, two were refused and four 
were still in progress as of 30 June 2017.

Under Section 30 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1991, members of 

the public may apply to have any 
information contained in documents 
which relate to their personal affairs 
amended. There were no applications for 
amendment.

Under Section 38 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1991, a person who is 
aggrieved by a determination made 
by an agency is entitled to a review 
of the determination. There were no 
applications for internal review received.

Under Section 39 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1991, a person who is 

aggrieved by a determination of an 
agency following an internal review 
or by a determination that is not liable 
to internal review may apply to the 
relevant review authority for a review 
of the determination. There were no 
applications to the Ombudsman SA for an 
external review.

Council is required under Section 9(1) 
and (1a) of the Freedom of Information 
Act 1991 to publish annually an 
Information Statement. A copy of this 
Statement is available from  
www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au.

Section Description
Number of 
Times Used

90(2) A council or council committee may order that the public be 
excluded from attendance at a meeting to the extent (and only 
to the extent) that the council or council committee considers it 
to be necessary and appropriate to act in a meeting closed to the 
public in order to receive, discuss or consider in confidence any 
information or matter listed in subsection (3) (after taking into 
account any relevant consideration under that subsection)

20

90(3)(a) information the disclosure of which would involve the 
unreasonable disclosure of information concerning the personal 
affairs of any person (living or dead)

2

90(3)(b) information the disclosure of which-

(i) could reasonably be expected to confer a commercial 
advantage on a person with whom the council is conducting, or 
proposing to conduct, business, or to prejudice the commercial 
position of the council; and

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest

12

90(3)(d) commercial information of a confidential nature (not being a 
trade secret) the disclosure of which-

(i) could reasonably be expected to prejudice the commercial 
position of the person who supplied the information, or to confer 
a commercial advantage on a third party; and

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest

7

90(3)(g) matters that must be considered in confidence in order to ensure 
that the council does not breach any law, order or direction of a 
court or tribunal constituted by law, any duty of confidence, or 
other legal obligation or duty;

2

90(3)(i) information relating to actual litigation, or litigation that the 
council or council committee believes on reasonable grounds will 
take place, involving the council or an employee of the council;

2

90(3)(j) information the disclosure of which—

(i) would divulge information provided on a confidential basis 
by or to a Minister of the Crown, or another public authority 
or official (not being an employee of the council, or a person 
engaged by the council); and

(ii) would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest; 

1

90(3)(k) tenders for the supply of goods, the provision of services or the 
carrying out of works;

2

91(7) If an order is made under subsection (2), a note must be made 
in the minutes of the making of the order and of the grounds on 
which it was made.

20

CONFIDENTIAL PROVISIONS
The City of Mitcham is committed to 
the principal of open and accountable 
government with meetings ordinarily 
conducted in public. Council also 
recognises that on occasions it may be 
necessary or appropriate for particular 
matters to be considered in confidence 
as allowed under Section 90 of the Local 
Government Act 1999.

During this financial year 20 of the 
420 items considered by Council were 
considered in confidence under Section 
90 of the Local Government Act 1999 
(includes motions to change the order of 
business, extension of meeting time and 
confirmation of minutes).

The table shows the number of times 
each clause has been used by Council or 
its committees. It should be noted that 
in some instances multiple clauses have 
been used for single items.
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Use of Confidential Provisions during 2016/17
The table below is an extract Council’s Confidential Items Register identifying all the items considered in confidence under Section 90 
during 2016/17, the sections used and their status as at 30 June 2017.

Date Meeting Item Report Title S90(2) S91(7) Status at 30 June 2017

12/7/16 Council 8.1 Award of Contract – Footpath and Civil 
Works

Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

12/7/16 Council 8.2 Award of Contract – Road Profiling and 
Supply and Place of Asphalt

Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

12/7/16 Council 8.3 Brown Hill Keswick Creek Stormwater 
Management Project – Auditor 
General’s Report

Released

26/7/16 Council 8.1 Brown Hill Keswick Creek Stormwater 
Management Project – Auditor-
General’s Report

Released

1/8/16 CEO  
Performance 
Review

2.1 Chief Executive Officer Performance 
Report

Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

23/8/16 Council 9.1 Blackwood District Centre – Council 
Land and Facilities

Attachments and 
resolution in confidence

23/8/16 Council 11.1 CEO Performance Review Committee – 
Monday 1 August 2016

Report, attachments and 
resolution remain in 
confidence

13/9/16 Council 7.1 Blackwood District Centre – Council 
Land and Facilities

Attachments remain in 
confidence

27/9/16 Council 13.1 Centennial Park Cemetery Authority – 
Performance Progress Report

Attachments remain in 
confidence

25/10/16 Council 8.1 Brown Hill Keswick Creek Stormwater 
Management Project Funding Proposal

Report, attachments and 
resolution remain in 
confidence

25/10/16 Council 8.2 Hannaford Road Blackwood – 
Enforcement Order

Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

22/11/16 Council 8.1 Blackwood District Centre Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

13/12/16 Council 8.1 Centennial Park – Strategic Plan and 
Asset Management Plan 2017

Report, attachments and 
resolution remain in 
confidence

13/12/16 Council 8.2 Land Acquisition – Sturt River Linear 
Park

Report, attachments and 
resolution remain in 
confidence

24/1/17 Council 8.1 Mitcham Railway Station – Expressions 
of Interest

Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

14/3/17 Council 8.1 Blackwood District Centre Report, attachments and 
resolution remain in 
confidence

26/4/17 Council 7.4 Mitcham Memorial Library 
Development

Attachments remain in 
confidence

26/4/17 Council 8.1 Land Disposal – Road Reserve Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

9/5/17 Council 8.1 Settlement of Outstanding Debt Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

27/6/17 Council 8.1 Blackwood District Centre Report and attachments 
remain in confidence

There were 80 orders still operative at the end of the financial year (not including orders made before 15 November 2010).
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SECTION 270 INTERNAL REVIEWS OF 
DECISIONS
During the 2016/17 financial year Council received four requests for a review of a decision, citing section 270 of the Local Government 
Act 1999 as follows:

Date Subject Status

December 2016 Parking Controls and Road 
resurfacing

Procedural and Administrative practices compliant to Road Traffic 
Act, Regulations and Council Policies and Procedures.

February 2017 Decision to remove tree Remains under review as at 30 June 2017

March 2017 Process discussed and matter 
withdrawn

Withdrawn

May 2017 Egress point  
– Darlington Upgrade Project

Remains under review as at 30 June 2017

NATIONAL COMPETITION POLICY
Competitive Neutrality, 
Significant Business 
Activities and Structural 
Reform of Public Monopolies
The competition principles applicable to 
Local Government under the competition 
principles agreement require that each 
Local Government authority issue a 
clause 7 statement. For the last year 
Council advises that it:

• Has two significant businesses defined 
as category 1 businesses under 
competitive neutrality principles – 
Eastern Waste Management Authority 
and Centennial Park Cemetery 
Authority which neither commenced 
nor ceased operating during the 
2016/17 financial year.

• Has no by-laws which place barriers on 
market entry, conduct or discriminates 
between competitors.

• Has received no complaints alleging 
a breach of competitive neutrality 
principles by Council.

• Has not been involved in any structural 
reform of monopolies.

Competitive Tendering
The City of Mitcham is committed to 
ensuring open, fair and transparent 
processes with respect to procurement 
activities which ensure the equitable 
treatment of suppliers while adhering 
to appropriate standards of probity. The 
Council’s Procurement Policy adheres 
to section 49 of the Local Government 
Act 1999. The Policy and supporting 
procedures aim to facilitate the delivery 
of best value goods, works and services 
to the community in a sustainable way. 

The types of procurement methods 
utilised by Council are determined by 
reference to the level of expenditure, 
established within Council’s procurement 
procedures, together with a 
consideration of the complexity, risk and 
prevailing market conditions associated 
with the procurement. The method 
chosen is with a view to achieving the 
best value for money result.

The Council’s procurement procedures 
provide for competitive procurement 
processes for all requirements valued in 
excess of $5,000 unless an exemption 
has been sought. In excess of 80% of 
Council expenditure was subject to a 
competitive approach to market.

A comprehensive contract register for all 
contracts is in place.

Council is committed to continuous 
improvement with respect to its 
procurement practices. Currently the 
Council is revisiting its policy and 
procedural framework for procurement 
together with its contractual tools and 
considering appropriate change in light 
of its spend trends.

In fulfilling Council’s procurement 
function the following principles apply:

• suppliers need to adhere to acceptable 
standards of work health and safety 
practices;

• the conservation of resources, energy 
efficiencies, minimisation of waste, 
protection of the environment and 
principles of ecological sustainability 
are encouraged; and

• Council incorporates the principles of 
the Disability Discrimination Act 1992. 

Council is committed to maximising the 
benefits of its procurement activities to 
the local economy and community. The 
Procurement Policy provides that subject 
to all commercial considerations being 
equal Council may, subject to the law, 
give preference to: 

• suppliers operating in the Mitcham 
Council area; 

• products that are Australian made; 

• products that are produced from 
recycled material collected in Council’s 
area;

• products that are accredited to the 
Home Workers Code of Practice.

PAGE 46 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 



COMMUNITY LAND  
AND COUNCIL FACILITIES
During the 2016/17 financial year, amendments were made to the following reserves, with changes to their Land Management Plans 
being gazetted early in 2017/18.

• Hewett Sports Ground

• Karinya Reserve 

• Neate Avenue Reserve

• Sturt Linear Park

DOCUMENTS REQUIRED  
TO BE MAINTAINED BY COUNCIL
The City of Mitcham has a range of corporate governance documents, registers, codes and policies to assist with decision making and 
to ensure Council’s activities are undertaken in an accountable, efficient, open and transparent manner.

Registers 
The following are registers keep by 
Council as required under the Local 
Government Act 1999 and the Local 
Government (Elections) Act 1999:

• Assessment Record

• Delegations Register

• Policy Register

• Register of By-laws

• Register of Campaign Donations 
Returns

• Register of Community Land

• Register of Dogs

• Register of Fees and Charges

• Register of Gifts and Benefits – Council 
Officers

• Register of Gifts and Benefits – Elected 
Members

• Register of Interests – Council Officers

• Register of Interests – Elected Members

• Register of Land Management 
Agreements

• Register of Land Management 
Agreements – Development 
Applications

• Register of Members Allowances and 
Benefits

• Register of Planning and Building 
Applications

• Register of Remuneration, Salaries and 
Benefits – Council Officers

• Register of Roads

Codes of Conduct  
or Practice
The following is a list of the Code 
of Conduct or Practice that Council 
is required to keep under the Local 
Government Act 1999: 

• Code of Conduct - Elected Members

• Code of Conduct - Employees

• Code of Conduct - Development 
Assessment Panel Members

• Code of Practice - Access to Meetings 
and Documents

• Code of Practice - Meeting Procedures

Copies of Codes and Registers (except for 
Register of Interests – Council Officers) 
are available to the public from the City 
of Mitcham Civic Centre, 131 Belair Road, 
Torrens Park or on Council’s website at 
www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au.

Policy Documents
All of Councils public policies are 
available to the public and are located 
on Council’s website and include 
mandatory policies as follows:

• Complaint Handling

• Induction, Training and Development 
for Elected Members

• Elected Members Allowance and 
Support

• Informal Gatherings

• Internal Control

• Internal Review of a Council Decision

• Order Making

• Procurement

• Prudential Management

• Public Consultation

• Road Naming

Other Corporate Documents
The following corporate documents are 
also available to the public on Council’s 
website: 

• Annual Report

• Audited Financial Statements

• Charter for Centennial Park Cemetery 
Trust

• Charter for Eastern Waste Management 
Authority

• Council and Committee Agendas and 
Minutes

• Development Plan and Development 
Plan Amendments

• Fees and Charges

• Information Statement

• Procedure for the Review of Council 
Decisions

• Strategic Management Plan

• Annual Business Plan

• Long Term Financial Plan

• Asset Management Plans

 The following is available to view on 
request:

• Electoral Roll

 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 PAGE 47 



PAGE 48 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 



Certification of Financial Statements 50
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Note 3 Expenses 59
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CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016/17

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

INCOME

Rates 2  50,973  49,365 

Statutory charges 2  1,832  1,830 

User charges 2  569  539 

Grants, subsidies and contributions 2  5,930  4,485 

Investment income 2  204  297 

Reimbursements 2  216  195 

Other income 2  773  633 

Net gain - equity accounted Council businesses 18  42  39 

Total Income  60,539  57,383 

EXPENSES

Employee costs 3  (22,356)  (21,907)

Materials, contracts and other expenses 3  (20,229)  (19,763)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 3  (13,001)  (13,091)

Finance costs 3  (390)  (450)

Total Expenses  (55,976)  (55,211)

OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)  4,563  2,172 

Asset disposal and fair value adjustments 4  (2,456)  (1,819)

Amounts received specifically for new or upgraded assets 2  165  861 

Physical resources received free of charge 2  1,166  779 

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) transferred to Equity Statement  3,438  1,993 

Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to operating result

Changes in revaluation surplus 
 - infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

9  -  21,561 

Share of other comprehensive income 
 - equity accounted Council businesses

9, 18  4,412  - 

Total Other Comprehensive Income  4,412  21,561 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  7,850  23,554 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.
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AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5  7,924  7,786 

Trade and other receivables 5  4,359  4,029 

Inventories 5  40  54 

Total Current Assets  12,323  11,869 

Non-current Assets

Equity accounted investments in Council businesses 6  15,516  11,062 

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 7  551,153  549,010 

Other non-current assets 6  5,005  2,928 

Total Non-current Assets  571,674  563,000 

Total Assets  583,997  574,869 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 8  (7,384)  (5,585)

Borrowings 8  (963)  (983)

Provisions 8  (3,863)  (3,693)

Total Current Liabilities  (12,210)  (10,261)

Non-current Liabilities

Borrowings 8  (4,231)  (5,131)

Provisions 8  (1,615)  (1,386)

Total Non-current Liabilities  (5,846)  (6,517)

Total Liabilities  (18,056)  (16,778)

NET ASSETS  565,941  558,091 

EQUITY

Accumulated Surplus  333,462  330,035 

Asset Revaluation Reserves 9  232,468  228,056 

Other Reserves 9  11  - 

TOTAL EQUITY  565,941  558,091 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

PAGE 52 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Accumulated 
Surplus

Asset  
Revaluation 

Reserve
Other  

Reserves
TOTAL  

EQUITY

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2017

Balance at end of previous reporting period  330,035  228,056  -  558,091 

Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  3,438  -  -  3,438 

Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in revaluation surplus - infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  -  -  -  - 

Share of other comprehensive income - equity accounted Council businesses  -  4,412  -  4,412 

Transfers between reserves 9  (11)  -  11  - 

Balance at end of period  333,462  232,468  11  565,941 

2016

Balance at end of previous reporting period  328,042  206,495  -  534,537 

Net Surplus / (Deficit) for Year  1,993  -  -  1,993 

Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in revaluation surplus - infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  -  21,561  -  21,561 

Share of other comprehensive income - equity accounted Council businesses  -  -  -  - 

Transfers between reserves 9  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of period  330,035  228,056  -  558,091 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Rates - general and other  50,704  48,719 

Fees and other charges  1,907  1,456 

User charges  565  608 

Investment receipts  563  504 

Grants utilised for operating purposes  5,930  4,396 

Reimbursements  1,901  1,785 

Other revenues  414  454 

Payments

Employee costs  (21,953)  (21,991)

Materials, contracts and other expenses  (20,205)  (20,469)

Finance payments  (390)  (450)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities 11  19,436  15,012 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Amounts specifically for new or upgraded assets  165  861 

Sale of replaced assets  713  685 

Sale of surplus assets  -  61 

Payments

Investment in Joint Venture Activities  (32)  - 

Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets  (18,000)  (14,904)

Expenditure on new/upgraded assets  (1,224)  (3,412)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities  (18,378)  (16,709)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Repayments of borrowings  (920)  (908)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities  (920)  (908)

Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held  138  (2,605)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 11  7,786  10,391 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 11  7,924  7,786 

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.
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CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016/17

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
report are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all 
the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

1 Basis of Preparation

1.1 Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards as they apply to 
not-for-profit entities, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board, Interpretations and relevant 
South Australian legislation.

The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under 
Regulation 14 of the Local Government (Financial Management) 
Regulations 2011. 

1.2 Historical Cost Convention

Except as stated below, these financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates, and requires management to exercise its 
judgement in applying Council's accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of 
these notes.

1.4 Rounding

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

2 The Local Government Reporting Entity

 City of Mitcham is incorporated under the South Australian Local 
Government Act 1999 and has its principal place of business at 131 Belair 
Road, Torrens Park SA 5062. 

These Annual Financial Statements include the consolidated fund and 
all entities through which Council controls resources to carry on its 
functions. In the process of reporting on the Council as a single unit, all 
transactions and balances between activity areas and controlled entities 
have been eliminated.

3 Income recognition

All income is stated net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST). 

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable. Income is recognised when Council obtains control over the 
assets comprising the income, or when the amount due constitutes an 
enforceable debt, whichever first occurs. 

Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the 
commencement of the rating period, or earlier, upon receipt of the rates. 

Interest income is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account 
the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.

Where grants, contributions and donations recognised as incomes 
during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they 
are expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, 
and those conditions were un-discharged as at the reporting date, the 
amounts subject to those un-discharged conditions are disclosed in 
these notes. Also disclosed is the amount of grants, contributions and 
receivables recognised as incomes in a previous reporting period, which 
were obtained in respect of the Council's operations for the current 
reporting period. Control over granted assets is normally obtained upon· 
their receipt. The timing of control commencement depends on the 
arrangement between the granter and the Council. 

In recent years the payment of untied financial assistance grants has 
varied from the annual allocation as shown in the table below:

Cash Payment 
Received

Annual 
Allocation Difference

2014/15 $3,197,214 $2,083,074 + $1,114,140

2015/16  $976,563 $2,072,997 - $1,096,434

2016/17 $3,118,152 $2,057,825 + $1,060,327

Because these grants are untied, the Australian Accounting Standards 
require that payments be recognized upon receipt. Accordingly, the 
operating results of these periods have been distorted compared to 
those that would have been reported had the grants been paid in the 
year to which they were allocated. 

The Operating Surplus Ratio disclosed in Note 15 has also been 
calculated after adjusting for the distortions resulting from the 
differences between the actual grants received and the grants 
entitlement allocated.

4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments

Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at 
Council's option with an insignificant risk of changes in value with a 
maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Receivables for rates and annual charges are secured over the subject 
land, and bear interest at rates determined in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1999. Other receivables are generally unsecured and do 
not bear interest. 

All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate 
allowance is made for amounts where their receipt is considered 
doubtful. 

All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of 
recognition. A detailed statement of the accounting policies applied to 
financial instruments forms part of Note 13.

5 Inventories

Inventories held in respect of stores have been valued by using the 
weighted average cost on a continual basis, after adjustment for loss of 
service potential. 
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
6 Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment

6.1 Land Under Roads

Council, at its meeting of 24 June 2008, elected not to recognise land 
under roads in accordance with the deferral arrangements available 
under AASB 1045 which expired on 30 June 2008. From 1 July 2008, 
Council has elected not to recognise any values for land under roads 
acquired before the commencement of AASB 1051 Land Under Roads.

6.2 Initial Recognition

All assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no 
cost or for nominal consideration, cost is determined as fair value at 
the date of acquisition. 

All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as 
the expenditure is incurred and depreciated as soon as the asset 
is held "ready for use". Cost is determined as the fair value of the 
assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, 
including architects' fees and engineering design fees and all other 
costs incurred. The cost of non-current assets constructed by the 
Council includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct 
labour on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and 
fixed overhead. 

Capital works still in progress at balance date are recognised as 
other non-current assets and transferred to infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

6.3 Materiality

Assets with an economic life in excess of one year are only 
capitalised where the cost of acquisition exceeds materiality 
thresholds established by Council for each type of asset. In 
determining (and in annually reviewing) such thresholds, regard 
is had to the nature of the asset and its estimated service life. 
Examples of capitalisation thresholds applied during the year are 
given in Note 7.

6.4 Subsequent Recognition

All material asset classes are revalued on a regular basis such that 
the carrying values are not materially different from fair value. For 
infrastructure and other asset classes where no active market exists, 
fair value is determined to be the current replacement cost of an 
asset less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation calculated 
on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired 
future economic benefits of the asset. Further detail of existing 
valuations, methods and valuers are provided at Note 7.

6.5 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets

Other than land, all infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
assets recognised are systematically depreciated over their useful 
lives on a straight line basis which, in the opinion of Council, best 
reflects the consumption of the service potential embodied in 
those assets. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of classes of 
assets are reviewed annually. 

Major depreciation periods for each class of asset are shown in 
Note 7. Depreciation periods for infrastructure assets have been 
estimated based on the best information available to Council, but 
appropriate records covering the entire life cycle of these assets 
are not available, and extreme care should be used in interpreting 
financial information based on these estimates.

6.6 Impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to 
depreciation and are reviewed annually for impairment. Assets that 
are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount (which is the higher of the present value of 
future cash outflows or value in use). 

For assets whose future economic benefits are not dependent on 
the ability to generate cash flows, and where the future economic 

benefits would be replaced if Council were deprived thereof, the 
value in use is the depreciated replacement cost. In assessing 
impairment for these assets, a rebuttable assumption is made 
that the current replacement cost exceeds the original cost of 
acquisition.

Where an asset that has been revalued is subsequently impaired, 
the impairment is first offset against such amount as stands to the 
credit of that class of assets in Asset Revaluation Reserve, any excess 
being recognised as an expense. 

6.7 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are currently not included in the cost of constructing 
fixed assets.

7 Payables

7.1 Goods and Services

Creditors represent amounts due to external parties for the supply of 
goods and services and are recognised as liabilities when the goods 
and services are received. Creditors are normally paid 30 days after 
the month of invoice. No interest is payable on these amounts.

7.2 Payments Received in Advance and Deposits

Amounts (other than grants) received from external parties in 
advance of service delivery, and security deposits held against 
possible damage to Council assets, are recognised as liabilities 
until· the service is delivered or damage reinstated, or the amount is 
refunded as the case may be.

8 Borrowings

Loans are carried at their principal amounts which represent the present 
value of future cash flows associated with servicing the debt. Interest 
is accrued over the period to which it relates, and is recorded as part of 
"Payables". 

9 Employee Benefits

9.1 Salaries, Wages and Compensated Absences

Liabilities for employees' entitlements to salaries, wages and 
compensated absences expected to be paid or settled within 
12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal amounts 
(including payroll based on-costs) measured in accordance with 
AASB 119. 

Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or 
settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based on-costs) 
to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date. Present values are calculated using government 
guaranteed securities rates with similar maturity terms.

Weighted average discount rate 2.39% (2016, 1.75%)

Weighted average settlement period 7 years (2016, 7 years)

Annual Leave

A liability for annual leave is recognised, and is measured as the 
amount unpaid at the reporting date at current pay rates in respect 
of employees' service up to date.

Long Service Leave

A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured 
having regard to the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in respect of service by employees up to the reporting 
date. The accrual is assessed having regard to the estimated future 
cash outflows discounted by an appropriate interest rate and other 
factors, including the experience of employee departures and their 
periods of service.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)
Sick Leave

An accrual is made for payment of sick leave recognised for 
employees covered by the AWU Enterprise Bargaining Agreement. 
No accrual is made for sick leave for employees covered by the MOA 
Award as Council experience indicates that, on average, sick leave 
taken in each reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing 
in that period, and this experience is expected to recur in future 
reporting periods. Council does not make payment for untaken 
sick leave. 

9.2 Superannuation

Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect 
of its employees to the Local Government Superannuation Scheme. 
The Scheme has two types of membership, each of which is funded 
differently. No changes in accounting policy have occurred during 
either the current or previous reporting periods. Details of the 
accounting policies, contribution rates applied and· Council's 
involvement with the Scheme is reported in Note 17.

10 Construction Contracts

Construction works undertaken by Council for third parties are generally 
on an agency basis where the third party reimburses Council for actual 
costs incurred, and usually do not extend beyond the reporting period. 
As there is no profit component, such works are treated as 100% 
completed. Reimbursements not received are recognised as receivables 
and reimbursements received in advance are recognised as "payments 
received in advance". 

11 Leases

Lease arrangements have been accounted for in accordance with 
AASB 117. 

In respect of finance leases, where Council substantially carries 
the entire risks incident to ownership, the leased items are initially 
recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. The assets are disclosed within the 
appropriate asset class, and are amortised to expense over the period 
during which the Council is expected to benefit from the use of the 
leased assets. Lease payments are allocated between interest expense 
and reduction of the lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit 
in the lease. City of Mitcham does not hold any finance leases as at 
30 June 2017. 

In respect of operating leases, where the lessor substantially retains all 
of the risks and benefits incident to ownership of the leased items, lease 
payments are charged to expense over the lease term.

12 Joint Ventures and Associated Entities

Council has a 50% share in the regional subsidiary, Centennial Park 
Cemetery Authority, and a 16.7% share in the regional subsidiary, Eastern 
Waste Management Authority. Council's share in these Authorities has 
been recognised in the Financial Statements by including its share of 
the net assets within the Balance Sheet. The change in equity share, 
excluding the asset revaluation, is disclosed in the Income Statement. 
These regional subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with 
AASB 128 and set out in detail in Note 18. 

As a result of changes made to the Charter of the Centennial Park 
Cemetery Authority in August 2011, all distributions paid by the 
Authority to Council are recorded as revenue in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Distributions paid by the Authority to Council 
are regarded as payments for guaranteeing the liabilities of the 
Authority and accordingly are treated as an expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income of the Authority. 

Council also participates in cooperative arrangements with other 
councils for the provision of services and facilities.

13 Goods and Services Tax (GST)

In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 "Accounting for the Goods and 
Services Tax":

• Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable. 

• Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating 
expenditures exclude GST receivable and payable.

• Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any 
recoupment.

• Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a 
gross basis.

Where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office (ATO) the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense of the item. 

14 Financial Instruments

Recognition 

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost on trade date, 
which includes transaction costs, when the related contractual rights or 
obligations exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are 
measured as set out below. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value  
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short-term or if so designated by management. 
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of these assets are included in the income 
statement in the period in which they arise. 

Loans and Receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are 
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Held-to-Maturity Investments 

These investments have fixed maturities, and it is Council's intention to 
hold these investments to maturity. Any held-to-maturity investments 
held by Council are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. 

Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets include any financial assets not 
included in the above categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are 
reflected at fair value. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes 
in fair value are taken directly to equity. 

Financial Liabilities 

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, 
'Comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisation. 

Impairment 

At each reporting date, the Council assesses whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of 
available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the 
value of the instrument is considered.

15 New Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations

Certain new (or amended) accounting standards and interpretations 
have been published that are not mandatory for reporting period ending 
30 June 2017. Council has not adopted any of these standards early.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 2 - INCOME NOTE 2 - INCOME (CONT)
2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

RATES REVENUES

General Rates  50,263  48,792 

Less: Mandatory rebates  (741)  (734)

Less: Discretionary rebates, remissions and write offs  (211)  (248)

 49,311  47,810 

Other Rates (including service charges)

Natural Resource Management levy  1,471  1,390 

 1,471  1,390 

Other Charges

Penalties for late payment  189  162 

Legal and other costs recovered  2  3 

 191  165 

 50,973  49,365 

STATUTORY CHARGES

Development Act fees  249  303 

Town planning fees  290  303 

Animal registration fees and fines  668  591 

Parking fines / expiation fees  506  523 

Property and rate searches  115  108 

Sundry  4  2 

 1,832  1,830 

USER CHARGES

Cemetery  14  19 

Reserve Hire Fees  120  95 

Telecommunication Towers  76  44 

Hall and equipment hire  149  149 

Council Houses  87  108 

Sales - general  31  23 

Sundry  92  101 

 569  539 

INVESTMENT INCOME

Interest on investments

Local Government Finance Authority  153  255 

Banks and other  51  42 

 204  297 

REIMBURSEMENTS

 - for private works  63  60 

 - other  153  135 

 216  195 

OTHER INCOME

Contributions from subsidiaries  359  207 

Sundry  414  426 

 773  633 

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

GRANTS, SUBSIDIES, CONTRIBUTIONS

Amounts received specifically for new or 
upgraded assets

 165  861 

Individually Significant Item see below

 - additional Grants Commission Payment  1,060  - 

 - supplementary Roads 2 Recovery Grant 
Payment

 324  542 

 - supplementary Fuel Excise  -  464 

Other grants, subsidies and contributions  4,546  3,479 

 6,095  5,346 

The functions to which these grants relate are shown in Note 12.

Sources of grants

Commonwealth government  894  2,955 

State government  4,986  2,131 

Other  215  260 

 6,095  5,346 

Individually Significant Item  1,384  1,006 

In 2016/17, additional Road to Recovery funding of $864,908 was received. 
The Roads to Recovery Supplementary Grant of $324,908 has been included 
as an Individually Significant Item above. 

In June 2017 an amount of $1,060,327 was received from the SA Local 
Government Grants Commission as an advance payment in respect to 
Council's 2017/18 Commonwealth Financial Assistance Grant (FAG) 
(no advance payment was been made in 2015/16 for the 2016/17 
financial year).

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

PHYSICAL RESOURCES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE

Infrastructure 1,166 779

TOTAL PHYSICAL RESOURCES RECEIVED 1,166 779
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 3 - EXPENSES NOTE 3 - EXPENSES (CONT)
2017 2016

Notes  $'000  $'000 

EMPLOYEE COSTS

Salaries and Wages  (17,818)  (17,400)

Employee leave expense  (2,838)  (2,899)

Superannuation - defined contribution plan 
contributions

17  (1,456)  (1,341)

Superannuation - defined benefit plan 
contributions

17  (432)  (486)

Workers' Compensation Insurance  (595)  (627)

Less: Capitalised and distributed costs  783  846 

Total Operating Employee Costs  (22,356)  (21,907)

Total Number of Employees  256  256 

(Full time equivalent at end of reporting 
period)

MATERIALS, CONTRACTS AND OTHER EXPENSES

Prescribed Expenses

Auditor's Remuneration

 - Auditing the financial reports  (35)  (34)

 - Other Services  -  - 

Audit Committee Sitting Fees  (6)  (6)

Development Assessment Panel Sitting Fees  (26)  (24)

Elected members' expenses  (332)  (327)

Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses  (399)  (391)

Other Materials, Contracts and Expenses

Contractors  (11,081)  (10,325)

Energy  (1,714)  (1,725)

Water and Sewer  (405)  (577)

Maintenance  (755)  (1,069)

Insurance  (412)  (416)

Library Purchases  (488)  (423)

Bank and Financial Fees  (157)  (170)

Advertising and Publications  (169)  (171)

Telephone and Communication  (140)  (135)

Postage and Courier  (165)  (162)

Legal Expenses  (290)  (349)

Fringe Benefits Tax  (201)  (265)

Levies paid to government

 - NRM levy  (1,469)  (1,389)

Licence Fees  (583)  (462)

Parts, accessories and consumables  (482)  (432)

Subscriptions  (101)  (98)

Professional services  (691)  (622)

Sundry  (527)  (582)

Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts and Expenses  (19,830)  (19,372)

 (20,229)  (19,763)

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Depreciation

Buildings - Level 2  (476)  (663)

Buildings - Level 3  (1,378)  (1,396)

Other Structures - Level 3  (790)  (774)

Infrastructure - Level 3  (8,893)  (8,841)

Plant and Equipment  (880)  (931)

Furniture and Fittings  (584)  (486)

 (13,001)  (13,091)

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on Loans  (390)  (450)

 (390)  (450)
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NOTE 4 – ASSET DISPOSAL AND 
FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Assets renewed or directly replaced

Proceeds from disposal 713  746 

Less: Carrying amount of assets sold  (3,169)  (2,565)

Gain (Loss) on disposal  (2,456)  (1,819)

NET GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OR 
REVALUATION OF ASSETS  (2,456)  (1,819)

NOTE 5 – CURRENT ASSETS
2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT ASSETS

Cash on Hand and at Bank  2,147  317 

Deposits at Call  5,777  7,469 

 7,924  7,786 

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Rates - General and Other  2,098  1,828 

Accrued Revenues  1  - 

Debtors - general  1,122  1,006 

GST Recoupment  702  547 

Prepayments  436  648 

 4,359  4,029 

INVENTORIES

Stores and Materials  40  54 

40  54 

NOTE 6 – NON-CURRENT ASSETS
2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS IN COUNCIL BUSINESSES

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority 18  15,414  11,037 

Eastern Waste Management Authority 18  102  25 

 15,516  11,062 

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Capital Works-in-Progress 5,005 2,928

5,005 2,928
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NOTE 7 – INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2016 2017

$'000 $'000

AT FAIR  
VALUE

AT  
COST

ACCUM  
DEP'N

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

AT FAIR 
VALUE

AT  
COST

ACCUM  
DEP'N

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

Land - Level 3  178,903  27  -  178,930  178,903  405  -  179,308 

Buildings - Level 2  8,692  1,915  (1,135)  9,472  8,301  2,372  (1,252)  9,421 

Buildings - Level 3  58,427  565  (37,283)  21,709  57,902  1,144  (38,158)  20,888 

Other Structures - Level 3  25,669  1,270  (13,406)  13,533  25,256  2,641  (14,026)  13,871 

Infrastructure - Level 3  637,262  13,429  (332,549)  318,142  627,431  26,384  (333,751)  320,064 

Plant and Equipment  -  9,040  (3,357)  5,683  -  9,204  (2,903)  6,301 

Furniture and Fittings  -  4,830  (3,289)  1,541  -  5,173  (3,873)  1,300 

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  908,953  31,076  (391,019)  549,010  897,793  47,323  (393,963)  551,153 

Comparatives  862,800  25,997  (364,261)  524,536  908,953  31,076  (391,019)  549,010 

2016 CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENTS DURING YEAR 2017

$'000 $'000 $'000

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

Additions

Disposals Depreciation Transfers
Net 

Revaluation
CARRYING 

AMOUNTNew/Upgrade Renewals

Land - Level 3  178,930  -  378  -  -  -  -  179,308 

Buildings - Level 2  9,472  -  457  (32)  (476)  -  -  9,421 

Buildings - Level 3  21,709  -  579  (22)  (1,378)  -  -  20,888 

Other Structures - Level 3  13,533  -  1,371  (243)  (790)  -  -  13,871 

Infrastructure - Level 3  318,142  1,166  11,789  (2,140)  (8,893)  -  -  320,064 

Plant and Equipment  5,683  -  2,230  (732)  (880)  -  -  6,301 

Furniture and Fittings  1,541  -  343  -  (584)  -  -  1,300 

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE,  
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 549,010  1,166  17,147  (3,169)  (13,001)  -  -  551,153 

Comparatives  524,536  3,458  15,111  (2,565)  (13,091)  -  21,561  549,010 

Valuation of Assets

At 1 July 2004 upon the transition to AIFRS, Council elected pursuant to 
AASB 1.19 to retain a previously established deemed cost under GAAP as its 
deemed cost. With subsequent additions at cost, this remains as the basis of 
recognition of non-material asset classes. 

Land

Council being of the opinion that it is not possible to attribute a value 
sufficiently reliable to qualify for recognition; land under roads has not been 
recognised in these reports. Land acquired for road purposes during the year 
is initially recognised at cost, but transferred to fair value at reporting date, 
effectively writing off the expenditure. 

Freehold land and land over which Council has control, but does not have 
title, is recognised on the replacement cost basis. Council's land assets were 
independently valued by Liquid Pacific as at 30 June 2011. 

A capitalisation threshold of $1,000 is applied to the acquisition of land. 

The introduction of AASB13 Fair Value Measurement has had no impact on 
this class of assets as a revaluation of Land has not been required. 

Level 3 classified Land assets relate to properties where there is an inability 
or restriction on Council to sell this asset on the open market. 

Council has no material value of Land to be classified in other Levels.

Buildings

The asset class of Buildings was revalued by Maloney Field Services, as at 
1 July 2015. 

Buildings have been disclosed as either Fair Value hierarchy Level 2 
valuations or as Fair Value hierarchy Level 3 valuations, in accordance with 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

Building valuations, disclosed as Level 2, are based on prices for similar 
assets in an active market, with directly or indirectly observable adjustments 
for specific advantages or disadvantages attaching to the particular asset. 

For Building valuations, disclosed as Level 3, there is no known market for 
these assets and they are valued at depreciated current replacement cost. 
This method involves:

- The determination of the cost to construct the asset (or its modern 
engineering equivalent) using current prices for materials and labour, 
the quantities of each being estimated based on recent experience of 
this or similar Councils, or on industry construction guides where these 
are more appropriate.

- The calculation of the depreciation that would have accumulated since 
original construction using current estimates of residual value and useful 
life under the straight line depreciation method adopted by Council.

This method has significant inherent uncertainties, relaying on estimates of 
quantities of materials and labour, residual values and useful live. and the
possibility of changes in prices for materials and labour, and the potential for 
development of more efficient construction techniques. 

Assets acquired since last valuation have been valued at cost. 

In accordance with AASB13 Fair Value Measurement, 21 Buildings have been 
categorised as Level 2 assets.
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Other Structures

Other structures were comprehensively reviewed and revalued by council 
staff, at written down current replacement cost as at 1 July 2015. This is the 
first time a comprehensive data collection and valuation exercise has been 
undertaken by council staff as previously this exercise was undertaken by 
external valuers. 

This review comprised a process where the assets were categorized into 
a more detailed component level than previously held. This process also 
identified some assets that were not previously listed on council asset 
registers as well as some assets that would be more appropriately held on 
council's infrastructure asset registers. The net revaluation amount of $1.906 
million in 2015/16 includes some assets that were previously not recorded. 

Carpark assets with a net value of $923,000 were transferred out of the Other 
Structures asset class into the Infrastructure asset class, prior to the 2015/16 
revaluation. 

The rates and useful lives used by council staff, for Other Structures, were 
externally validated by Asset Engineering (Steve Walker B Eng. (Civil)). 

All other assets acquired since last valuation have been valued at cost. 

Infrastructure assets received free of charge are valued at Developer's costs. 

In accordance with AASB13 Fair Value Measurement, this class of assets has 
been disclosed as Level 3.

Infrastructure

Infrastructure assets were valued by Council officers at written down 
current replacement cost as at 1 July 2015. This revaluation was based on 
a combination of Rawlinson's' index adjusted for effects of actual costs 
incurred during the reporting period ended 30 June 2015. 

The rates and useful lives used by council staff were externally validated by 
Asset Engineering (Steve Walker B Eng. (Civil)). 

All acquisitions made after the respective date of valuation are recorded 
at cost. 

Infrastructure assets received free of charge are valued at Developer's costs.

Plant and Equipment

These assets are recognised on the cost basis.

Furniture and Fittings

These assets are recognised on the cost basis.

Capitalisation Thresholds

Capitalisation thresholds used by Council for a representative range of assets 
are shown below.

Office Furniture and Equipment $1,000

Other Plant and Equipment $1,000

Buildings - New Construction / Extensions $5,000

Park and Playground Furniture and Equipment $1,000

Road Construction and Reconstruction $5,000

Paving and Footpaths, Kerb and Gutter $1,000

Drains and Culverts $5,000

Reticulation Extensions $5,000

Estimated Useful Lives

Useful lives are estimated for each individual asset. In estimating useful 
lives, regard is had to technical and commercial obsolescence, as well as 
legal and other limitations on continued use. The range of useful lives for a 
representative range of assets is shown below, although individual assets 
may have an estimated total useful life of greater or lesser amount:

Plant, Furniture and Equipment

Office Equipment  5 to 10 years

Office Furniture  3 to 10 years

Vehicles and Road-making Equipment  2 to 8 years

Other Plant and Equipment  5 to 15 years

Building and Other Structures

Buildings – Structures 40 to 80 years

Buildings – Roofing 40 years

Buildings – Fit Outs 25 to 45 years

Buildings – Services 40 to 60 years

Park Structures – Masonry 40 to 80 years

Park Structures – Other Construction 25 to 60 years

Playground Equipment 25 to 60 years

Benches, Seats, etc 25 to 40 years

Infrastructure

Sealed Roads – Surface – Spray Seal 14 years

Sealed Roads – Surface – Dense Graded Asphalt 20 to 25 years

Sealed Roads – Surface – Dense Graded Asphalt  
(with seal preservation treatment) 25 to 42 years

Sealed Roads – Surface – Concrete Block Paving 40 years

Sealed Roads – Surface – Concrete 50 years

Sealed Roads – Pavements – Base 60 to 80 years

Sealed Roads – Pavements – Sub-base 120 to 160 years

Unsealed Roads 10 years

Bridges – Vehicular 50 to 200 years

Bridges – Pedestrian 35 to 200 years

Footpaths 10 to 50 years

Kerbing and Gutters 30 to 80 years

Drains and Culverts 100 years

Bus Shelters 30 years

Estimated Residual Values 

Residual values are estimated for each individual asset. A residual value of 
an asset is the estimated amount that would currently be obtained from 
disposal of an asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the 
asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end 
of its useful life. The disposal is to another party. The estimated amount 
represents a cash component, as in the case of Plant and Equipment. The 
range of residual values for a representative range of assets is shown below, 
although individual assets may have an estimated residual value of a greater 
or lesser amount:

Plant and Equipment

Minor Plant  0% to 76% of cost basis

Major Plant 16% to 27% of cost basis

Investment property

As at 30 June 2017, Council did not hold any Investment Property.

NOTE 7 – INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT)
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NOTE 8 – LIABILITIES
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Notes Current Non-current Current Non-current

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Goods and Services  (5,609)  -  (3,978)  - 

Payments received in advance  (637)  -  (444)  - 

Accrued expenses - employee entitlements  (19)  -  (15)  - 

Accrued expenses - other  (1,057)  -  (1,053)  - 

Deposits, Retentions and Bonds  (13)  -  (17)  - 

Other payables  (49)  -  (78)  - 

 (7,384)  -  (5,585)  - 

BORROWINGS

Loans payable  (963)  (4,231)  (983)  (5,131)

 (963)  (4,231)  (983)  (5,131)

All interest bearing liabilities are secured over the future revenues of the Council.

PROVISIONS

Annual Leave provision (including oncosts)  (1,569)  (1,017)  (1,395)  (845)

Long Service Leave provision (including oncosts)  (2,291)  (551)  (2,294)  (482)

Vested Sick Leave provision (including oncosts)  (3)  (47)  (4)  (59)

 (3,863)  (1,615)  (3,693)  (1,386)

NOTE 9 – RESERVES

30 June 2016
Net Increments/ 

(Decrements)
Transfers, 

Impairments 30 June 2017

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE

Land  106,524  -  -  106,524 

Buildings  18,977  -  -  18,977 

Other Structures  1,906  -  -  1,906 

Infrastructure  93,447  -  -  93,447 

Share of Centennial Park Cemetery Authority Asset Revaluation 
Reserve

 7,202  4,412  -  11,614 

TOTAL  228,056  4,412  -  232,468 

Prior year comparatives  206,495  21,561  -  228,056 

30 June 2016
(Transfers to 

Reserve)
Transfers from 

Reserve 30 June 2017

OTHER RESERVES

Other Reserve  -  -  11  11 

TOTAL OTHER RESERVES  -  -  11  11 

Prior year comparatives  -  -  -  - 

PURPOSES OF RESERVES
Asset Revaluation Reserve 

The Asset Revaluation Reserve is used to record increments and decrements arising from changes in fair value of non-current assets (less any subsequent 
impairment losses, where applicable). 

Other Reserve 

A reserve has been recognised in regards to a bequest from the Mitcham Memorial Committee for the maintenance, improvement, extension/enhancement of 
the Mitcham War Memorial.
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NOTE 10 – ASSETS SUBJECT TO 
RESTRICTIONS
The nature of some of the City of Mitcham's assets, and in particular 
Centennial Park, is such that they have restricted use because of legal 
restrictions, heritage requirements or community expectations. The assets 
are required to be utilised for the purposes for which control was transferred 
to Council, or for which the revenues were originally obtained.

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

CASH AND FINANCIAL ASSETS

Unexpended amounts received from Federal Government

Community Infrastructure  353  - 

Trails  166  189 

Sturt Creek Linear Park  89  149 

Stormwater Management Plan - Lower Sturt 
catchment

 -  50 

CCTV – Windy Point  -  19 

Traffic Management  28  25 

 636  432 

 

INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority  15,414  11,037 

Eastern Waste Management Authority  102  25 

 15,516  11,062 

TOTAL ASSETS SUBJECT TO  
EXTERNALLY IMPOSED RESTRICTIONS

 16,152  11,494 

NOTE 11 – RECONCILIATION TO 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity 
subject to insignificant risk of changes of value. Cash at the end of the 
reporting period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flow is reconciled to the 
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows;

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

Total cash and cash equivalent assets 5  7,924  7,786 

Balances per Cash Flow Statement  7,924  7,786 

(b) Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets  
to Cash from Operating Activities

 

Net Surplus/(Deficit) 3,438  1,993 

Non-cash items in Income Statement

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  13,001  13,091 

(Increase)/decrease in equity accounted investments  (10)  (39)

Net increase/(decrease) in unpaid employee benefits 399  (75)

Non-cash asset acquisitions  (1,166)  (779)

Grants for capital acquisitions treated as 
Investing Activity

 (165)  (861)

Net (Gain)/Loss on Disposals 2,456  1,819 

 17,953  15,149 

Add/(Less): Changes in Net Current Assets

Net (increase)/decrease in receivables  (330)  (1,372)

Net (increase)/decrease in inventories  14  11 

Net increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  1,799  1,224 

Net Cash provided by/(used in) operations  19,436  15,012 

(c) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

Acquisition of assets by means of:

- Physical resources received free of charge 2  1,166 779

 1,166 779

(d) Financing Arrangements

Unrestricted access was available at balance 
date to the following lines of credit:

Corporate Credit Cards  100 64

LGFA Cash Advance Debenture facility  12,500 5,000 

Council does not have access to a bank overdraft facility. Council does have 
immediate access to a short-term draw-down facility, and variable interest 
rate borrowings under cash advance facilities from the Local Government 
Finance Authority of South Australia.
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NOTE 12 – FUNCTIONS
INCOMES, EXPENSES AND ASSETS HAVE BEEN DIRECTLY ATTRIBUTED TO THE FOLLOWING FUNCTIONS AND ACTIVITIES

INCOME EXPENSES
OPERATING SURPLUS 

(DEFICIT) GRANTS INCLUDED  
IN INCOME

TOTAL ASSETS HELD 
(CURRENT AND  
NON-CURRENT)ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL

201 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Business Undertakings  117  26  (196)  (90)  (79)  (64)  117  20  -  - 

Community Services  1,792  1,526  (8,395)  (5,387)  (6,603)  (3,861)  1,086  1,129  21,846  17,263 

Cultural Services  544  511  (3,787)  (3,466)  (3,243)  (2,955)  489  427  12,206  11,750 

Environment  2,027  1,798  (13,801)  (10,371)  (11,774)  (8,573)  103  110  89,999  89,291 

Recreation  124  110  (3,833)  (3,917)  (3,709)  (3,807)  -  -  188,725  189,451 

Regulatory Services  1,698  1,751  (5,074)  (4,237)  (3,376)  (2,486)  -  -  -  - 

Transport  2,098  2,004  (9,700)  (10,408)  (7,602)  (8,404)  87  1,965  238,169  235,453 

Unclassified Activities  70  173  (1,884)  (2,014)  (1,814)  (1,841)  -  165  18,822  18,360 

Council Administration  52,027  49,445  (9,306)  (15,321)  42,721  34,124  4,048  669  14,230  13,301 

TOTALS  60,497  57,344  (55,976)  (55,211)  4,521  2,133  5,930  4,485  583,997  574,869 

Excludes net gain (loss) on disposal or revaluation of assets, net gain (loss) from joint ventures and associated entities, amounts received specifically for new or 
upgraded assets and physical resources received free of charge. 

The activities relating to Council functions are as follows: 

Community Services 

Public Order and Safety, Crime Prevention, Emergency Services, Other Fire 
Protection, Other Public Order and Safety, Health Services, Pest Control - 
Health, Immunisation, Nursing Homes, Preventive Health Services, Other 
Health Services, Community Support, Elderly Citizens Facilities, Home 
Assistance Scheme, Other Services for the Aged and Disabled, Child Care 
Centres, Children and Youth Services, Community Assistance, Community 
Transport, Family and Neighbourhood Support, Other Community Support, 
Community Amenities, Bus Shelters, Cemeteries, Public Conveniences, 
Car Parking - non-fee-paying, Telecommunications Networks, and Other 
Community Amenities. 

Culture 

Library Services, Mobile Libraries and Housebound Services, Static Libraries, 
Other Library Services, Cultural Services, Cultural Venues, Heritage, Museums 
and Art Galleries, and Other Cultural Services. 

Environment 

Agricultural Services, Agricultural Water, Animal / Plant Boards, Landcare, 
Other Agricultural Services, Waste Management, Domestic Waste, Green 
Waste, Recycling, Transfer Stations, Waste Disposal Facility, Other Waste 
Management, Other Environment, Stormwater and Drainage, Street Cleaning, 
Street Lighting, Streetscaping and Other Environment. 

Recreation 

Parks and Gardens, Sports Facilities - Indoor, Sports Facilities - Outdoor, and 
Other Recreation. 

Regulatory Services 

Dog and Cat Control, Building Control, Town Planning, Clean Air/ Pollution 
Control, Litter Control, Health Inspection, Parking Control, and Other 
Regulatory Services. 

Transport 

Bridges, Bus Service, Footpaths and Kerbing, Roads - sealed, Roads - formed, 
Roads - natural formed, Roads - unformed, Traffic Management, LGGC - Roads 
(formula funded), and Other Transport. 

Unclassified Activities 

Activities such as depot operations net of plant recovery and other 
miscellaneous costs, which are not easily classified in any of the activities, are 
shown in this function. 

Council Administration 

Governance, Administration n.e.c., Elected Members, Organisational, Support 
Services, Accounting / Finance, Payroll, Housing for Council Employees, 
Human Resources, Information Technology, Communication, Rates 
Administration, Records, Occupancy, Contract Management, Customer Service, 
Other Support Services, Revenues, LGGC - General Purpose, Natural Resource 
Management Levy and Separate and Special Rates.
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Bank, Deposits at Call, Short Term Deposits

• Accounting Policy - Carried at lower of cost and net realiseable value; 
interest is recognised when earned.

• Terms and Conditions - At 30 June 2017, deposits at call were returning 
an average floating interest rate of 1.98% (2016: 1.95%).

• Carrying Amount - Approximates fair value due to the short term to 
maturity.

Receivables - Rates and Associated Charges (including legal charges and 
penalties for late payment)

Note: These receivables do not meet the definition of "financial instruments" 
and have been excluded from the following disclosures:

• Accounting Policy - Carried at nominal values less any allowance for 
doubtful debts. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-
assessed annually) when collection in full is no longer probable.

• Terms and Conditions - Secured over the subject land, arrears attract 
interest of 7.00% (2016: 7.25%). Although Council is not materially 
exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk exposure is concentrated 
within Council's boundaries in the State.

• Carrying Amount - Approximates fair value (after deduction of any 
allowance).

Receivables - Fees and Charges

• Accounting Policy - Carried at nominal values less any allowance for 
doubtful debts. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-
assessed annually) when collection in full is no longer probable.

• Terms and Conditions - Unsecured, and do not bear interest. Although 
Council is not materially exposed to any individual debtor, credit risk 
exposure is concentrated within Council's boundaries.

• Carrying Amount - Approximates fair value (after deduction of any 
allowance).

Receivables - Other Levels of Government

• Accounting Policy - Carried at nominal value.

• Terms and Conditions - Amounts due have been calculated in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the respective programs following 
advice of approvals, and do not bear interest. All amounts are due by 
Departments and Agencies of the Governments of the Commonwealth 
and State.

• Carrying Amount - Approximates fair value.

Liabilities - Creditors and Accruals

• Accounting Policy - Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid 
in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed 
to Council.

• Terms and Conditions - Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.

• Carrying Amount - Approximates fair value.

Liabilities - Interest Bearing Borrowings

• Accounting Policy - Carried at the principal amounts . Interest is charged 
as an expense as it accrues.

• Terms and Conditions - Secured over future revenues, borrowings are 
repayable bi-annually; interest is charged at fixed rates between 5.65% 
and 8.27% (2016: 5.65% and 8.27%).

• Carrying Amount - Approximates fair value .

Liquidity Analysis
Due  

< 1 year

Due  
> 1 year;  
< 5 years

Due  
> 5 years

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows

Carrying 
Values

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

 7,924  -  -  7,924  7,924 

Receivables  2,261  -  -  2,261  2,261 

Total  10,185  -  -  10,185  10,185 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  (6,308)  -  -  (6,308)  (6,308)

Current Borrowings  (1,240)  -  -  (1,240)  (963)

Non-Current Borrowings  -  (3,538)  (1,727)  (5,265)  (4,231)

Total  (7,548)  (3,538)  (1,727)  (12,813)  (11,502)

Due  
< 1 year

Due  
> 1 year;  
< 5 years

Due >  
5 years

Total 
Contractual 
Cash Flows

Carrying 
Values

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2016

Financial Assets

Cash and Equivalents  7,786  -  -  7,786  7,786 

Receivables  2,201  -  -  2,201  2,201 

Total  9,987  -  -  9,987  9,987 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  (4,517)  -  -  (4,517)  (4,517)

Current Borrowings  (1,310)  -  -  (1,310)  (983)

Non-Current Borrowings  -  (4,012)  (2,493)  (6,505)  (5,131)

Total  (5,827)  (4,012)  (2,493)  (12,332)  (10,631)

The following interest rates were applicable to Council's borrowings at 
balance date:

 30 June 2017  30 June 2016 

 Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate 
 Carrying 

Value 

 Weighted 
Average 

Interest Rate 
 Carrying 

Value 

 % $'000  % $'000

Payables nil  (6,308) nil  (4,517)

Fixed Interest Rates 6.91%  (5,194) 6.85%  (6,114)

 (11,502)  (10,631)

NOTE 13 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

PAGE 66 CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 



CITY OF MITCHAM ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016/17

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 13 – FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS (CONT)
Net Fair Value

All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial 
instruments. There is no recognised market for the financial assets of 
the Council.

Risk Exposures

Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties 
fail to perform as contracted. The maximum credit risk on financial assets of 
the Council is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts. 
Council investments made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority 
are guaranteed by the SA Government. Other investments are made in line 
with Council's investment policy. Except as detailed in Notes 5 and 6 in 
relation to individual classes of receivables, exposure is concentrated within 
the Council's boundaries and there is no material exposure to any individual 
debtor. 

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as 
a result of changes in market prices. All of Council's financial assets are 
denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any market, and 
hence neither market risk nor currency risk apply. 

Liquidity Risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations with financial liabilities. In accordance with the model Treasury 
Management Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a range of 
maturity dates. Council also has available a standby borrowing facility of 
$2 million that it can access. 

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Council has a balance of both fixed and 
variable interest rate borrowings and investments. Cash flow fluctuations are 
managed holistically in seeking to minimise interest costs over the longer 
term in a risk adverse manner.

NOTE 14 – COMMITMENTS FOR 
EXPENDITURE

2017 2016

Notes $'000 $'000

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not recognised 
in the financial statements as liabilities:

Building  98  - 

Infrastructure  432  351 

Furniture and Fittings  1  - 

Plant and Equipment  1,227  - 

 1,758  351 

These expenditures are payable:

Not later than one year  1,758  351 

Later than one year and not later than 5 years  -  - 

Later than 5 years  -  - 

 1,758  351 

Other Expenditure Commitments

Expenditure committed (excluding inventories) at the reporting date but not 
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Audit Services  35  68 

Waste Management Services  5,343  6,036 

 5,378  6,104 

These expenditures are payable:

Not later than one year  2,594  2,694 

One year - not later than 5 years  2,784  3,410 

Later than 5 years  -  - 

 5,378  6,104 

NOTE 15 – FINANCIAL 
INDICATORS

2017 2016 2015

These Financial Indicators have been calculated in accordance with 
Information Paper 9 - Local Government Financial Indicators prepared as 
part of the LGA Financial Sustainability Program for the Local Government 
Association of South Australia. Detailed methods of calculation are set out in 
the SA Model Statements.

Operating Surplus Ratio

Operating Surplus
7.5% 3.8% 5.6%

Total Operating Revenue

This ratio expresses the operating surplus as a percentage of total 
operating revenue.

Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio 6% 6% 4% 

In recent years the Federal Government has made advance payments prior 
to 30th June from future year allocations of financial assistance grants, as 
explained in Note 1. The Adjusted Operating Surplus Ratio adjusts for the 
resulting distortion in the disclosed operating result for each year.

Net Financial Liabilities Ratio

Net Financial Liabilities
10% 9% 6% 

Total Operating Revenue

Net Financial Liabilities are defined as total liabilities less financial assets. 
These are expressed as a percentage of total operating revenue.

Asset Sustainability Ratio

Net Asset Renewals
85% 74% 72% Infrastructure and Asset Management Plan 

required expenditure

Net asset renewals expenditure is defined as net capital expenditure on 
the renewal and replacement of existing assets, and excludes new capital 
expenditure on the acquisition of additional assets.
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NOTE 16 – UNIFORM 
PRESENTATION OF FINANCES
The following is a high level summary of both operating and capital 
investment activities of the Council prepared on a simplified Uniform 
Presentation Framework basis. 

All Councils in South Australia have agreed to summarise annual budgets and 
long-term financial plans on the same basis. 

The arrangements ensure that all Councils provide a common 'core' of 
financial information, which enables meaningful comparisons of each 
Council's finances.

2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Income  60,539  57,383 

less Expenses  (55,976)  (55,211)

Operating Surplus / (Deficit)  4,563  2,172 

less Net Outlays on Existing Assets

Capital Expenditure on renewal and  
replacement of Existing Assets

 (17,147)  (15,111)

less Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment  13,001  13,091 

less Proceeds from Sale of Replaced Assets  713  685 

 (3,433)  (1,335)

less Net Outlays on New and Upgraded Assets

Capital Expenditure on New and Upgraded Assets  (1,166)  (2,680)

less Amounts received specifically for New and 
Upgraded Assets

 165  861 

 (1,001)  (1,819)

Net Lending / (Borrowing) for Financial Year 129  (982)

NOTE 17 – SUPERANNUATION
The Council makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its 
employees to Statewide Super (formerly Local Government Superannuation 
Scheme). There are two types of membership, each of which is funded 
differently. Permanent and contract employees of the South Australian Local 
Government sector with Salarylink benefits prior to 24 November 2009 have 
the option to contribute to Marketlink and I or Salarylink. All other employees 
(including casuals) have all contributions allocated to Marketlink. 

Marketlink (Accumulation Fund) Members 

Marketlink receives both employer and employee contributions on a 
progressive basis. Employer contributions are based on a fixed percentage 
of employee earnings in accordance with superannuation guarantee 
legislation (9.50% in 2016/17; 9.50% in 2015/16). No further liability accrues 
to the Council as the superannuation benefits accruing to employees are 
represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund. 

Salarylink (Defined Benefit Fund) Members 

Salarylink is a defined benefit scheme where the benefit payable is based on 
a formula determined by the member's contribution rate, number of years 
and level of contribution and final average salary. Council makes employer 
contributions to Salarylink as determined by the Trustee based on advice 
from the appointed Actuary. The rate is currently 6.30% (6.30% in 2015/16) of 
"superannuation" salary. 

In addition, Council makes a separate contribution of 3.00% of salary for 
Salarylink members to their Marketlink account. Employees also make 
member contributions to the Fund. As such, assets accumulate in the Fund to 
meet the member's benefits, as defined in the Trust Deed, as they accrue. 

The Salarylink section is a multi-employer sponsored plan. As the Fund's 
assets and liabilities are pooled and are not allocated by each employer, 
the Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between 
employers. As provided by AASB 119.32(b), Council does not use defined 
benefit accounting for these contributions. 

The most recent actuarial investigation was conducted by the Fund's actuary, 
A C Miller, FIAA, of Russell Employee Benefits Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2014. The 
Trustee has determined that the current funding arrangements are adequate 
for the expected Salarylink liabilities. However, future financial and 
economic circumstances may require changes to Council's contribution rates 
at some future time. 

Contributions to Other Superannuation Schemes 

Council also makes contributions to other superannuation schemes selected 
by employees under the "choice of fund" legislation. All such schemes are of 
the accumulation type, where the superannuation benefits accruing to the 
employee are represented by their share of the net assets of the scheme, and 
no further liability attaches to the Council.
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NOTE 18 – JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATED ENTITIES
All equity accounted Council businesses are required to prepare Annual 
Financial Statements that comply with the SA Local Government Model 
Financial Statements. 

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority 

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority is a regional subsidiary established in 
terms of Sections 42 and 43 of the Local Government Act 1999. It is a regional 
subsidiary of the City of Mitcham and the City of Unley, each holding a 50% 
interest in the net assets. The Council's share of net assets of the Authority 
included in these statements are consistent with the Authority's audited 
financial statements and notes thereto.

2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority

Council's respective interests are:

 - interest in the Operating Result 50.0% 50.0%

 - ownership share of Equity 50.0% 50.0%

 - the proportion of voting power 50.0% 50.0%

Movements in Investment in Joint Operation

 Opening Balance  11,037  10,977 

 Share in Operating Result  132  60 

 Share in Asset Revaluation  4,412  - 

 Equity Adjustment  (167)  - 

 Share in Equity of Joint Operation  15,414  11,037 

Contingent Liabilities

Each member of the operation is jointly and severally 
liable for the debts of the operation

- arising from Council's share of the joint operation  (8,321)  (8,101)

- arising from joint and several liability of all members  (16,642)  (16,201)

The Centennial Park Cemetery Authority has a contingent liability in relation 
to unused licenses in the event the Authority ceases to take any business. The 
Authority must pay an annual liability Guarantee Fee, to each Constituent 
Council, on account of the guarantee. The contingent liability for 2017 is 
$200k (2016: $207k).·

Eastern Waste Management Authority

The Eastern Waste Management Authority regional subsidiary was 
established pursuant to Section 43 of the Local Government Act 1999, 
for the purpose of the collection and disposal of waste within the areas 
of the Constituent Councils and the collection and disposal of waste 
outside the areas of the Constituent Councils. The Authority is a regional 
subsidiary established by; City of Burnside, City of Norwood, Payneham 
and St. Peters, Corporation of the Town of Walkerville, City of Mitcham, City 
of Campbelltown, Adelaide Hills Council. On 29 November 2012 a new 
charter was gazetted which has had the effect of decreasing the City of 
Mitcham's ownership interest from 26.2% to 16.7%. The transactions which 
occur between Council and the Authority are at arm's length and are for the 
provision of waste management services.

2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Eastern Waste Management Authority

Council's respective interests are:

- interest in the Operating Result 16.7% 16.7%

- ownership share of Equity 16.7% 16.7%

- the proportion of voting power 16.7% 16.7%

Movements in Investment in Joint Operation

Opening Balance  25  46 

Share in Operating Result 57  (21)

Equity Contributions 32  - 

Equity Adjustment (12)  - 

Share in Equity of Joint Operation  102  25 

Contingent Liabilities

Each member of the operation is jointly and severally 
liable for the debts of the operation

- arising from Council's share of the joint operation  (1,305)  (1,390)

- arising from joint and several liability of all members  (7,831)  (8,339)
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NOTE 19 – CONTINGENCIES ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT 
RECOGNISED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for recognition in the 
Statement of Financial Position but knowledge of those items is considered 
relevant to the user of the financial report in making and evaluating 
decisions about the allocation of scarce resources.

1. Land Under Roads

As reported elsewhere in these Statements, Council is of the opinion that it is 
not possible to attribute a value sufficiently reliably for these assets to qualify 
for recognition, and accordingly land under roads has not been recognised 
in these reports. Land acquired for road purposes during the year is initially 
recognised at cost, but transferred to fair value at reporting date, effectively 
writing off the expenditure. 
At reporting date, Council controlled 406.2 km of road of average width 7.0 
metres.

2. Potential Insurance Losses

Council is a multi-purpose organisation providing a range of building, parks, 
infrastructure, playgrounds and other facilities accessible to the public. At any 
time it is likely that claims will have been made against Council that remains 
unsettled. Council insures against all known insurable risks using a range of 
insurance policies, each of which is subject to a deductible "insurance excess", 
the amount of which varies according to the class of insurance. Council has 
recognised the potential loss arising from claims known at reporting date 
based on average historical net cost (including insurance excess) of similar 
types of claims. Other potential claims not reported to Council may have 
existed at reporting date.

3. Bank Guarantees

Council has guaranteed certain loans and other banking facilities advanced 
to community organisations and sporting bodies, amounting to $Nil (2016: 
$Nil) at reporting date.

Council does not expect to incur any loss arising from bank guarantees.

4. Legal Expenses

Council is the planning authority for its area under the Development Act 1993 
(as amended). Pursuant to that Act, certain persons aggrieved by a planning 
decision of the Council may appeal. It is normal that parties bear their own 
legal costs. At the date of these reports Council had notice of 5 appeals 
(2016: 5) against planning decisions made prior to the reporting date. All 
known costs have been recognised, but the amount of further costs cannot 
be known until the appeals are determined.

5. Brown Hill Keswick Creek Storm Water Project

The City of Mitcham continues to work collaboratively with the Cities of 
Burnside, Unley and West Torrens and the Corporation of the City of Adelaide 
to develop a catchment based Stormwater Management Plan (SMP) for the 
Brown Hill Keswick Creek catchment. The purpose of the SMP is to mitigate 
and manage flood risk in the Brown Hill and Keswick Creek catchments and 
to achieve storm water reuse where feasible and economical. 

The project councils submitted the SMP 2012 in late 2012 and this SMP was 
subsequently approved and gazetted by the Stormwater Management 
Authority (SMA) in March 2013. Under the approved SMP, Councils proposed 
engineering and other works in Brown Hill (downstream of Anzac Highway) 
and Keswick Creek and its tributaries. These works, referred to a Part A works, 
were endorsed and comprised approximately 80% of the value of the project. 
Determination of the remaining flood mitigation works in Brown Hill Creek 
upstream of Anzac Highway (referred to as Part B works) was to be confirmed 
within one year of gazettal of the SMP 2012 (ie by March 2014). Due to the 
complexity of the proposed engineering solutions and community interest in 
the SMP Part B ("dam or no dam"), the investigations into the proposed Part B 
works took longer to complete than originally planned resulting in a further 
extension of time being granted by the SMA to September 2015. 

The "Brown Hill Keswick Creek SMP Part B Report" was completed in 
September 2014 and subsequently referred for community consultation 
during May and June 2015 after the conclusion of Local Government 
elections. The results of community consultation and the final decision on 
proposed Part B works have been finalised. 

The gazetted SMP 2012 requires that councils establish a regional subsidiary 
primarily to undertake the detail design, construction and maintenance of 
the Part A and B flood mitigation works over a defined project timetable, 

subject to funding commitments from Federal and State Governments. The 
five project Councils reached agreement to approximately 80% of the total 
proposed project works under Part A and continued to fund the investigation 
into a preferred option for "Part B" works. 

The forecast cost of the Brown Hill and Keswick Creeks Stormwater 
Management Plan was estimated to be in the order of $147 million, with 
implementation planned over a 10 year period. It was envisaged no 
construction work would be undertaken until after the investigation of Part B 
works has been completed by the Project and the final preferred concept 
approved by the SMA. 

Based on the estimated cost and cost sharing arrangements approved 
under the Stormwater Management Plan (SMP 2012), the City of Mitcham's 
share of the local government contribution is set at 10%, which equates to 
an indicative cost of between $5.0 million and $7.0 million depending on 
project funding support received. 

During September 2015 all five catchment Councils formally agreed and 
resolved to accept Option D (the no dam option) as the flood mitigation 
solution outlined in the Brown Hill Keswick Creek Stormwater Management 
Plan Part B. The final Stormwater Management Plan which comprises 
an amalgamation of Parts A and B to form the final "Brown Hill Keswick 
Catchment Stormwater Management Plan 2016" was submitted to the SMA 
for approval on 17 March 2016 with a revised estimated cost of $140 million 
and agreement from the catchment Councils to continue work on the 
establishment of a Regional Subsidiary. 

On 27 February 2018 the South Australian Government gazetted the 
establishment of the Brown Hill and Keswick Creeks Stormwater Board, 
a regional subsidiary that City of Mitcham will hold a 20% interest in. It 
is expected that Council will equity account for its share in this regional 
subsidiary in the 2017/18 Annual Financial Statements.

6.  Goodwood Junction Rail Project – Contribution towards costs of 
Brown Hill Creek Diversion

As part of the State Governments rail improvement project and major grade 
separation of rail infrastructure at Goodwood Junction was undertaken in 
2013 and 2014. One of the requirements of the project was to divert Brown 
Hill Creek around the proposed rail infrastructure from approximately Victoria 
Street Goodwood to Forestville Reserve. Although the State Department of 
Planning Transport and Infrastructure funded a major part of the works, the 
Brown Hill Keswick Creek project also agreed to fund up to $5.0 million of 
the total project costs, subject to the SMA confirming that they would meet 
50% of the project council's costs once the works were constructed. On this 
basis, the City of Mitcham is committed to pay 10% of the local government 
contribution of $5.0 million, being $500,000 subject to the SMA reimbursing 
50% of that amount.

The City of Mitcham paid its local government project contribution of 
$250,000 in February 2015. This contribution was included in the operating 
expenses reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. All assets 
associated with this work remain under the care and control of DPTI.
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NOTE 20 – RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Key Management Personnel 

The Key Management Personnel of the Council include the Mayor, 
Councillors, CEO and certain prescribed officers under section 112 of the 
Local Government Act 1999. In all, 25 persons were paid the following total 
compensation: 

2017

$

Salaries, allowances and other short term benefits  2,141,489 

Long term benefits  186,649 

Termination benefits  43,935 

 2,372,073 

Amounts paid as direct reimbursement of expenses incurred on behalf of 
Council have not been included above. 

Council received $Nil from Key Management Personnel other than amounts 
paid as ratepayers or residents (e.g. rates, animal registration, etc.). 

KMP and relatives of KMPs own retail businesses from which various supplies 
were purchased as required either for cash or on ordinary account terms. 
Purchases from none of these individual businesses exceeded $10,000 
during the year. 

Key management personnel or close family members (including related 
parties) lodged a total of Nil planning and building applications during the 
year. In accordance with the Local Government Act 1999, Key Management 
Personnel are required to declare conflicts of interest and take no part in the 
assessment or approval processes for these applications. 

Two elected members are members of the Centennial Park Cemetery 
Authority's Board of Management. 

One elected members is a director of the East Waste Management Authority.

Transactions with Council Regional Subsidiary entities: 

The information presented below represents additional information relating 
to transactions recorded during the financial year with Council's Subsidiary 
entities. The information presented below is in addition to that already 
disclosed in Note 19. Council is an equity owner of each Regional Subsidiary 
disclosed in Note 18 along with other Member Councils. 

Member Councils have equal representation on the Board of which Co1:1ncil 
is a member of the following Subsidiaries:

• Centennial Park Cemetery Authority

• Eastern Waste Management Authority

Member Councils have influence on the financial and strategic operational 
decisions of the Subsidiary given their equal Board member representation. 

No one Member Council individually has control over these decisions. 

The following material transactions occurred with the each Regional 
Subsidiary during the financial year:

Payments 
made to Entity 

during 2016/17 
Financial Year

Outstanding 
Balances Owed 

to the Entity as at 
30 June 2017

$ $

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority  -  - 

Eastern Waste Management Authority  2,424,680  - 

 2,424,680  - 

Amounts recorded above as outstanding are recorded as a liability in Note 8.
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From the 
Chair

After serving on the board since 2011 I am 
privileged and proud to be the new Chair of 
South Australia’s premier provider of cemetery, 
cremation and memorialisation services, 
Centennial Park. I wish to thank Stephen Hains 
for the great leadership he exhibited as Chair for 
five years of this wonderful organisation that truly 
commemorates and celebrates life.

Stephen was the Chair during a period of 
transformation at Centennial Park including the 
development of our Cemetery Master Plan and 
Future Concepts, the introduction of perpetuity, 
appointment of our current CEO, and the 
development of our new Strategic  
Management Plan.

Great thanks are also due to outgoing Board 
members Anthony Lapidge (City of Unley) 
appointed to the Board in 2011 and Lisa Bishop, 
also appointed in 2011, for their valuable 
contribution and we wish them well.

I extend a warm welcome to our new Board 
members, Glenn Spear, Peter Hughes, Andrew 
Kay and Amanda Heyworth. Glenn and Peter 
joined earlier in 2016/17 and we have benefited 
from Glenn’s drive and business acumen and 
Peter’s governance expertise and business 
experience. We look forward to utilising  
Andrew’s extensive business and strategic 

marketing experience, and Amanda’s 
experience in finance, property, 

technology and government,  
as our most recent 

appointees to the board.

On behalf of the Board I extend a thank you to 
CEO, Janet Miller, and the entire Centennial Park 
team for their hard work and the progress in 
securing the long term future of the organisation 
for the benefit of our community and owners.

This year we have continued to transform 
Centennial Park. A Strategic Plan has been 
finalised for the next five years to ensure  
the Park continues to be the pre-eminent  
end-of-life resting place; a place that connects 
people through a rich tapestry of beautiful 
gardens, services, events and histories.  
An Asset Management Plan (2017-2026) was 
also developed to ensure prudent management 
and maintenance of our extensive and complex 
assets, and is underpinned by a long term 
financial forecast. The implementation of these 
plans has commenced.

We crystalised our Vision, Mission and Values to 
guide the organisation into the future and frame 
future decision-making.

A restructure of the organisation was undertaken 
to enable more effective and efficient definition 
of roles and reporting responsibilities.

The operating result, a net surplus of $265,000 
after payment of fees to our owner councils, 
Mitcham and Unley, of $400,000, represents 
a very solid result from managing costs well 
whilst meeting our customers’ needs. Fees are 
paid to the councils in recognition of the value 
of the guarantee they provide in the unlikely 
event that Centennial Park Cemetery Authority 
(CPCA) is unable to meet ongoing operating and 
maintenance costs.

2



A number of key projects, to further enhance 
visitor experience and services at Centennial Park, 
were undertaken in the last year including:

•   The planting of more than 1500 trees and 
shrubs, including 80 street trees, replacing 
trees that were dying and improving the 
amenity of the park in keeping with its  
pre-eminent image;

•   The levelling of 150 pathways around burial 
sites to allow visitors to move more easily 
and safely amongst the memorials and the 
development of landscape beds at road 
intersections within the Park;

•   Completion of the western retaining wall 
which widened Gordon Brown Drive West, 
improved boundary landscaping, and the 
replacement of the mesh boundary fence; 

•   2.5 kilometres of road kerbing was upgraded to 
more functionally efficient, roll-over kerbing;

•   Refurbishment of the slate in the Jubilee 
Complex forecourt to ensure it presents at the 
standard expected of a premium venue;

•   400 lineal metres of brick edging was installed 
in the memorial gardens to clearly define tree 
surrounds and rose beds. The edging is more 
visually appealing as well as providing for easier 
maintenance; and

•   An upgrade of the Jubilee Complex toilets and 
the installation of a new public toilet adjacent 
to Jamestown Avenue, the latter replacing 
an old facility that had reached the end of its 
economic life. 3CENTENNIAL PARK CEMETERY AUTHORITY  |  2016/2017 Annual Report



A full review of technology at Centennial Park 
was undertaken so that we can move forward 
with a plan that will deliver system improvements 
and process efficiencies over the next five years.

We continue to plan for a café to be built on the 
grounds of Centennial Park to further enhance 
the experience for families and others visiting to 
keep the memories of their loved ones alive. We 
will research what our visitors expect from a café 
and adjust the plans and expect to achieve some 
significant progress in the year ahead.

The world continues to change at a rapid 
pace and meeting the changing needs of the 
community in terms of burials, cremations and 
memorials will remain challenging. My intention 
is to work with the Board to enable Janet to 
strengthen an adaptive leadership ethos in 
the management team. This will ensure the 
plans completed during the last year remain 
relevant and priorities are adjusted to meet 
developing market conditions and community 
expectations. I will particularly seek to ensure we 
remain commercially focused so we can meet 
community needs and the expectations of our 
Council owners, the Cities of Mitcham and Unley.
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Geoffrey  
Vogt 
Chair

From the Chair continued...
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From the 
CEO

The last year represented my first full financial 

year in the role as CEO and I am very proud of 

what the Centennial Park team has achieved. 

Every day I witness real examples of our 

values: Compassion, Inclusion, Excellence and 

Innovation - as we go about our roles in helping 

families and visitors to celebrate and remember 

their loved ones in a truly beautiful place.

I’d like to thank previous Chair, Stephen Hains, 

and the entire Board for their support and 

guidance, especially retired Board members 

Anthony Lapidge and Lisa Bishop. I congratulate 

our new Chair, Geoff Vogt, on his appointment 

and welcome new Board members, Peter 

Hughes, Andrew Kay and Amanda Heyworth.  

I look forward to working with them, along 

with the rest of the Board and all the staff as 

we continue to strive to be THE place for the 

community to commemorate those dear to us.

We take seriously our enduring responsibility 

to the thousands of families who have chosen 

Centennial Park as the final resting place for 

their loved ones. We take pride in our obligation 

to maintain the Park to the highest standard for 

generations to come. 

While we are owned by the Cities of Mitcham 

and Unley, we are a self-funding commercial 

enterprise subject to competition and market 

dynamics. Strong financial and commercial 

management of our assets and operations is 

critical to our future success.

We are proud that we delivered a better than 

budgeted result for the 2016-2017 year.

We commenced implementation of our five year 
Strategic Plan (2017-2022), with a focus on four 
strategic priorities to:

•   Maximise our existing assets;

•   Improve communication and engagement 
with our community;

•   Grow through innovation; and

•   Strengthen organizational capacity.

A restructure of roles and responsibilities has 
been undertaken to better align the skills and 
talents of our staff with the strategic priorities.

With changes in legislation, the offering of 
perpetual interment rights as an alternative to 
limited tenure has been received well by our 
community.

A full calendar of events was held across the year, 
increasing visitation to the Park and building a 
stronger connection with the community. These 
events included memorial services around Anzac 
Day, All Souls Day and Remembrance Day, the 
launch of a Fathers Day bean – a unique gift 
of a bean for fathers that grew leaves unfurling 
loving messages, a function for members of our 
Hindu and Sikh communities attended by 
representatives of Federal, State and 
Local Government, Carols in the 
park leading into Christmas 
and a beautiful celebration 
of music throughout 
the Park to celebrate 
Mothers Day.
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Janet 
Miller 
CEO

From the CEO continued...

Our Behind the Scenes tours continued to be 
popular on Saturday mornings (except during 
the cooler months). Limiting numbers for 
these special tours enables attendees to ask 
questions and have a very up close and personal 
experience. The tours, via motorised golf buggies 
take in our beautiful Jubilee Complex which has 
won multiple building and architecture awards, 
a wander through some of our beautiful gardens 
where attendees see some of our 7,900 rose 
bushes, water features and sculptures and a visit 
to the crematorium.

We were featured on Channel Nine’s In the 
Garden with Kym Syrus and in SA Gardens 
magazine – further positioning Centennial Park 
as a destination - encouraging people to visit and 
experience our stunning gardens.

Our e-newsletter subscribers to ParkLife and our 
Facebook followers each grew to 9,000 as we 
continue to add value to our community and to 
listen to their views and ideas through our events, 
products, services and communications.

The wellbeing and safety of our staff and visitors 
continues to be a focus and we received a WHS 
Merit Award from the LGRS for our new grave 
barriers to assist and ensure the safety of our 
staff, funeral directors and mourners.

We are continuously looking for opportunities 
to improve the services we offer to our diverse 
communities and the appointment of a resource 
to directly engage more with various segments 
has been enlightening. During the last year, we 
installed a remote insertion button in our Witness 
of Charge room adjacent the crematorium. 

This enables family members to control the 
insertion process, a ritual that is very important to 
members of the Hindu and Sikh communities.

We remain committed to a café on site at 
Centennial Park to further add to the offerings 
we have available to our visitors. We continue to 
refine the scope for the café to ensure it meets 
the needs of our many stakeholders and hope 
to have more news on this initiative during the 
2017-2018 year.

The team and I look forward to continuing to 
deliver the 2017-2022 Strategic Plan and meeting 
the needs of our communities as they celebrate 
and honour the lives of their loved ones in the 
best possible ways.



Key 
Information

STATE DEATHS

Over the past five years the number of deaths 
recorded in the state has shown a steady 
increase that represents a 3% growth over that 
time.  Familial ties and location continue to be 
determinants of where families choose to honour 
and remember their loved ones.  Centennial 
Park continues to provide a burial or cremation 
service for 33% of all recorded deaths in the state.

BURIALS

There were 818 burials at 
Centennial Park in 2016 

- 2017, representing a 
2% increase on the 
previous year.  

Almost 40% of all recorded metropolitan burials 

for the year took place at Centennial Park.  

Despite the number of deaths increasing by 3% 

over the past five years the level of recorded 

burials within the metropolitan area has shown a 

decline of 3% over the same time period.

The following graph identifies the number of 

burials at Centennial Park over the financial years 

from 2012/2013 until the present.  Over the same 

period there has been an increase in the rate of 

cremations from 68% in 2013 to 72% currently.  

Centennial Park commenced offering interment 

rights in perpetuity following changes to the Burial 

and Cremations Act 2013. Since then, 50 burial 

interment rights have converted to perpetuity.

Our core business activities include the provision of burial & cremation 
services, chapel facilities, memorialisation of loved ones and prudent 
investment of funds held in reserve. Centennial Park continues to be 
financially self-sustainable.
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Since July 2015 many new burial options have 
been offered, including above-ground vaults and 
grander monumentation in Olive Terrace and 
Olive Views, and burials in Martinique Grove, a 
unique garden setting around individual trees.

CREMATIONS

A total of 3,616 cremations were conducted 
at Centennial Park during the financial year.  
Centennial Park’s market share was 37% of state 
cremations up from the prior year.

Over the last five years the proportion of  
no-service cremations has increased from 63% 
of all cremations to 67% in the current year.  
This is a national trend. 9CENTENNIAL PARK CEMETERY AUTHORITY  |  2016/2017 Annual Report
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MEMORIAL INCOME

Income generated in the year was below 
expectations and 2% below the prior year. 
Memorial income represents 29% of the  
reported income for the year.  At least 48 
memorial interment rights have been taken  
out in perpetuity.

A concerted effort continues to be made to 
contact interment right holders to ascertain 
their wishes regarding interment rights (both 
burial and cremation memorials) which results 
in income in excess of $2.133m being received 
for extensions to interment rights, including 

perpetuity. Interment Right extensions 
represent 22% of total income for 

the year.

CHAPEL SERVICES

In the current year a total of 1,469 services were 
performed in the complex, 4% higher than the 
prior year.

INVESTMENT INCOME

The amount of cash and cash equivalents has 
been steadily growing and over the last five 
years our reserves have increased by 8%. Some 
of the reserves have been committed to capital 
improvements to facilities and the grounds over 
the coming years.
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Financial 
Performance

The full financial year’s result is a surplus of 
$264,230 which represents a return on sales 
revenue of 3%. The Liability Guarantee Fee 
paid to the owner Councils was $400,016 and 
represents 14.4% of general operating expenses 
(15.75% in the previous year).

The Future Upkeep Provision has been maintained 
at 2014 – 2015 levels.

Discounting the Liability Guarantee Fee, the result 
for the year would have been $664,246 providing 
a 7% return on sales revenue compared to 6% last 
year. The adjusted operating result reported at this 
time last year was a surplus of $542,560.

There has been a 5% increase in total expenses 
from the prior year. Wages and Salaries remain at 
51% of business expenses.

A summary of the financial performance is 
provided overleaf and a complete set of audited 
Annual Accounts is attached.



SUMMARY FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2017  
$

2016  
$

2015  
$

2014  
$

2013  
$

Total Revenue from ordinary activities  9,695,255    9,151,225    9,307,249    8,753,743    8,552,599   

Future Upkeep Provision Movement  -   -   146,000    -  (85,800) 

Administration Expenses  2,784,376    2,792,677    2,797,529    2,477,331    2,340,868   

Jubilee Complex  1,024,490    922,868    943,809    899,304    857,816   

Cemetery Expenses  1,836,382    1,649,641    1,494,832    1,284,079    1,082,046   

Crematorium Expenses  1,049,470    1,020,825    1,005,941    994,365    896,780   

Garden & Maintenance Expenses  736,362    805,941    904,996    1,391,737    1,459,749   

Memorial Expenses  1,982,394    1,816,677    1,592,275    1,383,541    1,022,383   

Magdalene Tce  17,552    13,247    16,910    14,349    10,084   

TOTAL EXPENSES  9,431,026    9,021,876    8,902,292    8,444,706    7,583,926   

Surplus/(deficit) from ordinary activities  264,230    129,349    404,957    309,037    968,673   

Less Financial Contribution to Constituent Councils  -     -     -     -    

Surplus/(deficit) after distributions  264,230    129,349    404,957    309,037    968,673   

Burial Services Conducted  818  804  810 783  889 

Cremation Services Conducted  3,616  3,430  3,652  3,309  3,374 

Chapel Services Conducted  1,469  1,414  1,447  1,345  1,567 

New Memorial Licences Written  448  521  613 546  502 

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents  10,637,562    9,536,493    10,512,953    10,639,273    9,676,260   

Trade and Other Receivables  506,258    472,237    492,345    552,163    570,725   

Inventories  697,444    759,941    781,144    180,671    198,613   

Other Assets  191,772    465,662    297,438    208,572    277,314   

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  12,033,036    11,234,333    12,083,880    11,580,679    10,722,912   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment  35,436,032    27,039,403  26,399,469    41,294,793  41,855,054   

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  35,436,032    27,039,403    26,399,469    41,294,793    41,855,054   

TOTAL ASSETS  47,469,068    38,273,736  38,483,349    52,875,472    52,577,966   

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and Other Payables  1,827,313   1,391,415 1,712,274 1,043,569 1,050,083

Short Term Provisions  200,386 172,736 201,198 167,142 192,483

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,027,699 1,564,151 1,913,472 1,210,711 1,242,566

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long Term Provisions  14,614,170 14,636,507 14,614,974 14,454,815 14,434,491

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,614,170   14,636,507 14,614,974 14,454,815 14,434,491

TOTAL LIABILITIES  16,641,869    16,200,658  16,528,446   15,665,526  15,677,057   

NET ASSETS  30,827,199    22,073,078    21,954,903    37,209,946    36,900,909   

EQUITY
Contributed Equity  48,702    48,702    48,702    48,702    48,702   

Retained Earnings  7,520,631    7,633,085    7,489,072    7,126,655    6,847,919   

Reserves  23,257,866    14,391,291    14,417,129    30,034,589    30,004,288   

TOTAL EQUITY  30,827,199    22,073,078    21,954,903    37,209,946    36,900,909   

Financial Performance continued...
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GOAL 1 
Maximise Our Existing Assets

Significant Projects

Centennial Park continues to invest in 
infrastructure and its facilities to ensure that the 
Park meets community standards.   
Several significant projects were completed 
during the financial year including:

•   Replacement of 2.2 kms of box kerbing with 
rollover kerbing which provides safer access to 
the cemetery paths. 

•   Installation of a new retaining wall along the 
western fence to prevent water run-off in to 
adjoining properties.

•   Installation of a new public toilet in Sanctuary 
Gardens replacing a toilet block which no 
longer met community expectations.

•   The replacement of all boundary mesh fencing.

•   The refurbishment of the slate in the Jubilee 
Complex forecourt.

•   Installation of solar panels on the 
Administration Building.

•   Upgrade to the amenities in the Jubilee 
Complex, including a brand new disabled-
access toilet.

Some projects commenced during the year will 
be completed in 2017 – 2018, including further 
enhancements to our Cemetery Management 
System, beam replacements, road upgrades, 
IT systems upgrades, final stage of the premium 
burial sections, and memorial gardens and walls 
upgrades. 

Strategic 
Goals

During the year, Centennial Park adopted a new Strategic Plan (2017 – 2022). 
Achievements during 2016 - 2017 relating to each goal are noted below.
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GOAL 2 
Improve communication and 
engagement with our community

We continue to plan and execute events and 
activities that assert Centennial Park as a destination 
– a place to honour life and memories and a place 
to enjoy the stunning gardens and surroundings.

Mother’s and Father’s Day were celebrated with 
music in the park and a give-away of a ‘magic bean’ 
that grew leaves that unfurled messages of love.

As part of our support of the South Australian 
Living Arts Festival (SALA), we hosted the La Vita 
exhibition in our Jubilee Complex. Art in all its 
forms is a way to help us express emotions that 
are hard to put into words and La Vita featured 
some of South Australia’s talented artists’ works 
from a variety of disciplines that facilitated 
moments of contemplation and acted as a 
conduit for conversation and reflection about the 
connections we have with each other and the 
moments that shape our lives. Artists included: Bill 
Botten, Alicia Furler, Sue Michael, Jenni Mumford, 
Clancy Warner and Chris Wake.

Also as part of SALA we sponsored the 
Environment Award won by Tobias Staheli.
Environmental sustainability and the reduction of 
our carbon footprint forms part of our continued 
efforts to be a good corporate citizen.    

In November, events were held for All Souls Day 
and then Remembrance Day which even included 
an Orion flyover! The Christmas Carols event in 
December featured renowned acapella choir In U 
(formerly in Unitate).

Our Rose day in July was very popular. With over 
140 rose varieties and 7900 individual rose bushes 
located within our Park, our picturesque memorial 
gardens in full bloom are a sight to see. Every year 
we propagate new roses for the rejuvenation of 

the gardens and in July we propagated 
and potted additional young roses 

so people could take a piece 
of Centennial Park home 

to their own gardens. 
We also provided a 
handy guide for rose 
care which was also 
popular. 

Centennial Park is proud of its connections with 
the community. Our monthly Behind the Scenes 
Tours continue to showcase our gardens and 
operations to the general public. The interest 
and popularity of these tours and the questions 
received from participants indicate a genuine 
curiosity and care for the Park.

Apart from events at Centennial Park, its 
sponsorship of community events such as the 
Glendi Greek Festival, Campania Club SA and  
Festa Di Montervergine which is the largest 
Catholic celebration of this type in the Southern 
Hemisphere  provide valuable ongoing 
connections with communities. 

The partnership between Centennial Park and 
Zoos SA enables families, friends and colleagues 
to remember loved ones in either a botanical 
environment at Adelaide Zoo or a more open 
range environment at Monarto Zoo.

The Zoo Memorial program shows the innovative 
thinking of two iconic South Australian organisations 
in creating a new memorial offering which combines 
favourite family past times and family heritage.

The creation of a new role of Community 
Engagement Coordinator at Centennial Park has 
enabled even closer links with religious, cultural, 
seniors and other groups to be developed.

During the last year, key achievements in this  
area included:

•   A collaborative communication campaign with 
the Catholic Archbishop of Adelaide;

•   Market research with the Chinese community to 
better understand their specific cultural needs;

•   A cultural appreciation event to acknowledge 
and discuss the significance of cultural diversity 
in funeral services and;

•   Various tours of community groups to 
showcase our facilities and services.

Centennial Park’s engagement with the 
community through its electronic newsletter, 
ParkLife and its Facebook followers continue to 
grow. Each reached 9,000 subscribers/followers 
by the end of the financial year. 

Strategic Goals continued...
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GOAL 3 
Grow through innovation

The past year has seen a significant focus on 
improving and evolving our offerings to families  
to meet the changing community needs. 

Remote activation button 

At Centennial Park we are proud to provide an 
inclusive community space in which all South 
Australians from all cultural backgrounds can 
commemorate their loved ones.  Through 
community consultation we learnt that it was 
important for some cultural groups to have a 
greater level of involvement in the final process  
of cremation.  

We are now able to allow the family members to 
remotely start the cremation process, a process 
that has traditionally been the responsibility of 
the Centennial Park team.  This change required 
extensive modifications to our activation switches 
and electrical works but we believe it is important 
to be sensitive to various cultural traditions.  

Online renewals 

To accommodate the changing needs of the 
community in respect to technology we launched 
an online renewal function at the end of June.   

The online renew option now allows family 
and friends to renewal a loved one’s burial or 
memorial position online at any time and at their 
convenience.  
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GOAL 4 
Strengthen Organisational Capacity

Departmental Business and Action Plans

In developing the Strategic Management 
Plan, a significant area of focus was around 
understanding the views of our entire Centennial 
Park Team.  Team Members were engaged 
at every level of the organisation and were 
encouraged to present their views and ideas about 
the future direction of the Park.  Leaders were 
then required to prepare specific departmental 
business plans, along with a yearly action plan for 
achievable goals that support the objectives of the 
broader plan.

This will ensure our progress in delivering these 
objectives will be continually monitored and 
measured. This will also provide all Team Members 
with a clear link between their contribution and 
the priorities of the Plan.

Employee Opinion Survey

In November 2016, we conducted an Employee 
Opinion Survey in order to understand the views of 
our team in relation to our working environment 
and core values. The survey provided us with both 
positive feedback and areas for improvement. 
Overall, we received a very positive result and the 
information has contributed to the development 
of our Strategic Plan goals and a review of our 
organisational structure.

Organisational Structure and Recruitment

The past year has seen a significant focus on our 
organisational capacity, specifically regarding our 
Team and our ability to deliver the objectives of 
the Strategic Management Plan.

We have made some minor changes to our 
structure throughout the past year to maximise 
our resources and drive future growth.   
We have also made several appointments to 
further enhance our position.

Strategic Goals continued...
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Environmental Performance

Centennial Park continues to be an industry leader 
in the reduction of environmental impact.  Since 
2007-2008 we have completed annual audits 
of our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and 
purchased certified carbon credits to offset those 
we can’t eliminate. The last completed audit was 
for the financial year 2015-2016, with estimated 
net total carbon emission for the year totalling 
1,308.4 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 
(tCO2-e).  While year-on-year emissions increased 
in 2015/16 by 119 tonnes of CO2-e, or an increase 
of 10% over the prior year, in comparison to the 
base year of 2007/08, emissions have decreased 
by -235 tonnes of CO2-e or -16.8% in a like for 
like net comparison.

A comparison of the individual sector 
contributions to gross GHG emissions revealed 
that ”Utilities“ was the largest contributor, 
at 729.3 tCO2-e (55.7% of gross GHG emissions).   
The principal activity contributing to GHG 
emissions in this sector was ”Natural Gas” 
consumption.

Work Health and Safety

In line with a broader culture of care and 
compassion, Centennial Park takes seriously 
its responsibility to provide a safe and healthy 
environment for all staff and visitors. Our goal is to 
eliminate, where possible, the risk of accident or 
incident, customer complaints, and work-related 
injuries.

The WHS Committee adopted a new Work Heath 
Safety & Injury Management (WHS&IM) Plan 
2015-2017, in August 2015.  The plan identified 3 
key WHS programs and associated actions, all of 
which were completed by June 2017.
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Centennial Park recognises the importance of 
ongoing training, both internal and external.  
The e3Learning platform continues to be a key 
tool in developing and implementing our internal 
training programs.

Appropriate resources are set aside in order to 
meet the high standards required by ReturnToWork 
SA under the guidelines of the Performance 
Standards for Self-Insurers. These resources 
include an external consultant and the ongoing 
development and implementation of the LGAWCS 
“One System” WHS model.

Centennial Park’s WHS Committee meets monthly 
to review and discuss all WHS matters, including 
statistics, policies and procedures, accident and 
incident reports and hazard reports. 

WHS also remains a standing agenda item for all 
monthly board, leadership team and department 
team meetings.

The table below summarises our WHS data for 
the last nine years completion of a formal risk 
assessment.

Strategic Goals continued...

Indicator 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Number of injuries resulting in  
lost time at work

0 0 1 4 5 2 3 5 2

Lost days due to injury  0 0 73 38 141 16 16 6 7

Number of accident/incidents 
reported 

46 44 43 49 78 61 74 91 68

Number of hazards reported 9 12 10 11 14 19 20 25 37

Number of workplace  
inspections completed 

12* 23 23 18 24 22 30 35 36

Attendance record at WHS 
Committee meetings

89% 96% 89% 90% 93% 83.5% 88% 87.5% 100%

* Following the completion of a formal risk assessment, the frequency of workplace inspections were reduced 
from bimonthly in all areas to 6 monthly in the Administration building and Jubilee Complex (low risk areas) 
and quarterly in the Operations Complex and Crematorium (medium risk areas).
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LGAWCS 2016 WHS & RTW Awards  
for Best Practice

Centennial Park received a Merit Award of $5,000 
for Best Practice in WHS, through the Local 
Government Association Workers Compensation 
Scheme, at the 2016 Local Government 
Association AGM held in October 2016, for the 
development of the grave cover/grave safety 
barrier system used for burial services. 

The introduction of the grave safety barrier system 
has addressed a number of significant hazards 
associated with the preparation of grave sites 
for burial services and interments, significantly 
reducing the risk of falling for employees, 
contractors and visitors.

Centennial Park’s goal is to exceed all legislative, 
regulatory and statutory requirements and to 
consistently demonstrate ethical behaviour.   
We continue to ensure that relevant organisational 
plans and policies are in place and are monitored 
and regularly reported upon.  Official records are 
maintained in accord with the requirements of the 
South Australian State Records Act, and utilised 
appropriately to maximise benefits to the business. 

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
comprises three members including two 
independent Board members and a qualified 
independent member appointed by the Board.  
This committee reviews the annual accounts 
statements to ensure that they present fairly 
the state of affairs of Centennial Park, liaise with 
Centennial Park’s external auditors to consider 
any significant proposed regulatory, accounting 
or reporting issues, reviewed the adequacy of the 
accounting, internal control, reporting and other 
financial policies and systems, and monitors and 
reviews Centennial Park’s investment funds.

Meeting quarterly, the committee also monitors 
and reviews Centennial Park’s Business Risk 
Management practices.  

The independent internal Auditor, who reviews 
internal business processes and compliance, and 
assesses Centennial Park’s internal controls and 
associated risks, reports directly to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee.

Centennial Park’s Business Risk Assessment 
includes human resources, environmental and 
information technology risks.

Freedom of Information Requests  
and Records Management

There were no Freedom of Information requests in 
the 2016 - 2017 financial year.



HR 
Metrics
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Staff Level with Age 
and Gender Profile

Operations, 
Grounds and 
Infrastructure

Corporate Services
Business 

Development and 
Client Services

People and Culture

M F M F M F M F

Up to 30 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

31-40 5 0 1 1 0 4 0 1

41-50 9 0 0 2 0 2 0 0

51-60 5 0 0 2 1 10 0 0

61 + 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0

Total By Gender 23 0 1 6 1 21 0 1

Total by Department 23 7 22 1

Staff Levels
Operations, 

Grounds and 
Infrastructure

Corporate  
Services

BD &CS P&C

Ongoing Full Time 23 6 15 0

Ongoing Part Time 0 0 1 1

Fixed Term Full Time 0 1 0 0

Fixed Term Part Time 0 0 1 0

Casuals 0 0 5 0

Total 23 7 22 1
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Years of Service
Operations, 

Grounds and 
Infrastructure

Corporate Services BD&CS P&C

0-5 14 4 14 1

6-10 1 2 3 0

11-15 3 1 3 0

16-20 0 0 2 0

21-25 1 0 0 0

26-30 1 0 0 0

31-35 1 0 0 0

35+ 2 0 0 0

Total 23 7 22 1



The 
Board
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Adriana 
Christopoulos 
City of Mitcham – 

Appointed Nov. 2014

Geoffrey Vogt 
Deputy Chair – 

Appointed June 2011

Luke Smolucha 
City of Unley – 

Appointed January 2015

Glenn Spear 
City of Mitcham – 

Appointed June 2016

Stephen Hains 
Chair – Appointed 

July 2012

Lisa Bishop 
Independent – 

Appointed July 2011

Anthony Lapidge 
City of Unley – 

Appointed June 2011

Peter Hughes 
City of Unley – 

Appointed January 2017

Andrew Kay 
Independent – 

Appointed April 2017

NEWLY 
ELECTED 
BOARD 

MEMBERS

OUT-GOING 
BOARD 

MEMBERS
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The Centennial Park Cemetery 
Authority Board is our main 
decision-making body and is 
comprised of seven members — 
four representing the  
constituent councils, and  
three independents.

Each contributes unique skills as well as 
considerable commercial and local government 
experience. This ensures robust discussion, 
sound strategic decision-making, and high levels 
of transparency, accountability and corporate 
governance.

All board members are active in their attendance 
at meetings and on committees to ensure they 
keep abreast of industry and other developments 
for the continual improvement of the park.

BOARD MEMBER MEETING 
ATTENDANCE

Table 1: Board Member Attendances at Board 
Meetings 2016-2017:

Board Member

No. of  
Meetings  

Held During 
Term of Office

No. of 
Meetings  
Attended

S Hains 11 9

G Vogt 11 11

L Bishop 7 6

A Lapidge 6 6

A Christopoulos 11 10

L Smolucha 11 11

G Spear 11 11

P Hughes 5 5

A Kay 3 3
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The Board continued...

Board/Committee Member Committee
No. of Meetings 

Held During 
Term of Office

No. of Meetings 
Attended

G Vogt Audit & Risk Management 4 4

L Bishop Audit & Risk Management 3 3

G  Martinella (Independent) Audit & Risk Management 4 4

A Kay Audit & Risk Management 1 1

G Vogt CEO Performance Review 3 3

A Christopoulos CEO Performance Review 3 3

L Smolucha CEO Performance Review 3 3

P Hughes CEO Performance Review 3 3

S Hains Board Nominations 3 3

G Vogt Board Nominations 3 3

P Hughes Board Nominations 3 3

G Vogt Cafe Committee 3 3

A Christopoulos Cafe Committee 3 2

A Lapidge Cafe Committee 1 1
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Note 11 (cont) - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Liquidity Analysis

Floating
Interest Rate Due < 1 year

Due > 1 year 
< 5 years

Due > 5 
years

Total 
Contractual
Cash Flows Carrying Values

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $ $
Fair Value through P&L

Cash Assets 1,037,562    9,600,000 10,637,562
Loans & Receivables -

Receivables 506,258

Total 1,037,562    9,600,000   -                  -                  -                    11,143,820
1.31% 2.56%

Financial Liabilities
Payables 1,131,605

Total -                   -                  -                  -                  -                    1,131,605

1,037,562    9,600,000   -                  -                  -                    10,012,215

Floating
Interest Rate Due < 1 year

Due > 1 year 
< 5 years

Due > 5 
years

Total 
Contractual
Cash Flows Carrying Values

Financial Assets $ $ $ $ $ $
Fair Value through P&L

Cash Assets 811,244          8,725,249      9,536,493
Loans & Receivables -

Receivables 472,237
Total 811,244          8,725,249      -                     -                     -                       10,008,730

1.00% 3.04%
Financial Liabilities

Payables 719,663

Total - -                     -                     -                     -                       719,663

811,244          8,725,249      -                     -                     -                       9,289,067
EXCESS OF FINANCIAL 

ASSETS OVER LIABILITIES

2016

Weighted Average Interest Rate

EXCESS OF FINANCIAL 
ASSETS OVER LIABILITIES

2017

Weighted Average Interest Rate

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority
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Note 11 (cont) - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Net Fair Value

for the year ended 30 June 2017
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Centennial Park Cemetery Authority

All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments. There is no recognised market for the
financial assets of the Authority.

Risk Exposures
Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted. The maximum credit
risk on financial assets of the Authority is the carrying amount, net of any allowance for doubtful debts. Except as detailed in
Notes 5 & 6 in relation to individual classes of receivables, exposure is concentrated within the Authority's boundaries, and
there is no material exposure to any individual debtor.

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. All of the
Authority's financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any market, and hence neither market
risk nor currency risk apply.

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Authority will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities. In accordance
with the model Treasury Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a range of maturity dates based on cash inflows.
The Authority also has available a bank overdraft that it can access.

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Most of the
Authority's financial instruments - both assets and liabilities - are at fixed rates. Any such variations in future cash flows will not
be material in effect on either the Authority incomes or expenditures.

 2017 Centennial Park Cemetery Authority Financials Page N22
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF CENTENNIAL PARK CEMETERY AUTHORITY 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Centennial Park Cemetery Authority (the Authority), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit 
and loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial report, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the certification of the financial statements. 

In our opinion the financial report of Centennial Park Cemetery Authority, presents fairly, in all 
material respects, the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and its financial 
performance for the year ended on that date in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Local Government Act 1999, and the Local Government (Financial Management) 
Regulations 2011.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Authority in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 1999 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Local Government Act 1999, 
which has been given to the Authority, would be in the same terms if given to the Authority as at 
the time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

Board of Management’s responsibility for the Financial Report  

The Board of Management are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Local Government Act 
1999 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011and for such internal 
control as the Board of Management determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.    

In preparing the financial report, the Board of Management are responsible for assessing the 
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Management 
either intend to liquidate the Authority or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf.  

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.  

 

 

BDO Audit (SA) Pty Ltd 

 

 

 

Andrew Tickle 
Director 

Adelaide, 31 August 2017 

 



CENTENNIAL PARK CEMETERY AUTHORITY  |  2016/2017 Annual Report66 CENTENNIAL PARK CEMETERY AUTHORITY  |  2016/2017 Annual Report66



Annual Accounts for Year Ended 30 June 2017 67Annual Accounts for Year Ended 30 June 2017 67



Centennial Park, 760 Goodwood Road, Pasadena | t 08 8276 6011 
enquiry@centpark.org.au | www.centennialpark.org



East Waste provides  
helpful customer service  
to the operational staff  

at Member Councils,  
thinks in a future-focused  

and proactive manner,  
keeps costs at a minimum  
and achieves operational 

efficiency. 

East Waste  
Corporate Customer Survey Response 

May 2017
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TEXT

THE EAST WASTE BOARD SAY THANK YOU TO ALL STAFF AND WELL 
DONE ON PROVIDING OUR MEMBER COUNCILS WITH EXCELLENT  
SERVICE, IMPROVING OUR EFFICIENCIES AND COMPLEMENTING  
THE MEMBER COUNCILS’ REPUTATIONS IN EACH  
OF THEIR COMMUNITIES.

 100%
COMPLIANCE

WITH THE 2016-2017 
WHS AUDIT 

REQUIREMENTS
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THE YEAR IN
REVIEW
2016-2017
at a glance...

102,107

MORE THAN

97%
OF BINS

WERE RETURNED 
UPRIGHT TO KERB 
WITH LIDS CLOSED

200,000
BINS

COLLECTED  
EACH WEEK

TONNES WAS COLLECTED

2,513
TONNES

OF HARD WASTE 
COLLECTED

55%
OF WASTE

DIVERTED FROM 
LANDFILL
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0%
THAT’S A

LAUNCH OF
Why Waste It?

CAMPAIGN

HARD WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE  
FOR ADELAIDE HILLS COUNCIL

STREET LITTER BIN COLLECTION SERVICE  
FOR CAMPBELLTOWN CITY COUNCIL

BASED ON FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE 

THROUGHOUT THE 
2016-2017 FINANCIAL 

YEAR THE EAST WASTE 
BOARD RESOLVED NOT 
TO INCREASE MEMBER 

COUNCIL FEES FOR THE 
2017/18 FINANCIAL YEAR

100%
COMPLIANCE

WITH THE 2016-2017  
WHS AUDIT  

REQUIREMENTS

95%
SATISFACTION

RATING AMONGST  
OUR CORPORATE  

PARTNERS

OVER

6,000
WHICHBIN.COM.AU

PAGE VIEWS 
SINCE WEBSITE LAUNCH 

IN DECEMBER 2016

95%
SATISFACTION

RATING AMONGST  
THE COMMUNITY WITHIN  
OUR MEMBER COUNCILS

INCREASE

NEW SERVICES 
COMMENCED



ADELAIDE HILLS COUNCIL

CITY OF BURNSIDE

CAMPBELLTOWN CITY COUNCIL

CITY OF MITCHAM

NORWOOD PAYNEHAM & ST PETERS

TOWN OF WALKERVILLE

4 EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017

EAST WASTE 
SERVICE AREA
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East Waste is administered by a Board in accordance 
with the requirements of the Local Government Act, 
the Charter, and other various policies. 

The membership of the Board comprises of seven 
directors – one director appointed by each of the 
Member Councils, and one independent person who 
acts as Chair. The Board appoints a General Manager 
who is responsible for implementing the decisions 
made by the Board, and running the day-to-day 
operations of East Waste.

East Waste’s primary purpose is to provide effective 
waste collection services for its Member Councils. 
The exact nature of the waste collection services are 
determined independently by each Council to meet 
the needs of their respective communities.

East Waste operates on a cost share basis between 
Member Councils. This ensures Councils are not 
subject to providing varying levels of profit that 
are required by private sector operators, whilst still 
benefiting from efficiency, buying power and cost 
effectiveness through East Waste as a service provider.

From time to time, East Waste is contracted to provide 
waste collection services for other Councils (referred 
to as Client Councils).

The primary advantages from the East Waste delivery 
model can be summarised as:

• Appropriate economical return from the at-cost 
 charging methodology based on GPS cost 
 allocation;

• Enhanced quality of service by measuring and 
 valuing quality capacities as well as financial 
 indicators;

• Flexibility in service delivery allowing 
 responsiveness to emerging community and market 
 demands;

• Aligned values and strategic direction with 
 Member Councils, to protect and promote 
 reputation management;

• Reducing exposure of East Waste’s services to the 
 commercial profit-driven market.

Core Services

East Waste’s core business is defined in the Charter as 
collection, recycling, and disposal of waste produced 
in the area of one or more of the Member Councils. 
This core business is undertaken in regard to the 
following broad understandings:

• Continually operate to the parameters set within 
 the Charter;

• Deliver efficient, effective and value for money 
 services for Member Councils;

• Maintain quality services that are quantified by 
 certain metrics (i.e. >90% of bins returned upright 
 to kerb with lids closed);

• Effective and positive complaint handling and 
 timely resolution of complaints, and

• Vehicles are clean, maintained and well presented.

East Waste is the trading name of Eastern Waste Management Authority,  

which was established in 1928. The Authority is a regional subsidiary of the 

Adelaide Hills Council, City of Burnside, Campbelltown City Council, City of 

Norwood, Payneham & St Peters, City of Mitcham, and the Corporation of the 

Town of Walkerville. These six Councils are referred to as Member or Constituent 

Councils of East Waste. East Waste is governed by a Charter pursuant to Section 

43 of the Local Government Act 1999 (the Charter).

ABOUT 
 EAST WASTE



TEXT

THE ROLLOUT OF THE ‘WHY WASTE IT?’ CAMPAIGN IS AIMED AT 
EDUCATING AND PROMOTING RESPONSIBLE BEHAVIOUR AROUND 
REDUCING WASTE AND IMPROVING RECYCLING, WITH THE 
ULTIMATE AIM TO REDUCE WASTE TO LANDFILL.

37
BANNERS

AT PROMINENT SITES 
THROUGHOUT OUR 

MEMBER COUNCILS WITH 
THE ‘WHY WASTE IT?’ 

MESSAGE
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I am pleased to offer you the following highlights, 
which provide some background to the outstanding 
results achieved for the year. East Waste’s General 
Manager Rob Gregory will detail further successes and 
achievements in his 2016/17 Report.

Education Highlights

The 2016/17 Financial Year has seen the 
commencement of East Waste’s “Why Waste it?” 
campaign. The campaign is aimed at educating and 
promoting responsible behaviour around reducing 
waste and improving recycling, with the ultimate aim 
to reduce waste being sent to landfill.

East Waste has received a great response in relation 
to the roll-out of the campaign, and some particular 
highlights are as follows:

Which Bin website (whichbin.com.au) – this micro-site 
is central to the campaign and provides residents 
and Member Councils with an A-Z guide with over 430 
common household items, indicating ‘which bin’ they 
go in as well as alternative recycling and disposal 
options. The website also hosts a range of educational 
flyers, posters, banners, bin stickers and facts sheets 
for residents, schools and Member Councils to 
download.

Street signage and bus shelter campaigns – a 
recycling focused campaign was run from March to 
June. ‘Why waste it? When you can recycle it’ and ‘Why 
waste it? Thank you for recycling it’ messages were 
promoted through street signage, street banners and 
a bus shelter campaign.

Newsletters, Articles and Fact Sheets – East Waste has 
produced and disseminated regular articles and fact 
sheets across Member Council publications, websites, 
social media and e-news bulletins.

As per the 2016/17 Tonnage Data reported on page 17 
this financial year has yet again seen 55% of waste 
diverted from landfill. This is a wonderful result which 
can be attributed to the encouraging behaviours of 
residents and the increasing impact of the education 
and promotion messaging being undertaken by East 
Waste and Member Councils.

Nil Fee Increase

The Audited Financial Statements for East Waste 
showed a significant operating surplus for the year  
of $338,000. 

This strong result is attributed to a number of factors 
which include; a clear strategic direction, a focused 
effort by all our staff, the introduction of operational 
efficiencies, the successful negotiation of longer term 
supply contracts, and lower fuel prices continuing to 
be realised.

The 2016/17 financial result is again consistent with 
previous financial years, and supports East Waste’s 
Board commitment to providing a safe, high quality, 
low cost, waste and resource recovery collection 
service. Consistent with this commitment, the East 
Waste Board has resolved not to increase Member 
Council fees for the 2017/18 Financial Year. A ‘nil 
fee increase’ is an encouraging outcome in current 
economic conditions and reaffirms the prudent 

It is with great pleasure that I can again report that East Waste has performed 

strongly. East Waste continues to deliver in accordance with its vision of providing  

a safe, high quality, low cost, waste and resource recovery collection service.  

We expect in the future that we will continue to respond to our various community’s 

needs and we confidently look forward to an even greater impact in the enhanced 

education and promotion of responsible waste management within households 

through our revamped education programs.

EAST WASTE 
CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT



EAST WASTE’S CONTINUED FOCUS ON QUALITY SERVICE 
DELIVERY THAT IS CONSISTENT, PROFESSIONAL AND EFFICIENT 
HAS RESULTED IN AN INCREASE IN SERVICES BEING OFFERED  
TO MEMBER COUNCILS IN THE 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR. 

2,513
TONNES

OF  
HARD WASTE  

COLLECTED
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EAST WASTE 
CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT
management and on-going execution of the Board’s 
strategy.

New Member Council to Join East Waste

In November 2016 the City of Prospect conducted a 
Tender Call for the Provision of Collection Services for 
Household Waste, Recyclables, Organics, Street Litter 
and Hard Waste. The East Waste Board resolved to 
submit a tender and I am very pleased to advise that 
East Waste was successful in their tender, and the 
City of Prospect has resolved to join East Waste as a 
Member Council.

East Waste will commence providing services to City  
of Prospect as at 2 October 2017. This outcome is 
a real testament to the quality of the East Waste 
Business Model and the focus on efficiencies, 
innovation and continuous improvement.

The East Waste Board, staff and all Member Councils 
look forward to City of Prospect becoming a Member 
Council and working together into the future.

Thanks

Community, stakeholder and staff feedback recently 
received indicates that East Waste is responsive to 
community demands, and maintains awareness and 
continued expectations with respect to on-going 
service delivery. 

This result provides a good segway into my final 
commentary whereby I would like to take the 
opportunity to say a warm “thank you” to Adam 
Faulkner (previous General Manager), who completed 
his tenure at East Waste at the end of the financial 
year due to accepting a CEO position with another 
organisation.

Adam has made a most significant contribution and 
impact to the performance of East Waste since his 
appointment in February 2014. He is passionate about 
the future direction of the local government and 
waste industry sectors, and this has been evident in 
his achievements as East Waste’s General Manager. 
Adam has worked tirelessly to build and maintain 
strong relationships with our Member Councils, has 
developed a strong team around him and earnt a 
strong “industry leader” reputation for East Waste.

We also welcome our new General Manager in 
Rob Gregory who has come to East Waste from his 
previous role as the Manager, City Services at the 
City of Norwood, Payneham and St Peters. Rob has 
a strong local and state government background 
and is very aware of the unique challenges waste 
subsidiaries face in demonstrating good value to 
member councils in a highly competitive industry.  
As a Board we welcome Rob and we look forward to 
his contribution to East Waste.

To all East Waste staff, I, together with the East Waste 
Board say thanks and well done on providing our 
Member Councils with excellent service, improving our 
efficiencies and complementing the Member Councils’ 
reputations in each of their communities with high 
quality delivery of services. 

The achievement of the above would not have been 
possible of course without the commitment and the 
continued direction of the Board of East Waste. The 
members of the Board continue to provide valuable 
professional support and guidance to the General 
Manager and his team. To all the Directors of East 
Waste I thank you for your guidance and support to 
East Waste. We look confidently forward to another 
successful year in 2017/18. 

I commend the 2016-2017 East Waste Annual Report 
to you.

Mr Brian Cunningham 
Independent  Chairperson



THE ‘WHY WASTE IT?’ CAMPAIGN UTILISES STREET SIGNAGE AND 
BUS SHELTER MESSAGES – A RECYCLING FOCUSED CAMPAIGN 
WAS RUN FROM MARCH TO JUNE - ‘WHY WASTE IT? WHEN YOU 
CAN RECYCLE IT’ AND ‘WHY WASTE IT?  
WHEN YOU CAN COMPOST IT’.

97%
OF BINS

WERE RETURNED  
UPRIGHT TO KERB  
WITH LIDS CLOSED  

IN 2016-17
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Adam’s commitment to quality, consistency and 
efficiency measures has enabled East Waste to now 
be in the enviable position of having a reputation as 
an industry leader. 

The working relationships with our Member Councils 
have flourished during Adam’s tenure and he has 
built a lasting legacy in which we will continue to 
build upon.

The East Waste Board, staff and Member Councils 
wish Adam the very best as he embarks on his next 
opportunity and challenge.

New Member Council Services

East Waste’s continued focus on quality service 
delivery that is consistent, professional and efficient 
has resulted in an increase in services being offered 
to Member Councils in the 2016/17 Financial Year. 

As per the Services Matrix below, Adelaide Hills 
Council and City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 
resolved to appoint East Waste as the provider of  
their at-call hard waste service. 

I would firstly like to express thanks to my predecessor, Mr Adam Faulkner. I have 

been fortunate enough to work with Adam in a stakeholder capacity for the past 

few years, which has allowed me to see first-hand the quality of achievements 

Adam has produced in his time as General Manager. I reiterate the comments of 

our Independent Chairman, Mr Brian Cunningham whereby Adam has made a 

significant and importantly lasting, impact and contribution to the performance 

of East Waste.
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Adelaide Hills Council

City of Burnside

Campbelltown City Council

City of Mitcham

City of Norwood, Payneham & SP
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MEMBER COUNCIL

East Waste is committed to maintaining the expected levels of repeatable quality in the delivery of all services,  
and will continue to build on the suite of services and capabilities it can offer Member Councils.

EAST WASTE 
GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT



THE ENVIRONMENTAL AND FINANCIAL BENEFITS FROM 
SEPARATING OUT HOUSEHOLD RECYCLABLES AND ORGANICS 
AND PLACING THEM IN THE CORRECT BIN ARE SIGNIFICANT.

OVER

430
ITEMS

CAN BE FOUND ON THE 
WHICH BIN A-Z GUIDE TO 

HOUSEHOLD ITEMS
whichbin.com.au
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In addition, Campbelltown City Council also resolved 
to appoint East Waste as the provider of their Street 
Litter Bin Collection Service.

Community and Staff Survey Results

In 2015 East Waste conducted its first community, 
Council and staff satisfaction survey process, which 
resulted in a high satisfaction rate with the services 
provided by East Waste. 

Noting the passage of time and introduction of further 
improvements, changes and innovations, East Waste 
undertook a ‘pulse check’ survey process in 2017. 

I am pleased to report that East Waste achieved a very 
high 95% satisfaction rating with the services provided 
to residents, Member Councils and stakeholders.

This positive result supports East Waste’s vision and 
provides encouragement in continuing to offer a 
high quality, low cost, essential waste and recycling 
collection service to our Member Councils.

Fleet Management

East Waste is committed to maintaining a fleet of 
collection vehicles that are high performing, reliable 
and safe. East Waste adheres to an annual fleet 
replacement program that ensures that no vehicle  
in our fleet older than eight (8) years. 

EAST WASTE 
GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

To ensure the quality of the fleet is maintained, the 
following ‘non-negotiables’ are applied:

• All collection vehicles are fully integrated with a GPS 
 system that provides the location of the vehicle at 
 all times;

• Each collection vehicle is fitted with four (4) 
 cameras (front, rear and sides) to assist drivers  
 with their vision;

• Reverse sensor technology on all vehicles;

• Daily inspections of vehicles, including tyre 
 inspection;

• Servicing of all collection vehicles at 100 and 400 
 completed engine hours; and

• An approved independent contractor conducts 
 an annual audit/inspection of the entire East Waste 
 collection fleet.

Innovation and Technology

The 2016/17 Financial Year has seen East Waste  
invest in and trial innovative technologies in an  
effort to maximise service delivery to residents.  
The technology procured has assisted East Waste in 
optimising collection routes for drivers, which in turn 
has enabled us to increase the capabilities of our 
Common Fleet across all Member Council  
services areas. 



EAST WASTE WILL CONTINUE TO INVEST IN INNOVATION TRIALS 
AND TECHNOLOGY IMPROVEMENTS WHERE POSSIBLE TO ENSURE 
WE ARE AT THE FORE FRONT OF WASTE COLLECTION AND 
EDUCATION FOR OUR MEMBER COUNCILS AND  
THEIR RESIDENTS.

55%
OF WASTE

DIVERTED FROM  
LANDFILL IN THE 2016-2017 

FINANCIAL YEAR
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In addition, East Waste has invested in trial technology 
to assist in the analysis and support of our education 
and promotion campaign. This technology enables 
East Waste to determine the effectiveness of the 
education and promotion campaign, and therefore 
enhance or adjust strategies in maximising the 
benefits of the education focus.  

East Waste would like to thank Green Industries SA 
for providing grant funding for this important trial, 
and looks forward to providing on-going updates and 
results regarding the outcomes of the trial.

East Waste will continue to invest in innovation trials 
and technology improvements where possible to 
ensure we are at the forefront of waste collection 
and education for our Member Councils and their 
residents.

Thanks

Finally, I would like to say thank you to the hard-
working staff of East Waste and their on-going 
commitment in supporting the East Waste Board 
and our Member Councils. The team works closely 
together to ensure East Waste meets its vision now 
and into the future, so my thanks goes to you all.

As General Manager, I look forward to working with 
Member Councils, the Board and staff to deliver the 
requirements of the 2017/18 adopted Annual Plan 
and Budget and ultimately continue to improve the 
performance of East Waste.

EAST WASTE 
GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT

Rob Gregory 
General Manager



THE WHICH BIN WEBSITE ALSO HOSTS A RANGE OF  
EDUCATIONAL FLYERS, POSTERS, BANNERS, BIN STICKERS  
AND FACTS SHEETS FOR RESIDENTS, SCHOOLS AND  
MEMBER COUNCILS TO DOWNLOAD.

OVER

6,000
WHICHBIN.COM.AU

PAGE VIEWS  
SINCE WEBSITE LAUNCH  

IN DECEMBER 2016



EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017 1717EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017

Across all the East Waste Member Councils, 56,086 
tonnes (or 55%) were diverted from landfill. This 
equates to over half all of the materials presented 
by residents in their wheelie bins being recycled and 
turned into new packaging materials, or composted 
into products to improve soil health in South 
Australia.

The diversion rate achieved by Member Councils 
again builds on last financial year’s result and is an 
encouraging trajectory attributable to responsible 

resident behaviour and East Waste’s continued 
focus on education and promotion, which is aimed 
at assisting communities in continuing to improve 
recycling rates.

The environmental and financial benefits from 
separating out household recyclables and organics 
and placing them in the correct bin are significant, 
and the waste minimisation education and promotion 
campaign aims to continue the positive momentum  
in this area.

Using a frontline fleet of low emission collection vehicles, in 2016/2017 a total of 

102,107 tonnes of household waste, green organics and recyclables was collected 

from East Waste Member Council households.

  RECYCLABLES ORGANICS WASTE

ADELAIDE HILLS COUNCIL 3,628 3,662 7,076

CITY OF BURNSIDE 4,057 6,946 7,943

CITY OF MITCHAM 6,092 9,844 12,759

NORWOOD PAYNEHAM & ST PETERS 3,573 4,934 7,098

CAMPBELLTOWN CITY COUNCIL 4,402 7,172 9,655

TOWN OF WALKERVILLE 633 1,143 1,490

*

KERBSIDE TONNAGE 
COLLECTED 2016/ 17

*The City of Mitcham manages the collection of waste for its residents.

EAST WASTE 
TONNAGE DATA
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East Waste is administered by a Board in accordance with the requirements of 

the Local Government Act 1999, the Charter, and various other policies and codes.

The membership of the Board comprises of seven 
directors – one director appointed by each of the 
Member Councils, and one independent person who 
acts as Chair. The Board appoints a General Manager 
who is responsible for implementing the decisions 
made by the Board, and running the day-to-day 
operations of East Waste. The Board held seven 
formal meetings over the 2016 – 2017 financial year. 
The table below details Board Member attendance.

 Mr Brian Cunningham  
 (Chair) 7 of 7
 Cr Linda Green  
 (Adelaide Hills Council) 6 of 7
 Cr Grant Piggott 1  
 (City of Burnside) 2 of 4
 Mr Paul Di Iulio   
(Campbelltown City Council) 6 of 7
 Cr Karen Hockley  
 (City of Mitcham)  6 of 7
 Mr Mario Barone PSM2  
 (City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters) 3 of 7
 Cr Graham Webster 3 
 (Corporation of the Town of Walkerville) 1 of 1
Cr Gianni Busato4 
 (Corporation of the Town of Walkerville) 4 of 6

BOARD MEMBER               MEETINGS 

Mr Brian Cunningham 
Independent  Chairperson

Cr. Grant Piggott 
City of Burnside

Mr Paul Di Iulio 
Chief Executive Officer 
Campbelltown City Council 

Cr. Karen Hockley 
City of Mitcham

Mr Mario Barone PSM 
Chief Executive Officer 
City of Norwood, Payneham  
& St Peters

Cr. Graham Webster 
The Corporation of the  
Town of Walkerville

Cr. Linda Green 
Adelaide Hills Council

Cr. Gianni Busato 
The Corporation of the  
Town of Walkerville

1 Appointed to Board November 2016, effective January 2017 
2 Period of extended health leave 
3 Board term completed November 2016 
4 Appointed to Board November 2016

EAST WASTE 
GOVERNANCE
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In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1999,  

East Waste has an established Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

The functions of the Committee include:

• Reviewing annual financial statements to ensure 
 that they provide a timely and fair view of the state 
 of affairs of the subsidiary;

• Liaise with external auditors; and

• Reviewing the adequacy of the accounting, internal 
 auditing, reporting and other financial management 
 systems and practices of the subsidiary on a  
 regular basis.

The Committee held five formal meetings over the 
2016 – 2017 financial year.

The Audited Financial Statements for the year ending 
30 June 2017 are provided from page 22.

AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE



FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2016 
2017
ANNUAL REPORT
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CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

INCOME 
User charges 2 13,068 12,573 
Investment income 2 30 36 
Grants, subsidies and contributions  40 -  
Other  2 408 382

Total Income  13,546 12,991

EXPENSES 
Employee costs 3 5,164 4,803 
Materials, contracts & other expenses 3 6,007 6,267 
Finance costs  332 335 
Depreciation, amortisation & impairment 3 1,724 1,595

Total Expenses  13,227 13,000

OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)  319 (9) 
 transfer to Equity Statement

Asset disposal & fair value adjustments 4 20 37 
Amounts received specifically for new/upgraded assets  - -

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)  339 28

Other Comprehensive Income 
 Changes in revaluation surplus - infrastructure,  
 property, plant & equipment  - -

Total Other Comprehensive Income  - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  339 28
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This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2017
   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

ASSETS 
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,984 2,798 
Trade & other receivables 5  412  359

 Total Current Assets   2,396  3,157

Non-current Assets    
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 6  6,046  5,332

Total Assets  8,442 8,489

LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    
Trade & Other Payables 7 826 1,870 
Provisions 7 491 609 
Borrowings 7  1,701  1,417

 Total Current Liabilities   3,018  3,896

Non-current Liabilities    
Borrowings 7 4,741 4,374 
Provisions 7  72  69

 Total Non-current Liabilities   4,813  4,443

Total Liabilities  7,831  8,339

NET ASSETS  611  150

EQUITY    
Accumulated Surplus   611  150

TOTAL EQUITY   611  150
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EAST WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY INC. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016-17

This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

   Accumulated TOTAL 
   Surplus EQUITY 
  Notes $’000 $’000

2017

Balance at end of previous reporting period  150 150

Net Surplus/ (Deficit) for Year  339 339

Other Comprehensive Income 
Contributed Equity  122 122 
Distributions to Member Councils  - -

Balance at end of period  611 611

 

   Accumulated TOTAL 
   Surplus EQUITY 
  Notes $’000 $’000

2016

Balance at end of previous reporting period  277 277

Net Surplus/ (Deficit) for Year  28 28

Other Comprehensive Income 
Contributed Equity  122 122 
Distributions to Member Councils  (277) (277)

Balance at end of period  150 150
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This Statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached Notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2017
   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

 Operating receipts  13,465 13,721 
 Investment receipts  28 36

Payments   

 Employee costs  (5,279) (4,875) 
 Materials, contracts & other expenses  (7,063) (6,125) 
 Finance payments   (320)  (391)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Operating Activities 8 831 2,366

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

Receipts   

 Sale of replaced assets 4 104 39 
 Sale of surplus assets 4 - 66

Payments

 Expenditure on renewal/replacement of assets 6 (2,522) (202) 
 Expenditure on new/upgraded assets  - - 
 Distributions to member councils   -  (277)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Investing Activities  (2,418) (374)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

Receipts   

 Capital contribution by member councils  122 122 
 Proceeds from Borrowings  1,926 -

Payments

 Repayments of Borrowings   (1,275)  (1,412)

Net Cash provided by (or used in) Financing Activities   773  (1,290)

Net Increase (Decrease) in cash held  (814) 702

Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of period 8 2,798 2,096 

Cash & cash equivalents at end of period 8 1,984 2,798
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EAST WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY INC. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016-17

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1 Basis of Preparation

1.1 Compliance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards as 
they apply to not-for-profit entities, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board, Interpretations and relevant South Australian legislation.

The financial report was authorised for issue by certificate under regulation 14 of the Local Government (Financial 
Management) Regulations 2011.

The Authority is a Local Government Authority Section 43 Regional Subsidiary under the control of City of Burnside, 
City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters, Campbelltown City Council, Corporation of the Town of Walkerville, City 
of Mitcham and Adelaide Hills Council. The six Member Councils have an equity share and the Board comprises a 
Director from each Council and an Independent Chair appointed by the absolute majority of the Member Councils.

1.2 Historical Cost Convention

Except where stated below, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention.

1.3 Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards which requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates, and requires management to exercise its judgement in applying the 
Authority’s accounting policies.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are specifically referred to in the relevant sections of this Note.

1.4 Rounding

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) for the first time 
this year.

2 The Local Government Reporting Entity

Eastern Waste Management Authority Inc. operates as a regional subsidiary pursuant to Section 43 of the Local 
Government Act 1999 and Section 25 of the Local Government Implementation Act 1999.

3 Income Recognition

Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Income is recognised when the

Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the income, or when the amount due constitutes an 
enforceable debt, whichever first occurs.

4 Cash, Cash Equivalents and other Financial Instruments

Cash Assets include all amounts readily convertible to cash on hand at the Authority’s option with an insignificant 
risk of changes in value with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Receivables are generally unsecured and do not bear interest.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

All receivables are reviewed as at the reporting date and adequate allowance made for amounts the receipt of 
which is considered doubtful.

All financial instruments are recognised at fair value at the date of recognition. A detailed statement of the 
accounting policies applied to financial instruments forms part of Note 9.

5 Property, Plant & Equipment

All non-current assets purchased or constructed are capitalised as the expenditure is incurred and depreciated as 
soon as the asset is held “ready for use”.

5.1 Initial Recognition

All assets are initially recognised at cost. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration 
plus costs incidental to the acquisition.

5.2 Materiality

Assets with an economic life in excess of one year are only capitalised where the cost of acquisition exceeds 
materiality thresholds established by the Authority for each type of asset. In determining (and in annually reviewing) 
such thresholds, regard is had to the nature of the asset and its estimated service life.

5.3 Depreciation of Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment assets are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a manner which 
reflects the consumption of the service potential embodied in those assets.

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis. Major depreciation periods for each class of asset are shown 
below. Depreciation periods for infrastructure assets have been estimated based on the best information available 
to the Authority, but appropriate records covering the entire life cycle of these assets are not available, and extreme 
care should be used in interpreting financial information based on these estimates.

Plant & Equipment  5 to 10 years 
Buildings & Other Structures 5 – 20 years

5.4 Impairment

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount (which is the higher of the present value of future cash outflows or value in use).

For assets whose future economic benefits are not dependent on the ability to generate cash flows, and where 
the future economic benefits would be replaced if the Authority were deprived thereof, the value in use is the 
depreciated replacement cost. In assessing impairment for these assets, a rebuttable assumption is made that the 
current replacement cost exceeds the original cost of acquisition.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

6 Payables

6.1 Goods & Services

Creditors are amounts due to external parties for the supply of goods and services and are recognised as liabilities 
when the goods and services are received.

Creditors are normally paid 30 days after the month of invoice. No interest is payable on these amounts.

7 Employee Benefits

7.1 Salaries, Wages & Compensated Absences

Liabilities for employees’ entitlements to salaries, wages and compensated absences expected to be paid or settled 
within 12 months of reporting date are accrued at nominal amounts (including payroll based oncosts) measured in 
accordance with AASB 119.

Liabilities for employee benefits not expected to be paid or settled within 12 months are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows (including payroll based oncosts) to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Present values are calculated using government guaranteed 
securities rates with similar maturity terms.

No accrual is made for sick leave as the Authority’s experience indicates that, on average, sick leave taken in each 
reporting period is less than the entitlement accruing in that period, and this experience is expected to recur in 
future reporting periods. The Authority does not make payment for untaken sick leave.

7.2 Superannuation

The Authority makes employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local Government 
Superannuation Scheme. The Scheme has two types of membership, each of which is funded differently.

Accumulation Fund Members 
Accumulation fund members receive both employer and employee contributions on a progressive basis. Employer 
contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings in accordance with Superannuation 
Guarantee Legislation (9.5% in 2016/17; 9.5% in 2015/16). No further liability accrues to the employer as the 
superannuation benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the net assets of the Fund.

Defined Benefit Members 
Defined benefit scheme is where the benefit payable is based on a formula determined by the member’s 
contribution rate, number of years of contribution and final average salary. The Authority makes employer 
contributions as determined by the scheme’s Trustee based on advice from the Scheme’s Actuarial.

The most recent full actuarial investigation conducted by the Scheme’s actuary, A C Miller, FIAA, of Russell Employee 
Benefits Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2014.The Trustee has determined that the current funding arrangements are adequate 
for the expected Salarylink liabilities. However, future financial and economic circumstances may require changes to 
the Authority’s contribution rates at some future time.

The Authority also makes contributions to other superannuation schemes selected by employees under the ‘choice 
of fund’ legislation. All such schemes are of the accumulation type, where the superannuation benefits accruing to 
the employee are represented by their share of the new assets of the scheme, and no further liability attaches to 
the Authority.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

8 Leases

Lease arrangements have been accounted for in accordance with AASB 117.

In respect of finance leases, where the Authority substantially carries all the risks incident to ownership, the leased 
items are initially recognised as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. The assets are disclosed as assets under lease, and are amortised to expense over the period during 
which the Authority is expected to benefit from the use of the leased assets.

Lease payments are allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability, according to the 
interest rate implicit in the lease.

In respect of operating leases, where the lessor substantially retains all of the risks and benefits incident to 
ownership of the leased items, lease payments are charged to expense over the lease term.

9 GST Implications

In accordance with UIG Abstract 1031 “Accounting for the Goods & Services Tax”

 • Receivables and Creditors include GST receivable and payable. 
 • Except in relation to input taxed activities, revenues and operating expenditures exclude GST receivable  
   and payable. 
 • Non-current assets and capital expenditures include GST net of any recoupment. 
 • Amounts included in the Statement of Cash Flows are disclosed on a gross basis.

10 Comparative Information

Comparative information has been reclassified to be consistent with the current year disclosure of equivalent 
information in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

Comparative information in the Statement of Cash Flows have been amended to reclassify capital contributions 
by Member Councils from Investing Activities to Financing Activities. There is no impact on the previously reported 
financial performance or position of the Authority as a result of this change.

11 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Board evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical knowledge 
and best available current information.

Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and based on current trends and economic data, 
obtained both externally and within the Authority.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT)

12 New Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Authority adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current 
reporting period. The adoption of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in any 
material changes to Authority’s accounting policies.

Certain new accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2017 reporting 
period and have not been used in preparing these reports.

The Authority is of the view that none of the new standards or interpretations will affect any of the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements, but that they may impact certain information otherwise disclosed.

13 Highbury Landfill Authority Inc.

The Authority, originally known as the East Torrens Municipal Destructor Trust, was established on 19 July 1928 (the 
name change took place in 1993). As at 1 July 2004, the Authority comprised of 3 Member Councils, being the City of 
Norwood, Payneham & St Peters, City of Burnside and the Corporation of the Town of Walkerville.

On 5 August 2004, the City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters, the City of Burnside and the Corporation of the Town 
of Walkerville established the Highbury Landfill Authority Inc. Its purpose included the facilitation of the closure and 
the post closure of the Highbury Landfill site, as well as managing the joint interests and liability of the Councils in 
relation to the closure of the site.

On 31 December 2004 the property known as the Highbury Landfill site was transferred from East Waste to Highbury 
Landfill Authority Inc.

On 1 January 2005, the Authority’s Charter was amended to include the three new Member Councils – the City of 
Mitcham, the City of Campbelltown and the Adelaide Hills Council.

On 1 January 2005 a loan was created between the Authority and the Highbury Landfill Authority that represented 
the net value of assets in East Waste prior to 1 January 2005. This was an At Call Loan and interest had been 
capitalised until the loan was called in by the Highbury Landfill Authority in November 2008. The loan amount was 
$873,000 and the Authority borrowed the money from the National Australia Bank with an Interest Only Loan. This 
loan has now been re-financed through the Local Government Finance Authority, to be repaid in 10 years.

The Board of the Authority resolved in February 2010 to charge Member Councils the loan repayments for this loan 
in their equity percentages as set out in the January 2006 Charter.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 2 - INCOME 

   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

USER CHARGES

 Household Refuse  4,173 4,181 
 Administration  215 209 
 Green Organics  3,531 3,435 
 Recyclables  3,178 3,192 
 Hardwaste  651 518 
 Litter  305 265 
 Waste Disposal  1,015 773 
 Recycle Rebate  815 698 
 Recycle Rebate - Member Councils   (815)  (698)

   13,068 12,573

INVESTMENT INCOME

 Interest on investments 
      Local Government Finance Authority  30 35 
      Banks & other   -  1

   30 36

OTHER INCOME   

 Bin Supply  164 101 
 Replacement Bins  137 107 
 Sundry   107   174

   408 382
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 3 - EXPENSES 

   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

EMPLOYEE COSTS    
 Salaries and Wages  3,922 3,742 
 Employee leave expense  (114) (72) 
 Superannuation  308 374 
 Wages Casual Agency  718 493 
 Workers’ Compensation Insurance  200 172 
 Other  130 94

Total Operating Employee Costs  5,164 4,803

Total Number of Employees (Full Time Equivalent as at reporting date)  51 49

MATERIALS, CONTRACTS & OTHER EXPENSES 
Auditor’s Remuneration  9 8 
Board Expenses  25 24 
Lease costs   240  78

Subtotal - Prescribed Expenses   274  110 

Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses    
Advertising & Promotion  68 42 
Disposal Fees  2,247 1,901 
Dumping Fees  - 17 
Electricity  34 35 
Fuel, Gas & Oil  764 735 
GPS Expenses  64 49 
Insurance  21 25 
Legal Expenses  27 18 
Maintenance  1,516 1,210 
Parts, Accessories & Consumables  63 43 
Printing, Stationery & Postage  44 38 
Professional Services  319 224 
Rebate to Member Councils  - 1,138 
Registration & Insurance - Trucks  272 222 
Sundry   258 424 
Telephone   36  36 

Subtotal - Other Materials, Contracts & Expenses   5,733 6,157 

   6,007 6,267

DEPRECIATION    
Buildings & Other Structures  7 7 
Plant, Machinery & Equipment   1,717  1,588 

   1,724 1,595



EASTERN WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201734

EAST WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY INC. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016-17

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 4 - ASSET DISPOSAL

   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

INFRASTRUCTURE, PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

Assets renewed or directly replaced 

Proceeds from disposal  104 105 
Less: Carrying amount of assets sold   84   68 

Gain (Loss) on disposal  20 37

NOTE 5 - CURRENT ASSETS

CASH &  EQUIVALENT  ASSETS

Cash on Hand and at Bank  1,477 1,510 
Deposits at Call   507   1,288 

   1,984 2,798

TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES   

Debtors - general  396 358 
Accrued Income  2 - 
Prepayments   14  1 

   412 359
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 6 - PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

Buildings & Other Structures - At Cost  78 82

Accumulated Depreciation   (40)  (37)

   38 45

Plant, Machinery & Equipment  12,571 11,814

Accumulated Depreciation   (6,563) (6,527)

   6,008 5,287

Total Property, Plant & Equipment  6,046 5,332

  Carrying      Carrying 
  Amount       Disposals Depreciation Amount   
   New/ 
   Upgrade Renewal

Buildings &  
Other  
Structures  45  -  - - (7) 38

Plant, Machinery  
& Equipment  5,287  - 2,522 (84) (1,717) 6,008

Total Property,  
Plant &  
Equipment 5,332  - 2,522 (84) (1,724) 6,046

2016 Totals 6,793 2 200 (68) (1,595) 5,332  

Additions

CARRYING AMOUNT MOVEMENT DURING YEAR 
$’000

2016 
$’000

2017 
$’000
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 7 - LIABILITIES

    2017  2016 
  Notes  $’000  $’000

TRADE & OTHER PAYABLES  Current Non-current Current Non-current

Goods & Services  703 - 516 -

Accrued expenses - rebate to member councils - - 1,252 -

Accrued expenses - other  123 - 102 -

   826 - 1,870 -

BORROWINGS   

Loans    1,701 4,741   1,417 4,374 

   1,701 4,741 1,417 4,374

PROVISIONS

Annual Leave  183 - 171 - 

Long Service Leave  308 72 438 69 

   491 72 609 69
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 8 - RECONCILIATION TO CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash Assets comprise highly liquid investments with short periods to maturity subject to insignificant risk of 
changes of value.  Cash at the end of the reporting period as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled 
to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

Total cash & equivalent assets 5 1,984 2,798 
Less: Short-term borrowings  - -

Balances per Cash Flow Statement  1,984 2,798

(b) Reconciliation of Change in Net Assets to Cash from Operating Activities

Net Surplus (Deficit)  339 28 
Non-cash items in Income Statement 
 Depreciation, amortisation & impairment  1,724 1,595 
 Net increase (decrease) in unpaid employee benefits 

   (65) (72)

Net increase (decrease) accrued interest charges  10 - 
(Gain) / Loss on Disposal   (20)  (38)

   1,988 1,513

Add (Less): Changes in Net Current Assets 
 Net (increase) decrease in receivables  (51) (109) 
 Net increase (decrease) in trade & other payables  (1,056) 962 
 Net increase (decrease) in other provisions   (50)  - 

Net Cash provided by (or used in) operations  831 2,366

(c) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

Acquisition of assets by means of: 
 - Physical resources received free of charge  - - 
 - Non-cash grants & contributions  - -

      Amounts recognised in Income Statement  - -

 - Finance Leases  - -

Total Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities  - -

(d) Financing Arrangements

Corporate Credit Cards  15 15 
Cash Advance Debenture Facility  1,000 1,000

The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice.  
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Recognised Financial Instruments

Bank, Deposits at Call,  Accounting  Policy: Carried at lower of cost and net realisable value; Interest is  
  recognised when earned.

  Terms & conditions: Deposits on Call do not have a maturity period and have 
   an average interest rates of 1.25% (2016: 1.85%).

  Carrying amount: Approximates fair value due to the short term to maturity.

Receivables - Gate Fees  Accounting Policy: Carried at nominal values less any allowance for doubtful 
& Associated Charges  debts. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised (and re-assessed 
  annually) when collection in full is no longer probable.

  Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance).

Liabilities -  Accounting Policy: Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the 
Creditors and Accruals future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Authority.

  Terms & conditions: Liabilities are normally settled on 30 day terms.

  Carrying amount: approximates fair value (after deduction of any allowance).

Net Fair Value

All carrying values approximate fair value for all recognised financial instruments. There is no recognised market for 
the financial assets of the Authority.

Risk Exposures

Credit Risk represents the loss that would be recognised if counterparties fail to perform as contracted. The 
maximum credit risk on financial assets of the Authority is the carrying amount,  net of any provision for doubtful 
debts. All investments are made with the SA Local Government Finance Authority and Bank SA. There is no material 
exposure to any individual debtor.

Market Risk is the risk that fair values of financial assets will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices. All of 
the Authority’s financial assets are denominated in Australian dollars and are not traded on any market, and hence 
neither market risk nor currency risk apply.

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Authority will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations with financial liabilities. 
In accordance with the model Treasury Policy (LGA Information Paper 15), liabilities have a range of maturity dates 
based on cash inflows. The Authority also has available a range of bank overdraft and short-term draw down 
facilities that it can access.

Interest Rate Risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
Most of the Authority’s financial instruments are at fixed rates. Any such variations in future cash flows will not be 
material in effect on either the Authority’s incomes or expenditures.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 9 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT) 

Liquidity Analysis

2017  Floating   Non-  
  Interest < 1 year > 1 year > 5 years Interest Total 
  Rate  < 5 years  Bearing 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Fair Value through P&L 
 Cash Assets 1,477 507 - - - 1,984 

Loans & Receivables 
 Receivables - - - - 412 412 

 Total 1,477 507 - - 412 2,396

Financial Liabilities 
 Payables - - - - 826 826 
 Current Borrowings - 1,701 - - - 1,701 
 Non-Current Borrowings - - 3,350 1,391 - 4,741

 Total - 1,701 3,350 1,391 826 7,268

EXCESS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS  
OVER LIABILITIES  1,477  (1,194)  (3,350)  (1,391)  (414)  (4,872)

2016  Floating   Non-  
  Interest < 1 year > 1 year > 5 years Interest Total 
  Rate  < 5 years  Bearing 

Financial Assets $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fair Value through P&L 
 Cash Assets 1,510 1,288 - - - 2,798

Loans & Receivables 
 Receivables - - - - 358 358 

 Total 1,510 1,288 - - 358 3,156 

Financial Liabilities 
 Payables - - - - 516 516 
 Current Borrowings - 1,417 - - - 1,417 
 Non-Current Borrowings - - 3,804 244 - 3,804

 Total - 1,417 3,804 244 516 5,737 

EXCESS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS  
OVER LIABILITIES  1,510 (129) (3,804) (244) (158) (2,581)

Fixed Interest Maturing In

Fixed Interest Maturing In
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

   2017 2016 
  Notes $’000 $’000

Expenditure Commitments

Other expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements  
as liabilities:

Audit Services  9 8 
Truck Fleet Replacement   1,814   - 

   1,823 8

These expenditures are payable:   

Not later than one year  1,823 8 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  - - 
Later than 5 years   -  -

   1,823 8

NOTE 11  -  OPERATING  LEASES

Lease payment commitments of Authority

No contingent rentals were paid during the current or previous reporting periods. No lease imposes any 
additional restrictions on the Authority in relation to additional debt or further leasing.

No lease contains any escalation clause. Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases that have not 
been recognised in the financial statements are as follows:

Not later than one year  252 245 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  807 782 
Later than 5 years   889  1,167 

   1,948 2,194

NOTE 12 - EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE

As at the time of preparing the Financial Statements, as required by the Local Government Act 1999 the 
Authority has applied to the Minister of Local Government to seek approval to allow the City of Prospect to 
become a Member Council. Subject to approval by the Minister, it is expected that the City of Prospect will  
be a Member Council of the Authority as from October 2017.
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NOTE 13  -  DISCLOSURES OF RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Key Management Personnel include the Chair of the Board, Chief Executive and other prescribed officers 
as defined under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1999 . In all, 4 persons were paid the following total 
compensation:

  2017 
  $’000

Salaries, allowances & other short term benefits 370

Long term benefits 30

TOTAL  400

Transactions with Related Parties:

The following transactions occurred with Related Parties:

   Amounts Description 
  Sale of Goods Outstanding from of Services 
  and Services Related Parties Provided to 
Related Party Entity ($’000) ($’000) Related Parties

Adelaide Hills Council 2,935 2

City of Burnside 2,188 73

City of Mitcham 2,503 45

City of Norwood, Payneham & St Peters 2,241 12

Corporation of the City of Campbelltown 2,918 1

Corporation of the Town of Walkerville 468 112

Amounts recorded as outstanding from Related Parties are recorded in Trade and other receivables in Note 5.

The Related Parties disclosed above are equity owners of the Authority and are referred to as Member 
Councils. Member Councils have equal representation on the Board of the Authority and accordingly have 
significant influence on the financial and operating decisions of the Authority. No one Member Council 
individually has control of those policies.

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste

Provision of kerbside waste 
collection and hardwaste
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STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

 

Bentleys SA Audit Partnership 

Level 2 
139 Frome Street 
Adelaide  SA  5000 

GPO Box 939 
Adelaide  SA  5001 

ABN 43 877 091 903 

T +61 8 8372 7900 
F +61 8 8372 7999 

admin@adel.bentleys.com.au 
bentleys.com.au 
 

A member of Bentleys, a network of independent accounting firms located throughout Australia, New Zealand and China that trade as 
Bentleys. All members of the Bentleys Network are affiliated only and are separate legal entities and not in Partnership. Liability limited by a 
scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. A member of Kreston International. A global network of independent 
accounting firms. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Certification of Auditor Independence 

 

I confirm that, for the audit of the financial statements of Eastern Waste Management 
Authority Inc for the year ended 30 June 2017, I have maintained my independence in 
accordance with the requirements of APES 110 – Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants, Section 290, published by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999 and the Local Government 
(Financial Management) Regulations 2011 made under that Act. 

This statement is prepared in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 22 (5) Local 
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 

 

 

 
 
 
David Papa 
Partner 
Bentleys SA Audit Partnership 

 

Dated at Adelaide this 21 September 2017 
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Bentleys SA Audit Partnership 

Level 2 
139 Frome Street 
Adelaide  SA  5000 

GPO Box 939 
Adelaide  SA  5001 

ABN 43 877 091 903 

T +61 8 8372 7900 
F +61 8 8372 7999 

admin@adel.bentleys.com.au 
bentleys.com.au 
 

A member of Bentleys, a network of independent accounting firms located throughout Australia, New Zealand and China that trade as 
Bentleys. All members of the Bentleys Network are affiliated only and are separate legal entities and not in Partnership. Liability limited by a 
scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. A member of Kreston International. A global network of independent 
accounting firms. 

 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE EASTERN WASTE                        
MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY INC 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of the Eastern Waste Management Authority Inc, 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and the Certification of the Financial Statements. 

In our opinion, the financial report gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the Eastern 
Waste Management Authority Inc as of 30 June 2017, and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1999 and the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report, which gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local Government Act 1999 and the 
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 2011, and for such internal control as the 
committee and management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report 
that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the entity or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the entity’s financial reporting 
process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

Paragraph 41(b) of ASA 700 explains that the italicised material below can be located in an Appendix 
to the auditor’s report. 

Paragraph 41(c) of ASA 700 explains that when law, regulation or national auditing standards 
expressly permit, reference can be made to a website of an appropriate authority that contains the 
description of the auditor’s responsibilities, rather than including this material in the auditor’s report, 
provided that the description on the website addresses, and is not inconsistent with, the description of 
the auditor’s responsibilities below. When the auditor refers to a description of the auditor’s 
responsibilities on a website, the appropriate authority is the Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board and the website address is http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
 
BENTLEYS SA AUDIT PARTNERSHIP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DAVID PAPA 
PARTNER 
 
Dated at Adelaide this   27  day of   September    2017 
 



THE EAST WASTE BOARD SAY THANK YOU TO ALL STAFF AND WELL 
DONE ON PROVIDING OUR MEMBER COUNCILS WITH EXCELLENT  
SERVICE, IMPROVING OUR EFFICIENCIES AND COMPLEMENTING  
THE MEMBER COUNCILS’ REPUTATIONS IN EACH  
OF THEIR COMMUNITIES.

 100%
COMPLIANCE

WITH THE 2016-2017 
WHS AUDIT 

REQUIREMENTS
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Copies of the 2016/17 Annual Report are available for inspection at the:

• City of Mitcham Civic Centre, 131 Belair Road, Torrens Park

• Blackwood Library, 215 Main Road, Blackwood

• Mitcham Library, 154 Belair Road, Hawthorn

• www.mitchamcouncil.sa.gov.au

Copies can be purchased from the City of Mitcham Customer Service Centre,  
131 Belair Road, Torrens Park for $11.60.
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